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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NAEIER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. Yip Man Yi (Chairman)

Mr. Shiu Chi Tak, Titus

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liang Tongwei (retired on 8 June 2017)
Mr. Wong Chi Man (retired on 8 June 2017)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence
Mr. Li Kwok Chu
Mr. Lau Shu Yan

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Hung Wai Man
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Mr. Shiu Chi Tak, Titus
Ms. Hung Wai Man
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence (Chairman)
Mr. Li Kwok Chu
Mr. Lau Shu Yan

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Kwok Chu (Chairman)
Mr. Lau Shu Yan
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NAJER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IR R W ST

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group’s revenue for the year amounted to
approximately HK$105,665,000 (2017: approximately
HK$84,730,000), increased by approximately
HK$20,935,000 as compared to the Year in 2017. The
significant increase in revenue was mainly attributed to
the full-year effect of the businesses of stainless steel
wires.

The Group has incurred a gross profit of approximately
HK$5,748,000 (2017: approximately HK$16,113,000).
Other gains and losses amounted to approximately
HK$1,555,000 (2017: approximately HK$80,296,000).
Loss for the year increased to approximately
HK$76,092,000 as compared to profit approximately
HK$2,686,000 in last year.

The significant increase in loss for the year was mainly
attributable to the fair value loss on investment properties
and the legal and professional fee incurred for the year
ended 31 March 2018, while there was an one-off
reversal of allowances for trade and other receivables
made for the year ended 31 March 2017.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND LIQUIDITY
Proposed capital reorganization

The Company has terminated the capital reorganization
(the "Old Capital Reorganization”) originally proposed
on 4 July 2016 and has proposed to implement, subject
to the approval by the shareholders, the new capital
reorganization (the “New Capital Reorganization”) on
9 November 2017 as follows:

(i) Share Premium Cancellation: the entire amount
standing to the credit of the share premium
account of the Company will be cancelled to set
off against part of total accumulated loss of the
Company;

(ii) Share Consolidation: every fifty issued shares of
HK$0.08 each (“Share”) will be consolidated
into one consolidated share of HK$4.0 each
("Consolidated Share”) in the issued share
capital of the Company;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm R

(iii) Capital Reduction: upon Share Consolidation
taking effect, the nominal value of the issued
Consolidated Shares will be reduced from HK$4.0
to HK$0.0001 each (i.e. New Share) by cancelling
the paid-up capital to the extent of HK$3.9999
each, and the total credit arising therefrom will be
applied to further set off the accumulated loss of
the Company;

(iv) Unissued Share Capital Cancellation: upon the
Capital Reduction taking effect, all the authorized
but unissued share capital of the Company will be
cancelled in their entirety; and

(v) Authorised Share Capital Increase: upon the
Unissued Share Capital Cancellation taking effect,
the authorised share capital of the Company
will be increased to HK$10,000,000 divided into
100,000,000,000 New Shares.

The New Capital Reorganization, being part of the
resumption proposal (“Resumption Proposal”) in
relation to the proposed restructuring submitted by the
Company to the Stock Exchange on 15 September 2017,
will be subject to the passing of a special resolution by
the shareholders by way of poll at the extraordinary
general meeting, and the approval from the Grand
Court of the Cayman Islands and the Listing Committee
of the GEM Board. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 9 November 2017
and 14 November 2017.

Proposed open offer

On 9 November 2017, the Company proposed an open
offer ("Open Offer”) on the basis of nineteen offer
shares (“Offer Shares”) for every one New Share/
Consolidated Share held by the qualifying shareholders
on the Open Offer Record Date (“Qualifying
Shareholders”). A total of 1,297,775,150 Offer Shares
will be allotted and issued by the Company to the
Qualifying Shareholders and/or the Underwriter at the
offer price of HK$0.19 for each Offer Share. The Open
Offer will be fully underwritten by the Underwriter.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm R

Completion of the Open Offer, being part of the
Resumption Proposal, is conditional upon the New Capital
Reorganization becoming effective and the completion
of an acquisition (“Acquisition”) of a target company
("Target”) which is principally engaged in provision of
interior design services for commercial and residential
properties, as well as galleries and show flats for local
property developers in Hong Kong. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 9
November 2017 and 14 November 2017.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has a current ratio of
approximately 0.36 times (31 March 2017: approximately
0.83 times). Gearing ratio, calculated based on
non-current liabilities of approximately HK$345,687,000
(31 March 2017: approximately HK$396,045,000) against
total deficit of approximately HK$410,031,000 (31
March 2017: approximately HK$348,777,000) increased
from -113.55% for 2017 to -84.31% for 2018.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group did not have any
material contingent liability (31 March 2017: Nil).

As at 31 March 2018, the Group did not have any
material capital commitment (31 March 2017: Nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group had no material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries and associated companies during the year.

LITIGATION

(1) On 4 September 2016 the Company announced,
amongst other things, that (i) Evotech (Asia) Pte.
Limited ("Evotech”) had entered into a Surrender
Agreement with Jurong Town Corporation
("JTC") on 6 April 2016 pursuant to which
Evotech agreed to surrender its leasehold interest
in the real property located at 42 Gul Circle,
Singapore 629577 to JTC at the consideration of
$$5,620,000 and such transaction was completed
on 27 June 2016 without the approval and
authorization of the Board (“the Unauthorized
Transaction”), and (ii) the Company was
investigating into the circumstances leading to the
entering into the Unauthorized Transaction and
the payments made by Evotech from the proceeds
of the Unauthorized Transaction.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm R

Upon completion of the said investigation and
with the benefit of legal advice, Evotech has on 23
November 2016 commenced legal proceedings at
the High Court of The Republic of Singapore (Case
no. HC/S 1242/2016) against Mr. Koh Ta Lee
("Mr. Koh") for breaches of his duties as director
and employee of Evotech and against Ms. Lily
Bey Lay Lay (“Lily Bey”), another ex-director of
Evotech, for breaches of her duties as director
of Evotech and, for recovery of damages in the
sums of $$2,285,000 and US$1,070,000 (the
“Singapore Legal Action”).

In the Singapore Legal Action, Mr. Koh and
Lily Bey filed their Defence and Counterclaim
to contest Singapore Legal Action and also
commenced Third Party Proceedings (“Third
Party Proceedings”) against the Company and
Ms. Yip Man Yi, the Chairman of the Company
(the "Singapore Third Parties”).

In the Third Party Proceedings, Mr. Koh and Lily
Bey sought indemnities and/or contributions
against the Singapore Third Parties for authorizing
and approving all the monetary transactions
claimed by Evotech in the Singapore Legal Action
to set off of sums as may be applicable between
all parties in the legal action, if any.

On 17 January 2017, the High Court of The
Republic of Singapore granted leave for service
of the Singapore Third Party Proceedings on the
Singapore Third Parties out of the jurisdiction of
the Republic of Singapore and the Singapore Third
Parties have duly instructed their attornies in the
Republic of Singapore to enter appearance and
contest the proceedings.

The hearing commenced on 28 February 2018.
At the commencement of the hearing, Mr. Koh
and Lily Bey, through their attorney, withdrew
the Third Party Proceedings against the Singapore
Third Parties. However, Mr. Koh and Lily Bey did
not agree to the amount of legal costs payable
to the Company and other for the withdrawal of
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm R

the Third Party Proceedings. In this regard, the
legal costs to be paid by Mr. Koh and Lily Bey to
the Singapore Third Parties shall be determined by
the High Court of The Republic of Singapore at a
taxation hearing.

The Board has obtained legal opinion that both
Evotech and the Company have meritorious claim
and defence in the Singapore Legal Action and
the Third Party Proceedings and such proceedings
shall have no adverse impact upon the financial
position of the Group. Therefore, no provision
in respect of the Singapore Legal Action and
the Third Party Proceedings was made in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s attorney in The Republic of
Singapore is in the process of finalising the
taxation application and will update the status in
due course.

On 2 November 2017, the Company received a
demand letter from Kesterion. On 17 November
2017, the Company received a Writ of Summons
issued by Kesterion in the High Court of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under
Action Number 2631 of 2017 against CAAL
as the 1st Defendant and the Company as the
2nd Defendant. On 20 November 2017 and 21
November 2017, the Company and its authorised
representatives respectively received another Writ
of Summons issued by Kesterion in the High Court
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
under Action Number 2662 of 2017 against the
Company (collectively “the Writs"”).

The Writs are in relation to the repayment of
a loan originally advanced by Kesterion to the
Company. On 4 November 2016, the Company
was notified by CAAL that CAAL and Kesterion
had entered into a deed of assignment on 31
October 2016 pursuant to which Kesterion has
assigned all its rights, title and interest in all the
debts and liabilities owed by the Company to
Kesterion to CAAL.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEL—JLIJFHH& Tﬁ

The Company filed its defence for both actions on
25 January 2018. Kesterion filed its reply for both
actions on 22 February 2018.

On 5 March 2018, by consent, the Court ordered
that these two actions be consolidated, and that
under the consolidated action, Kesterion is the
Plaintiff while CAAL and the Company are the 1st
Defendant and the 2nd Defendant, respectively.

As the claim under the Writs is related to the
assignment between Kesterion and CAAL and the
Company has already recorded the corresponding
loan in the consolidated financial statements,
the Board considered that the claim under the
Writs shall have no adverse impact upon the
financial position of the Group except that the
corresponding loan has been reclassified from
non-current liabilities to current liabilities based on
the original terms of the loan facility.

Save as discussed in the above section, during the
year ended 31 March 2018, no member of the Group
is engaged in any litigation or arbitration or claim of
material importance and no litigation or claim of material
importance is known to the Directors to be pending or
threatened by or against any member of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm R

LISTING STATUS

The Company has received a letter dated 2 December
2016 from the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("Stock Exchange”) considered that the Company has
failed to maintain sufficient operations or assets under
Rule 17.26 of the rules governing the listing of securities
on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange
("GEM Listing Rules”) to warrant the continued listing
of its shares. The Stock Exchange has therefore decided
to suspend trading in the Company’s shares under
Rule 9.04 of the GEM Listing Rules and commence the
procedures to cancel the Company’s listing under Rules
9.14 to 9.16 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Decision”).
The letter serves as a notice to the Company under Rule
9.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

After considering legal advice, the Company through its
lawyer submitted a written request to the GEM Listing
Committee of the Stock Exchange (the “Committee”)
pursuant to Chapter 4 of the GEM Listing Rules for
reviewing of the Decision on 6 December 2016. On 14
December 2016, it was confirmed by the Stock Exchange
that the review hearing of the GEM Listing Committee
has been scheduled on 7 March 2017.

On 17 March 2017, the Stock Exchange notified the
Company that the Committee, having considered
all the submissions (both written and oral) made by
the Company to the Listing Department of the Stock
Exchange, the Committee considered that the Company
had failed to maintain sufficient operations or assets
under Rule 17.26 of the GEM Listing Rules to warrant
the continued listing of the Company’s shares. The
Committee therefore decided to uphold the Decision to
suspend trading in the Company’s shares under Rule 9.04
of the GEM Listing Rules and commenced the procedures
to cancel the Company’s listing under Rules 9.14 to 9.16
of the GEM Listing Rules.

After considering legal advice, the Board has decided not

to appeal against the decision of the Committee to the
Listing Appeals Committee.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm R

At the request of the Company, trading in the shares of
the Company has been suspended with effect from 9:00
a.m. on 20 March 2017.

On 15 September 2017, the Company submitted
the Resumption Proposal to the Stock Exchange and
entered into a restructuring framework agreement
with an investor to set out the terms of the proposed
restructuring comprising (i) the Capital Reorganisation; (ii)
the Open Offer; (iii) the Creditors Schemes; and (iv) the
Acquisition.

On 30 October 2017, the Company received a letter
from the Stock Exchange in which it stated that the Stock
Exchange agreed to allow the Company to submit a new
listing application relating to the Resumption Proposal on
or before 8 January 2018.

On 19 January 2018, the Stock Exchange granted an
extension of time to the Company to submit the new
listing application relating to the Resumption Proposal on
or before 29 March 2018 and (ii) despatch the circular
in accordance with the requirements under the Listing
Rules and the Takeovers Code on or before 19 June
2018. On 29 March 2018, the Stock Exchange granted
a further extension of time to the Company to submit
the new listing application relating to the Resumption
Proposal on or before 29 June 2018 and (ii) despatch the
circular in accordance with the requirements under the
Listing Rules and the Takeovers Code on or before 12
September 2018. If the Company fails to submit a new
listing application by 29 June 2018, or the transactions
proposed in the Resumption Proposal fail to proceed
with for any reasons, the Stock Exchange will proceed
with the cancellation of listing of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 2 December 2016, 6 December 2016, 20
March 2017, 9 November 2017, 10 November 2017, 21
December 2017, 22 January 2018, 22 February 2018, 23
March 2018, 4 April 2018 and 4 May 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm R

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has 20 full time
employees (31 March 2017: 27) in Hong Kong and the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). During the year
ended 31 March 2018, the Group incurred staff costs
(including Directors’ emoluments) of approximately
HK$5,016,000 (2017: approximately HK$7,432,000).

Employees are remunerated with reference to
market terms and according to their individual work
performance, qualification and experience. Remuneration
includes monthly basic salaries, retirement benefits under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “Scheme”),
medical schemes and performance-linked discretionary
bonuses.

All qualifying employees of the Group in Hong Kong
participate in the Scheme. The assets of the Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in funds under
the control of trustees. Contributions by the Group were
grossly matched by employee contributions.

The emoluments of the executive Directors are
recommended by the remuneration committee, and
approved by the Board as authorized by the shareholders
of the Company in the annual general meeting of the
Company, having regard to the respective Directors’
experience, responsibility, workload and time devoted to
the Group; and the executive Directors may be granted
options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme as defined
in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements and/or
any other such schemes of the Company as part of their
remuneration packages.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm R

BORROWING FACILITIES

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has obtained credit
facilities from various banks, financial institutions and
independent third parties up to a maximum amount of
approximately HK$20,513,000 (2017: approximately
HK$14,870,000) and approximately HK$20,513,000
(2017: approximately HK$13,870,000 ) of the credit
facilities has been utilized.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 March 2018, investment properties located in the
PRC at carrying values of approximately RMB18,123,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$22,674,000)
(2017: RMB25,180,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$28,406,000)) were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group.

TREASURY POLICIES

The transactions of the Company and its subsidiaries
are mainly denominated in United States Dollar and the
majority of the Group’s tangible assets are denominated
in Hong Kong Dollar. The outstanding convertible
bonds are denominated in United States Dollar and
are redeemable or convertible using an agreed fixed
rate of HK$7.8 to US$1.0. As a result, the convertible
bonds have no exposure to exchange rate fluctuations.
The Group has no other material exposure to exchange
rate risk and has not made any arrangement to hedge
against expenses, assets and liabilities for exchange rate
fluctuation.

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its
treasury policies. The Group strives to reduce exposure to
credit risk by all effective means. To manage liquidity risk,
the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position
to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s
assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its funding
requirements.

EE&

RZE—)\F=A=+—8 AEEBAZHEIRT SR
TN IBN B = B & #920,513,0008 7T (— T —+ 4 :
#914,870,000870) ZEEMER  WEBHAZEERERE
AR 4920,513,0008 70 (ZZ—+t4F : #913,870,0008 7T) °

EEEHA

RZZE—N\FZA=Z+—8 URTBEEEENARE
18,123,0007C (FHZEH 4922,674,000/87T) (ZZE—+F : A
R #25,180,0007T (1855 72 4928,406,00078 7T) 2 I8 E ¥ %
EAEER  UBERAEEER 2 —RIRTTRE -

B BUER

ARBREMBRARZRSEBUETTAHE  MAKEZ
BREEREDABITEHE » RE R AHRRRESJIAET
FHE - WRMRAEH E 2 B E E X7 8B TTH1.0X T T IAME
[Blsy i o E - PR E I S AR E KRB MR - &
SEY EAS T EMEREXRRLR - TMEER T2
NEPEBERRS M BERBE -

REE 2 BRFHRRFEURTRE - AEREHNIA—IEN
TEREEERR REERPDECRR  EFETUE
EAKEZRDESNN - NERATEEEE - BENK
BEeRBDECHBRERMMTESER

ETCEZRARALDT 201718 F F iR

13



14

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm R

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
BUSINESS REVIEW

Stainless steel wires are widely applied in the
manufacturing of electric appliances, mobile
communication equipment and high precision surgical
instruments, with the continuous growth of the
smartphone market, rapid development of the mobile
communication and rising demand for advanced medical
equipment in Hong Kong and the PRC, demand of
stainless steel wires from mobile communication and
medical industries as raw materials and thus the trading
of stainless steel wires kept as a steady level throughout
the current year.

The Group also imports household products from
Korea and Japan and sell them on a wholesale basis
to distributors in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group
considers that the performance of this business segment
is acceptable taking into account the current economic
climate and the time required for the development of the
business. This applies to the nephrite business too.

Chartering of vessel continues to be a regular income
stream of the Group.

PROSPECTS

The Acquisition forms part and parcel of the Resumption
Proposal seeking for the resumption of trading in the
Shares. Upon completion of the Resumption Proposal,
the Group will primarily engage in the Target’'s business.
All the existing businesses including assets and liabilities
of the Company will be transferred to a nominee of the
scheme administrators (“Scheme Administrators”).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEELRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintain and ensure high
standards of corporate governance practices to safeguard
the interests of all shareholders and to enhance corporate
value and accountability. The Company’s corporate
governance practices are based on the principles and
code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG
Code”) contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Except for the deviations as disclosed in this
report, the Company has complied with the CG Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2018.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate
governance practices appropriate to the conduct and
growth of its business and to review its corporate
governance practices from time to time to ensure that
they comply with the statutory requirements and the CG
Code and align with the latest developments.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the code of conduct for
securities transactions by Directors set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors.
The Company issues notices to its Directors 4 times a year
reminding them of the general prohibition on dealing
in the Company’s listed securities during the blackout
periods before the publication of announcements of
quarterly, interim and annual results.

The Company confirms that, having made specific enquiry
of all Directors, all Directors have complied with the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules during the year ended 31
March 2018.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERWE

The Company has adopted the same code of conduct for
securities transactions by relevant employees to regulate
certain employees of the Group who are deemed to be
in possession of unpublished inside information of the
Company when dealing in the securities of the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of the Company comprises the following
members:
Name Changes
Executive Directors

Ms. Yip Man Yi (Chairman)
Mr. Shiu Chi Tak, Titus

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Liang Tongwei (retired on 8 June 2017)
Mr. Wong Chi Man (retired on 8 June 2017)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence

Mr. Li Kwok Chu

Mr. Lau Shu Yan

The biographies of the current directors are set out on
pages 51 to 53 of this report. The Directors do not have
any relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship(s)) with each other.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
DRELRE

The Board is responsible for the leadership and
control of the Company. It also oversees the Group's
business, strategic decisions and directions, and overall
performances including an oversight of the management
of the Group. The management of the Group has been
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the
Board for the general and day-to-day management of the
Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to other committees. Further details of the
committees are set out in this report. The Board reserves
for its decisions on all major matters of the Company,
including the approval and monitoring of major policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management systems, material transactions
(in particular those may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and
other significant financial and operational matters. The
delegated functions and work tasks are reviewed from
time to time. Approval has to be obtained from the Board
prior to any significant transactions to be entered into.

The non-executive Directors serve the relevant function
of bringing independent judgement on the development,
performance and risk management of the Group through
their contributions in board meetings. They are also
serving on audit committee, remuneration committee,
and nomination committee. Through their active
participation, they provide their valuable skills, expertise
and experience to the Board and the committees on
which they serve so that the management process can be
critically reviewed and controlled.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2018, the
Company has complied with Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least one
independent non-executive director (“INED") possessing
appropriate professional qualification, or accounting or
related financial management expertise. All INEDs are
considered to be independent by the Board as the Board
has received from each INED his annual confirmation
on independence as required by Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERWE

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2018, the
Company has complied with Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of a minimum of
three INED.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2018, the
Company has complied with Rules 5.19 of the GEM
Listing Rules relating to one of its executive directors
assumes responsibility for acting as a compliance officer.

The Board meets regularly to review the financial and
operating performance of the Company. During the
financial year ended 31 March 2018, the Board held 4
regular Board meetings (within the meaning of the CG
code) at approximately quarterly interval and 8 other
Board meetings which were convened when board-level
decisions on particular matters were required. During
the regular Board meetings the Directors discuss and
formulate the overall strategies of the Company, review
and monitor the business and financial performances and
discuss the quarterly, half-yearly and annual results, as
well as discuss and decide on other significant matters.
During the year under review, the Chairman of the Board
has met once with the non-executive Directors (including
INEDs) without the executive Directors present according
to the code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code. The
attendance record of each member of the Board is set out
at Details of the attendance of each member of the
Board and Committees on page 26 of this report.

Under the code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the
Chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting and she should also invite the chairmen of
the audit, remuneration, nomination and any other
committees (as appropriate) to attend. The Chairman
of the Company was unable to present at the annual
general meeting held on 8 June 2017 as she had other
important engagements at the relevant time.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2017/18

ARRERBE-Z-N\F=ZA=1+—RHIFERBFEF
GEM_EM M RIZES.05(NEA R I &R =B IFNTE
FIZRE -

ARRERBE_Z-N\F=A=+—RHIFERBFET
GEMEMRRIZES NGB RBEST — 2R TESREIER
EEZHRE

EXeTHRETEIUBNARAZUBREER]I -
RBEE-_T-\FZA=+T-"BHULMERFE EF2Z
BTOAEHESFeER (ERRAEXREARTR) (HRY
—EFE)  URBITBREFEE#  IEMRBEEEE
HEFGZRE NEHMEFEER L EFTRAHE]
Apmlz BERE  FHLEEXRBRMBRIR - Litw
FEHFERFEEE  UREMBERSZEN®RIELR
o BEFR EESXROREAEERTAISTREX
FA2TGFEBPTESHR BN TEIERNTESR (B3
BUFRITES) BT AR EFEERBZHRRT
BENABEF0EESTEREEGRNEZERLEH
R e

RBEEREATUZTRGXEE1215 EFSTFEL
FERRBERE TRAFEZZES FHZES &
HREEREMEMBZEE (WEE) 2 EFHE - AR
TERERREREMEREHRELENR T —LFX
ANBRITZBERAFAE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
REREE

In addition, under code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code,
INEDs and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding
of the views of shareholders. Several Directors were
unable to present at the annual general meeting held on
8 June 2017 due to their other important engagements
at the relevant time, but they have appointed the
other attended Directors as their representatives at the
meetings to answer questions of the shareholders of the
Company. In the future, the Company will try its best to
encourage and ensure the non-executive Directors and
INEDs will attend the general meetings. The attendance
record of each member of the Board is set out at Details
of the attendance of each member of the Board and
Committees on page 26 of this report.

Under code provision A.1.8 of the CG Code, the
Company had arranged insurance cover in respect of
legal actions and potential claims against the Directors
throughout the year ended 31 March 2018.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

According to the articles of association of the Company
one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office at each annual

(the "“Articles of Association”),

general meeting, provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once in every
three years.

According to the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code,
non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific
term of service. All non-executive Directors and INEDs
have entered into a service contract with the Company
for a fixed term of office of one year, and they are
subject to retirement by rotation and offer themselves for
re-election at the annual general meeting at least once
for every three years in accordance with the Articles of
Association. The Company believes that such practice
meets the same objective and no less exacting than those
prescribed under code provision A.4.1.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
REREE

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has a board diversity guideline (the “Board
Diversity Guideline”) setting out the approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Guideline, the Company
seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision
will be made upon the merits and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board

Diversity Guideline from time to time to ensure its
continued effectiveness.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
REREE

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG code, the role
of Chairman and chief executive officer (the “CEO")
of the Company should be separated and should
not be performed by the same individual to ensure
their respective independence, accountability and
responsibility. To ensure a balance of power and
authority, the Company has a clear and defined division
of the responsibilities between the Chairman and the
CEO in accordance with the CG Code. The Chairman
is responsible for the Group’s strategic planning and
the management of the operations of the Board, while
the CEO takes the lead in the Group’s operations and
business development.

Subsequent to the removal of former CEO Mr. Cheung
Hung Man by the Board on 23 May 2016, the post has
been vacant as at 31 March 2018. The Board will keep
reviewing the current structure of the Board from time
to time and the Company will make appointment with
suitable knowledge, skill and experience to fill the post of
the CEO as appropriate.

ROTATION OF DIRECTORS

Under code provision of A.4.2 of the CG Code, every
director should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. Although the existing
Articles of Association do not have exact provisions to
this effect, they do however provide that one-third of
the Directors shall retire from office by rotation and the
Directors to retire every year shall be those who have
been longest in office since their last election. The actual
operation of the aforesaid provisions of the existing
Articles of Association should in principle result in each
Director being subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. Considered in this perspective, the
Company has substantially complied with the CG Code
regarding the requirement that every Director should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. In addition, the Board will ensure that the code
provision of A.4.2 of the CG Code will be complied with
in practice.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

For each newly appointed Director, the Company has
provided induction and information to ensure that he/she
has a clear understanding of the Company’s operations
and business and is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations.

The Directors understand the need to continue
developing and refreshing their knowledge and skills for
making contributions to the Company. The Company
provides regular updates, changes and developments
relating to the Group’s business and the legislative and
regulatory requirements to the Directors.

The Directors have complied with the requirement of
the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors’
training. All Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills and has kept a record of training
that they received for the year ended 31 March 2018.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was established in March
2006 and currently consists of three members, all of
which are INEDs, namely Mr. Li Kwok Chu, Dr. Wan Ho
Yuen, Terence and Mr. Lau Shu Yan. The chairman of the
Remuneration Committee is Mr. Li Kwok Chu.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
are set out in the written terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee which include the
determination of the specific remuneration packages of
all executive Directors and senior management, including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss
or termination of their office or appointment, making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
the non-executive Directors and to review and approve
performance-based remuneration. The terms of reference
can be obtained from the website of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. The Remuneration Committee has
adopted the operation model where it performs an
advisory role to the Board, with the Board retaining the
final authority to approve the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2018, the
remuneration of Directors was determined by their
experience, responsibility, workload and the time
devoted to the Group. Executive Directors and employees
also participate in bonus arrangements determined in
accordance with the performance of the Group and the
individual's performance.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2018, the
Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting for, inter alia,
reviewing and approving the remuneration packages of
the existing Directors. The attendance record of each
member of the Remuneration Committee is set out at
Details of the attendance of each member of the
Board and Committees on page 26 of this report.

Details of Directors’ emoluments for the financial year
ended 31 March 2018 are set out in the note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) was established in March
2012 and currently consists of three members, all of
which are INEDs, namely Mr. Li Kwok Chu, Mr. Lau Shu
Yan and Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence. The chairman of the
Nomination Committee is Mr. Li Kwok Chu.

The roles and function of the Nomination Committee
are set out in the written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee which include the review of
the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, making
recommendations on any proposed changes and on
the appointment and reappointment of and succession
planning for Directors and to assess the independence of
INEDs. The terms of reference can be obtained from the

website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination
Committee will carry out the selection process by making
reference to the Board Diversity Guideline, the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity
and time commitments of the proposed candidates,
including the independence status in the case of an
INED, the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory
requirements and regulations. During the year, all the
newly appointed Directors were appointed by going
through the selection process stated above.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2018, the
Nomination Committee held 1 meeting for, inter alia,
considering the retirement and re-election of the
Directors at the annual general meeting and to assess,
review and make recommendations on the structure, size
and composition of the Board. The attendance record of
each member of the Nomination Committee is set out
at Details of the attendance of each member of the
Board and Committees on page 26 of the report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

“Audit
Committee”) currently comprises three members, of

The audit committee of the Company (the

which all are INEDs, namely Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence,
Mr. Li Kwok Chu and Mr. Lau Shu Yan. The chairman of
the Audit Committee is Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee are
set out in the written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee which includes overseeing the relationship
with auditor, reviewing and supervising the financial
reporting system and internal control procedures of the
Group and reviewing and approving the Company’s annual
reports and accounts, interim report and quarterly reports to
the Board. The terms of reference can be obtained from the
website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the
Group’s unaudited quarterly and interim results and
annual audited results for the financial year ended 31
March 2018 and also reviewed the system of internal
control of the Group in accordance with code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee was of the
opinion that the preparation of such results complied with
the applicable accounting standards and requirements
and adequate disclosures have been made and is of the
view that the system of internal control of the Group is
sufficient to safeguard the interests of the Group after
gradually reorganised the existing daily operations. The
Audit Committee has closely monitored and supervised the
internal control procedures of the Group.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2018,
the Audit Committee held 7 meetings for, inter
alia, reviewing the Group’s quarterly, interim and
annual results, the financial reporting and compliance
procedures, reviewing and approving internal control
review report and considering the re-election of auditor
of the Company. The attendance record of each member
of the Audit Committee is set out at Details of the
attendance of each member of the Board and

Committees on page 26 of this report.
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DETAILS OF THE ATTENDANCE OF
EACH MEMBER OF THE BOARD AND
COMMITTEES:

EZENZEERRECERHERE

Board
Meeting for
chairman
Remuneration  Nomination Audit and non- Annual  Extraordinary
Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee executive general general
Name Changes Meetings Meeting Meeting Meetings directors meeting meeting
IRR
3¢ jHzEe ReZEe  ENZEE FuUMEEY Rx R
i 28 g3 EE L g% Ezeed  BEAE  WAKE
Executive Directors #ES
Ms. Yip Man Vi (Chaiman) ~ £8145+(28) 911 - - - - i -
r. Shiu Chi Tak, Titus BERRE 1 - - - - li -
Non-Executive Directors ~ %%17E%
Mr. Liang Tongwei DiERE (retired on 8 June 2017) 1 - - - - 01 -
(RZF-tE7ANA
Bff)
Mr. Wong Chi Man BEVEL (retired on 8 June 2017) n - - - - 01 -
(RE-tERANA
Bff)
Independent Bikufgs
Non-executive Directors
Dr. WanHo Yuen, Terence 2582+ 8 on on 57 - m -
W Lau Shu Yan HBARE 1 n i m - " -
Mr. Li Kwok Chu FEERE 1011 n n o7 - 1N -
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION EERBAE

The Board is also responsible for performing the
corporate governance duties in the Code Provision D.3.1
as set out below:

a)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices and compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;
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d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

March 2018, the total
remuneration in respect of audit services and other

For the year ended 31

non-audit services provided by the auditor of the
Company, Elite Partners CPA Limited (”Elite Partners”),
were approximately HK$450,000 and HK$156,000
respectively (2017: RSM Hong Kong approximately
HK$450,000 and HK$200,000 respectively).

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2018, which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group and of the Group's results and cash flows for year
then ended. In preparing the financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2018, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and have applied them
consistently, adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") which are pertinent to
its operations and relevant to the financial statements,
made judgement and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable, and have prepared the accounts on the going
concern basis.

The statement of the auditor of the Company, Elite
Partners, about their reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 72 to 73 of
this annual report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) is Ms. Hung Wai Man (“Ms. Hung"). During
the year ended 31 March 2018, Ms. Hung has complied
with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules by taking no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training. Ms. Hung
is responsible for distributing detailed documents to
the Directors prior to the Board Meetings to ensure
the Directors are able to make informed decision
regarding the matters discussed in the meetings. And
all Directors have access to the advice and service of the
Company Secretary with a view to ensure that the Board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association,
the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an
extraordinary general meeting. General meetings shall
also be convened on the written requisition of any two
or more members of the Company deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in
the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of
the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company which carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company. General meetings
may also be convened on the written requisition of any
one member of the Company which is a recognised
clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in
the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided that
such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. If the Board does not
within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2017/18
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proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a
further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in
which meetings may be convened by the Board provided
that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general
meeting of the Company by sending the same to the
Company at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at a
General Meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal office in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding
information of the shareholder, his/her contact details
and the proposal he/she intends to put forward at general
meeting regarding any specified transaction/business and
its supporting documents.

Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Board of
Directors or the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal office in Hong Kong. For the avoidance of
doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original
duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the Company’s principal
office in Hong Kong and provide their full name, contact
details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required
by law.
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SHAREHOLDERS AND
RELATIONS

INVESTORS

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining a
close relationship with shareholders of the Company and
investors by clear, timely and effective communication.
The Company has disclosed all necessary information
to its shareholders and investors in compliance with
the GEM Listing Rules. The Board has maintained close
communications with the shareholders and investors
of the Company through (i) the publication of the
Company’s latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual, interim and quarterly
reports, notices, announcements and circulars; (ii) the
general meetings which provides an opportunity for the
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board; and (iii) the Company’s
website which provides an effective communication
platform between the Company, its shareholders and
investors.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents for the year ended 31 March
2018.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONTROL

INTERNAL

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks that
it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives, and ensuring that the Group established and
maintained appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and
internal controls that are significant to the Group on an
on-going basis. The Audit Committee would consider
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
and training of staff and external advisor of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
function.
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The management of the Group is responsible for
designing, maintaining, implementing and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control system
to ensure adequate control in place to safeguard the

Group's assets and stakeholder’s interest.

The Group has established risk management procedures
to address and handle significant risks associated with the
business of the Group. The Board would perform annual
review on significant change of the business environment
and establish procedures to response to the risks resulted
from significant changes of business environment.
The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to mitigate the potential losses of the business.

The management would identify the risks associated with
the business of the Group by considering both internal
and external factors and events which include political,
economic, technological, environmental, social and staff.
Each of the risks has been assessed and prioritised based
on their relevant impacts and occurrence opportunities.
The relevant risk management strategy would be applied
to each type of risks according to the assessment results.
Type of risk management strategy has been listed as
follows:

- Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of
risk or undertake actions by the Group to reduce
the impact of the risks;

- Risk avoidance: change business process or
objective so as to avoid the risk;

- Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect
of the risk or allocate to different location or
product or market; and

- Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a
third party.
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The internal control systems are designed and
implemented to reduce the risks associated with the
business accepted by the Group and minimise the adverse
impact resulted from the risks. The risk management and
internal control system are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the year under review, the Board has appointed
an independent adviser to conduct a special review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control of the Group.
The review has covered all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions and some recommendations were
provided in the internal control review report. The Group
has focused on improving internal control and has gradually
reorganised the existing daily operations.

The Board considered that, for the year ended 31 March
2018, the risk management and internal control system
and procedures of the Group, covering all material
controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions were reasonably
effective and adequate.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The auditor of the Company modifies its audit opinion
on the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2018 in view of the financial position
of the Company, which may cause doubt to the going
concern of the Company. The Group incurred a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$76,092,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018 and
as at that date, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$119,652,000 and net liabilities of
approximately HK$410,031,000 respectively. All these
indicates the existence of a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Group may
be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities
in the normal course of business. The audit committee
understands the rationale of this modification.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
In the opinion of the Directors, the liquidity of the Group
can be maintained in the coming year based on the
assumption that the proposed restructuring of the Group
will be successfully completed, details of which are set out in
the paragraphs headed “BASIS OF PREPARATION" in the
Notes to the consolidated financial statements section.

Reference to an announcement dated 9 November 2017,
the Company entered into the Restructuring Framework
Agreement on 15 September 2017 (as supplemented
and amended on 9 November 2017) with the investor
to set out the terms of the proposed restructuring which
involves (i) the Capital Reorganisation; (ii) the Creditors
Schemes; (iii) the Open Offer; and (iv) the Acquisition.
Upon the Creditors Schemes having become effective,
all the claims and other liabilities of the Company will
be discharged and released in full, in return, under the
Creditors Schemes, the creditors with the claims admitted
under the Creditors Schemes would be entitled to receive
the consideration (after the costs in connection with
the administration and implementation of the Creditors
Schemes and subject to any reserve which the Scheme
Administrators may make) proportionally on a pari passu
basis based on their respective amount of the claims
admitted under the Creditors Schemes.

The Company has submitted a resumption proposal to
the Stock Exchange on 15 September 2017 seeking its
approval for the resumption of trading in the shares
of the Company. In support of the submission of the
resumption proposal, the Company had explored and
negotiated with the investor, the creditors and any other
parties concerned for the Proposed Restructuring of the
Group. The directors of the Company are of the view that
the major procedures of the Proposed Restructuring will
eventually be agreed upon by the Company’s creditors,
the investor, the management of the Target Group, the
Company'’s shareholders and any other parties concerned,
and will be successfully implemented. As at the date of
this annual report, the Company and its professional
parties have substantially completed their due diligence
works.
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Also, as set out in the paragraphs headed “LISTING
STATUS” in the Management discussion and analysis
section, the Company is required to (i) submit the new
listing application (the “Listing Application”) on or
before 29 June 2018; and (ii) despatch the circular (the
“Circular”) on or before 12 September 2018. As at the
date of this annual report, the Company is in the process
of preparing and will use its best effort to submit the
Listing Application and the Circular for submission in
accordance with the aforesaid timetable.

Upon successful implementation of the Resumption
Proposal including the Creditors Schemes, the Open Offer
and the Acquisition, in which the Scheme Administrators
will take steps to adjudicate the indebtedness of
the Company and to distribute the scheme assets in
settlement of the adjudicated indebtedness. The Scheme
Administrators will also take appropriate steps to realise
and recover the assets of the Scheme Companies
and ascertain and settle the liabilities of the Scheme
Companies from assets recovered and proceeds from
realization of assets of the Scheme Companies. Also, the
proceeds from the Open Offer, after being paid into the
Creditors Schemes, repaying the Investor Loan, deducting
the professional fees and expenses including underwriter
commission, will be retained as the working capital of
the Company. And the Company will acquire from the
Investor a Target Group, which is principally engaged in
provision of interior design services for commercial and
residential properties, as well as fallacies and show flats
for local property developers in Hong Kong. It forms
the basis for auditor to conclude whether the issue of
“Material uncertainty in relation to going concern basis”
can be resolved in the coming financial year.

Besides, the directors of the Company have considered
that the Group obtained additional financing facilities
from an independent third party of approximately
HK$35,000,000 subsequent to the financial year end.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company have prepared
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis, with the audit committee having reviewed and
agreed with this position.
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Should the Group be unable to achieve a successful
restructuring as mentioned above, or alternatively under
other available options of restructuring, and therefore
be unable to continue its business as a going concern,
adjustments might have to be made to the carrying
amounts of the Group’s assets to state them at their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise.

MANAGEMENT RESPONSES ON QUALIFIED
OPINION

(1) Misuse of Company funds from disposal
of leasehold property

On 4 September 2016, the Company announced
Evotech had entered into a Surrender Agreement
with JTC on 6 April 2016 pursuant to which
Evotech agreed to surrender its leasehold interest in
the real property to JTC without the approval and
authorization of the Board, details of which are set
out in the paragraphs headed “LITIGATION” in the
Management discussion and analysis section.

In the opinion of directors of the Company,
the proceeds from surrendering the leasehold
interest were misused. Under this circumstance,
the directors of the Company considered that
the Company has the right to recover the fund
transferred together with the interest and
consequentially, the relevant amounts have
been accounted for as other receivables in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2018 and 31 March 2017.

The Board has obtained legal opinion that both
Evotech and the Company have meritorious claim
and defence in the Singapore Legal Action and the
Third Party Proceedings and such proceedings shall
have no adverse impact upon the financial position
of the Group. Therefore, no provision in respect
of the Singapore Legal Action and the Third Party
Proceedings was made in the consolidated financial
statements.
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RERY - QIR Re RS AR EEEMNREEFDABRIZ
BEMAINESESIR U AELEZEE T8
B

EEEHRESRZOE

(1) ERHEHEYEZLARES
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(2)

Most of the legal procedures of the Singapore Legal
Action has been completed. According to the legal
advice, it is expected that the results of Singapore
Legal Action could be obtained in the third quarter
this year. While the Company’s attorney in The
Republic of Singapore is in the process of finalising
the taxation application for claiming the legal costs
related to the Third Party Proceedings. The results
of the Singapore Legal Action and the Third Party
Proceedings form the basis for auditor to conclude
whether the issue of “Misuse of Company funds
from disposal of leashold property” can be resolved
in the coming financial year.

The audit committee, same as last year, understood
that the auditor of the Company was unable to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence of the
Transaction and the usage of the Proceeds due to
the irregular nature of the Transaction. Thus, the
audit committee agreed to the modification.

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group
was unable to locate complete set of books and
records of two of its subsidiaries, i.e. =i ER
BEER)BREMTAR and RENERE(LE) B
[R/27] ("Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”). In the
opinion of the Board of Directors of the Company,
the controls over the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
were lost. Accordingly, the financial performance
and the assets and liabilities of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries had been de-consolidated from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group
with effective from 31 March 2017 and a loss on
deconsolidation of Deconsolidated Subsidiaries was
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 March 2017. During the year ended 31
March 2018, the Group was still unable to locate
the complete to locate complete set of books and
records of Deconsolidated Subsidiaries.
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The Company has been trying to negotiate with the RATREA—BEERBBARQTEREARILM
legal representatives of the two subsidiaries through (MHFE MEMEMR KB AN ERRERETT
the Company’s lawyer in the People’s Republic of R BERU TS ARE  EEHILFEEEREKEK
China (the "PRC”) throughout the year. Yet the UL BRI AR MK R ETI R 2% AR
results were not satisfactory. And after evaluating AR A ERIRILZEEARNBARNEE
the cost and benefit of taking such legal actions AR - ATRETNMESEERIVEREITE -

towards those legal representatives, the Company
concluded that it was not worthwhile to proceed
with legal actions given that the values of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were limited.

Upon successful implementation of the Resumption FEMEE (BEERARE) KNETTER  KAAF
Proposal including the Creditors Schemes, in ﬂ%TEZIKA’AﬁﬁWE“’T@;E’%%?HF%@}\T—Fﬁ
which the Company will transfer all subsidiaries SRR EIR AT W R B G A

of the Company to the Scheme Administrators BILGAEABRZWB AR ERETHBER ZFEI
or a company to be incorporated and held and HBEKZBEDRE R IEMBRARGa ARIZEER
controlled by the Scheme Administrators, the T —EB I F R R ERR 2 B o

Deconsolidated Subsidiaries no longer belong
to the Group. It forms the basis for auditor to
conclude whether the issue of “Deconsolidation of
subsidiaries” can be resolved in the coming financial

year.
The audit committee, same as last year, understood FBirZEg (BEAFHER) - e LB RBRE T A
that the above limited the audit work of the auditor NEZER R EET TIE IEH';%(EWH%?%/EE”
of the Company and so the auditor was unable to IHEFEEARNEARIEEN TS EENETR
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence related Hit - EZZLZEERERBER -

to the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries. Thus, the audit
committee agreed to the modification.
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INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE OF
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE (“ESG") REPORT

The Board is pleased to present the ESG report which is
prepared in accordance with Appendix 20 ESG Reporting
Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) set out by the GEM
Listing Rule. The Board has reviewed and approved of the
report and are pleased to present the performance and
progress on environmental, social and governance of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2018.

The ESG report of the Group has been presented into two
subject areas, Environmental and Social and each subject
area will have various aspects to disclose the relevant
policies and the status of compliance with relevant laws
and regulations as addressed by the ESG Reporting
Guide.

The Group understands the importance of ESG report
and is committed to make continuous improvements in
corporate social responsibility into the business in order to
better meet the changing needs of an advancing society.
The ESG report will present mainly policies, initiatives and
performance. The following will show the ESG issues that
found material for the Group and the relation to the ESG
Reporting Guide:

Relevant ESG issues to
ESG Reporting Guide the Group
A. Environmental
A.1  Emissions Pollutants emissions, carbon
dioxide emissions and waste
management
A.2  Use of resources Energy, water and paper
consumption
A.3  Environmental and  Measures in reducing

natural resources environmental impact
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Relevant ESG issues to
ESG Reporting Guide the Group
B. Social

B.1 Employment
B.2  Health and safety

Labour practices
Workplace health and

safety
B.3  Development and Employee development and
training training
B.4  Labour standards Child labour and forced
labor

B.5  Supply chain Supplier management
management

B.6  Product responsibility Product safety and quality

B.7  Anti-corruption Anti-corruption and money

laundering

B.8  Community Community involvement

investment

ABOUT THE GROUP

The Group is principally engaged in trading of stainless
steel wires, household products, nephrite, beverage
and securities and the chartering out of pleasure vessel.
During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group’s major
business was remained within Hong Kong to reduce the

business risk.

The corporate social responsibility factors, ESG factors,
have figured ever more prominently in the value
of corporations. A wide variety of sustainability or
non-financial factors can better understand the potential
impact on the valuation of the Company.

The Group follows a sustainable development strategy by
providing the employees with a safe and healthy working
environment as well as training and promoting supply
chain policies and implementing a set of comprehensive
measures for environmental protection.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL A. RIE
The Group has maintained a systematic framework AEERBRFCVERNERBAKED  BRE XN
to manage the immediate and long-term B RRRETE -

environmental impacts of an organisation’s
products, services and processes.

A.1 Emissions A1 BB
Air pollutants emissions ZERI5RYBER
The major source of air pollutants emissions AEENEEZRTEAMFBRRBIERASR
of the Group, including Nitrogen Oxides e (TNO, 1) ~ Tt (150, 1) K &% Rk
(“NO_"), Sulphur Oxides (“SO,") and (RSP » B RBHY (PM)) - TELHEEE
respiratory suspended particles (“RSP”, also ERAREMmMES -

known as Particulate Matter (“PM")), were
mainly generated from using of the motor
vehicle by the management.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, HE-Z-\F=A=+—HIEFE A4l
the total emissions of NO, SO, and PM Y- mAh RN YHEBERED R R
were about 1,395 g, 44 g and 103 g, 1,3955% ~ 447 21037 » AEEE HIFT RS
respectively. The Group has established BB TRAQAHZBT ARIT  LUBRD RIS
policy to encourage staff to travel on the FEVBERL

public transport when there is a need for
out-of-office in order to reduce the emissions
of air pollutants.

Carbon dioxide (CO,) emissions =S AL HR(CO,) B K

The major source of CO, emissions of the AEBZ A BRBEREERRABREZ_Z
Group was mainly generated from the —N\F=A=+—HIEFEALHEMMERT
chartering vessel business during the year EE - Z—EZS iR ALEE 2B
ended 31 March 2018. Another major source BER  FREBERENEELNERB 2
of the CO, emissions was from the trading RERAEE M AERHEREN -

business of the Group of which electricity
is used for maintaining the offices located
in Hong Kong and empowering the offices’
equipment and computers of the Group.
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During the year ended 31 March 2018,
the direct emission of CO, from the mobile
combustion sources, indirect emission of CO,
from purchased electricity and other indirect
emissions of CO, from paper waste disposal
and business travel were about 8,098 kg,
8,586 kg and 3,483 kg, respectively. The
Group has established policies for reducing
CO, emissions as follows:

- Restriction on the use of the vessel
except for the purpose of generation of
charter income and necessary business
matters;

- Restriction to turn off the light and turn
the computer to sleep mode when staff
are out-of-office for more than half
hours during the luncheon time;

- Encouraging the staff to travel on the
public transport when there is a need
for out-of-office; and

- Restriction on maintaining proper
room temperature to reduce the
electricity used in the air-conditioning
environment and turning off the
air-conditioners when staff are
out-of-office during the luncheon time.

HEZZ—\F=A=+—HLFE RBK
BRI FT B — AL R B B BE L - SNIEE
DETEH S bR BERUA R R B E R R
INABFTER E A — B L IR R B BIA A
8,098F 5% - 8,586 713,483 F 52 - AEEIE
HIET LA R EE — SRR

- REIEAmE CRELEDEMARA R
BEBFREIN

- HEIRNFHRERERARAZE@BY )
o RESAREL ARG ERERDE
BRR

7

- ZBRETIRF2HINEARERQHKRZ

BIA R

- ARARBEEEE ADEEHES
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Waste Management

The Group would also produce certain land
waste from the offices located both in Hong
Kong and the PRC when conducting the
business. The major land waste is the paper
used to prepare the shipping and office
documents as well as the packing materials
from the warehouse. The Group has also
established policies to reduce and handle the
land waste as follows:

- Emphasis on the use of recycle paper
when printing the internal documents;

- Encouragement on use of double-sided
printing when printing documents for
external use; and

- Establishment of procedures on
handling waste paper and waste
materials with the priority on i) selling
to recycle merchants; ii) directly disposal
to recycle bins; iii) directly disposal to
regular bins; iv) use third-party merchant
services for the disposal of waste.

The Group has constantly updated with
the local legislation and standards for
environmental protection and assess whether
these legislation and standards are related to
the business of the Group and the Group's
compliance status of these legislation
and standards. During the year ended 31
March 2018, the Group has complied with
environmental laws and regulations applicable
to the Group's business.
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A2 Use of resources A2 EREFER

Resources Consumption

The Group is committed to perform regular
assessment in analysing data which aims for
better management in the use of resources.
The resources majorly used by the Group
relates to electricity and gasoline. The Group
has various policies to efficiently use resources
during operations to reduce wastes with an
optimal schedule of trading.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, all
factories and offices of the Group consumed
over 12,416 kWh electricity, which was 1,869
kWh lower than the last year ended 31 March
2017. The Group aims to reduce consumption
through targeted efforts by participating in an
energy conservation programme.

The Group's resources consumption is listed in
the table below:

ERER
REBBNRN BB EBREITERTE - §
FERBMEREREABN - AEEBX B
RERPREN R - AEB DN BN
K LREZBREPERERER - 1t
FEFRERRDRE -

HE-Z— \F=ZA=+—HILFE ££E
FIEME Rt ERE 2 FEEEH12,416T L& -
BEE-_T—tF=-A=1+— Eiﬁi&mm
1,869 F FLiF o AEE B LB BET LT &
FEiRE ASTEME 2R DB o

TRIEAEE 2 ERERE

Amount
HE

For year ended For year ended

Resources Consumption Unit 31 March 2018 31 March 2017
BE-Z-N\F BE-ZT—tF
=A=+—H =R=+—H
BIRE B L FE LHEE
Electricity consumption kWh 12,416 14,285
BIIHMA TR
Paper consumption Copies 15,000 4,202
AR o H 7 3R

Assessment from management will be made
to reduce the environmental impact from
these resources. During the year, the Group
encourage employees to save electricity
consumption through minimizing the number
of air-conditioners used if necessary during
the office hours.

EEERETHEARLZEERIRREY
2-FR FAEETBERBBEZERIHRD
BREAERNZFEEEE LRI RE -
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A3 BERRARER

A.3 Environmental and natural resources

Measures in reducing environmental
impact

According to the Group’s environmental
philosophy, all sub-companies are committed
to trading various products while also
ensure that all business activities impact the
environment positively.

The Group is challenged with unprecedented
energy efficiency and environmental
protection needs. Therefore, energy efficiency
and environmental protections are great
concerns and long-term arduous tasks for the
Group and the society.

SOCIAL
B.1 Employment

The Group values its employees as they are
the key to success. It is committed in a good
workplace practice without discrimination and
received equal opportunities for all despite of
age, gender, race, colour, sexual orientation,
disability or marital status.

Gender Profile

515
Male
B
B Female
60% pegis
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The following diagram has shown the
distribution of labour in three different
regions.

TE#BER=TRME 2% ToMmIER -

Labour Distribution
BT

Hong Kong
EB
China
30% X
M Singapore
AN

60%

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the
Group compiled with Employment Ordinance
and Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and other labour related law
and regulations such as Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC") {F#EEA
RHEMBEEE) |, Labour Contract Law of
PRC (HPEARKFMBELEHERZE) .

Labour Practices

The Company’s practices and policies with
respect to:

1. Compensation and dismissal

2. Recruitment and promotion

3. Working hours

4. Rest periods

5. Equal opportunity

HE_Z-N\F=ZA=1+—HILFE K&£H
BETRE GG & BB EG E485F 8 H 1A
BR R BHEGIA R E M THREERRER
BlandrhEE A R EFIE A 8% R(PEAR K
MELEERE)

T &5

ARRZEREBERP R NIET5E :

1. HMEEERE

2. HEREH

3. I{EE®

4. /ﬁ( /%\ E% FEﬁ

5. FEge
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6.  Diversity

7. Anti-discrimination

8.  Welfare and other benefits

Our employment contract specified
the terms including compensation and
dismissal, working hours, rest periods
and other benefits and welfare for our
staff. The Group’s employee handbook
distributed to employees also highlight
important information of policies on
compensation, employee benefits, rights
on termination, business conduct and
leave benefits. The Group also provides
comprehensive medical insurance to
employee which included in-patient and
out-patient benefit.

B.2 Health and Safety

Risk management

The Group cares about every employee’
welfare and safety to achieve “zero
accidents” in the workplace with clear
policies. From 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018,
there was no record of work-related fatalities.
Creating a healthy and safe workplace means
having an effective health and safety program
and meeting other basic requirements.

Workplace health and safety

The Group has priority to focus on the
Occupational Health and Safety for the
employees. The Group has fully complied
with relevant occupational safety and health
legislation of Hong Kong, the PRC and
Singapore.
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B.3

B.4

Workplace is equipped with fire and safety
equipment to prevent outbreak of fire and the
validity of the fire facilities have been regularly
checked. During the year, the Group has
reported zero work related fatalities and work
injuries.

Development and Training

Employee development and training

The Group encourages its employees
to advance and improve themselves by
pursuing further studies. It has various
training programmes, internal and external,
to fully develop its workforce. Regularly,
staff would be sent to attend continuous
professional training courses such as Tax
Framework, top up courses for Corporate
Law and Governance and Human Resources
Management Certificate Studies. Besides, the
Group will provide financial sponsorship to
employee to attain professional qualifications.

For all new employees, the Group will be
provided orientation and induction training to
help them to integrate into the new working
environment.

Labour Standards

As a trading company, the employment
standards are the critical things to be
concerned. The Group has strictly complied
with Employment Ordinance.

Child labour and forced labour

Any individuals under legal working age
and individuals without any identification
documents are disqualified from employment.
The Group has committed to protect
the labour rights of staff and established
complaint mechanism for staff to report the
violation for labour right.

B.3

B.4
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Insurance and work security packages:

Hong Kong
&g

REETIEZE2RE

PRC
Bl

Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF")
wEMtAEE (RER)

Medical Insurance

BRERR

Performance Bonus

REIEA

Severance Payment/Long Service Payment
EBHME RERBS
Maternity/Paternity Leave with Pay
BHER/ HER

Employment Compensation Insurance

EEHERR

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the
Group has complied with all relevant labour
standards though some standards may vary in
different jurisdictions. No violation regarding
to the age of employment and labour
dispute has incurred between the Group and
employees.

Supply Chain Management

Supplier Management

The Group also tended to maintain long term
relationship with its suppliers for ensuring
stable supply of materials or goods. Group’s
suppliers are appointed from the approved list
which is reviewed yearly. The approved list of
suppliers is subjected to product quality and
environmental commitment.
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Unemployment Insurance
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Work-related Injury Insurance
T5RE

Childbirth Insurance
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Product Responsibility

Product Safety and Quality

The Group puts products and services quality
as our priority. For our trading products in
PRC such as stainless steel wires and bottled
water, are subjected to the Product Quality
Law of the People’s Republic of China (&
EAREMEERESEL) which makes the
Group having a responsibility to compensate
for the damage made to the person or
property if the products are defected.

Also, the Group has a confidentiality practices
relating to observing and protecting the
Business Practices and Consumer Protection
Act for clients and suppliers’ data protection
and privacy guideline. To protect clients
and suppliers’ data and privacy of client
information, they are kept with confidentiality
and destroyed on a timely basis.

Anti-Corruption

Anti-corruption and Money Laundering

A system with good moral integrity and
anticorruption mechanism is the cornerstone
for sustainable and healthy development of
the Group. The Group adopted guideline
for reporting violations and any suspicious
transactions would be notified and reported
to the relevant governing body by the
responsible officer.

The Group has compliance processes to
facilitate combatting the Proceeds of Crime
(Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing
Act. The Group’s guideline stresses on
no tolerance towards corruption, fraud,
money laundering, bribery and extortion
and has compliance with relevant laws and
regulations.

B.6

B.7
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In addition, the Group has implemented
specific measures to detect and deter money
laundering and the financing of terrorist
activities. For instance,

o Establishing record keeping and client
identification requirements for financial
services providers;

o Requiring the reporting of suspicious
financial transactions and cross-border
movements of currency; and

o Establishing an agency that is
responsible for ensuring compliance
with the Act.

The Group would frequently provide any
latest update about the relevant regulations
of antimony laundering and the code of
conduct.

Community investment

Community involvement

The Group has devoted time and effort
to return to the society as it has always
encouraged its employees to take part in
supporting environmental protection such as
energy saving initiative and volunteer work for
the community.

In the future, the Group will:

a) seek opportunities to work with
charitable organisations to get involved
in various community programmes and
contribute to the society; and

b)  promote the health of its employees and
customers by organising and taking part
in sports and fitness activities.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Yip Man Yi ("Ms. Yip"), aged 46, is an executive
Director since 14 November 2015, the compliance
officer of the Company since 1 December 2015 and the
Chairman of the Company since 31 December 2015.
Ms. Yip graduated from Seneca College of Applied
Arts and Technology, Toronto, Canada and has over 19
years’ experience in financial market and money market.
Ms. Yip has worked with HSBC Market (Asia) Limited
for Global Markets and company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. She was actively involved
in formulating investment strategy and was responsible
for overseeing the management operations of various
investment projects. Ms. Yip also has experience in the
management of listed company at Hong Kong. She was
formerly a chairman and an executive director and a
member of the remuneration committee of Evershine
Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as TLT
Lottotainment Group Limited) (stock code: 8022) from
10 April 2012 to 2 October 2013, a company listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange. She was also formerly
a managing director and an executive director of Unity
Investments Holdings Limited (stock code: 913) from 7
October 2013 to 29 November 2013, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Shiu Chi Tak, Titus (“Mr. Shiu”), aged 36, is
an executive Director since 14 November 2015 and
the authorised representative of the Company since 1
December 2015. Mr. Shiu holds a Master of Science
Degree in Marketing Management from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He has practical experiences
in corporate finance projects for listed companies in
Hong Kong including corporate advisories, mergers and
acquisitions and fund raising activities.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence (“Dr. Wan"), aged 50,
is an independent non-executive Director since 14
November 2015 and a member of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
since 31 December 2015. Dr. Wan was designated as
the chairman of the Audit Committee on 27 July 2016.
Dr. Wan is currently the director of an accounting firm
based in Hong Kong. Dr. Wan is currently an independent
non-executive director of Tai Shing International
(Holdings) Limited, a company listed on the GEM
(stock code: 8103) since 31 December 2015 and is an
independent non-executive director of Goal Rise Logistics
(China) Holdings Limited, a company listed on the GEM
(stock code: 8457) since 26 September 2017. Dr. Wan
was formerly an independent non-executive director of
China National Culture Group Limited (formerly known
as China Railsmedia Corporation Limited) (stock code:
745) from 17 January 2014 to 9 April 2015, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Dr.
Wan obtained a bachelor of law degree from Tsing Hua
University, the PRC in January 2004; and a doctorate
degree of philosophy in business administration from
Bulacan State University, Philippines in May 2006. Dr.
Wan is a Certified Public Accountant (Practicing) of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Dr. Wan
has over 10 years of experiences in taxation advisory,
business management and accounting with several
professional accounting firms and companies.

Mr. Li Kwok Chu (“Mr. Li"), aged 61, is an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee since 31 December
2015. Mr. Li was designated as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee on 26 July 2016. Mr. Li is a
chairman and chief executive officer of Pakco Group and
he has rich experience in administration and management
field. Prior to Mr. Li joining Pakco Group, he was the
managing director of Pakco Security (HK) Limited. He
was formerly an independent non-executive director of
Evershine Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as
TLT Lottotainment Group Limited) (stock code: 8022), a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange for the
period from 16 March 2012 to 31 October 2013.
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Mr. Lau Shu Yan (“Mr. Lau”), aged 36, is an
independent non-executive Director and a member
of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee since 31
December 2015. Mr. Lau is currently a partner of an
audit firm. He had previously worked in an international
accounting firm and has over 10 years of experience
in finance, auditing and accounting fields. Mr. Lau
graduated from the University of Newcastle upon
Tyne, United Kingdom with a Bachelor of Arts degree
majoring in accounting and financial Analysis. He is a
certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Lau is currently an independent non-executive
director, chairman of the audit committee and member of
the remuneration committee of Perfectech International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 765) and an independent
non-executive director and the chairman of the audit
committee of Daohe Global Group Limited (Stock Code:
915), the issued shares of both companies are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is also an
independent non-executive director and the chairman
of the nomination committee of JEYITHRAHERER
KR BBRAE (Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High
Technology Corporation Limited) (Stock Code: 8301),
the issued shares of which is listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Lau was formerly an independent
non-executive director of Evershine Group Holdings
Limited (formerly known as TLT Lottotainment Group
Limited) (stock code: 8022) from 11 July 2012 to 16
January 2014, the issued shares of which are listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its major subsidiaries are set out in note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the principal activities and geographical
locations of operations of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2018 are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2018 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 74 to
76.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
pages 195 to 196.

MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of major subsidiaries of the Group are set
out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity and note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

The Company had no reserves available for distribution
to shareholders of the Company as at 31 March 2018
(2017: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

A fair review and prospect of the business of the
Group as well as discussion and analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year and the material factors
underlying its financial performance and financial position
can be found in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” set out on pages 4 to 14 of this annual report
respectively.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects would be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties including market risk, credit
risk, and liquidity risk. The risk management policies
and practices of the Group are shown in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group commits to the long-term sustainability of
the environment and communities in which it operates.
Acting in an environmentally responsible manner, the
Group endeavours to comply with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection and adopt effective
measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy
saving and waste reduction.

The Group also commits to the principle and practice
of recycling and reducing. To help conserving the
environment, it implements green office practices such
as re-deployment of office furniture as far as possible,
encouraging use of recycled paper for printing and
copying, double-sided printing and copying, reducing
energy consumption by switching off idle lightings,
air-conditioning and electrical appliances.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group. During the year, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a
good relationship with its suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

During the year, there were no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its suppliers, customers
and/or other stakeholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the memorandum and Articles of Association
of the Company, the applicable laws and regulations,
every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the
execution of their duties in their offices. Such permitted
indemnity provision has been in force throughout the
year. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’
and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under
the Articles of Association of the Company, or the laws
of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders of the Company.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of its listed securities
during the year ended 31 March 2018. Neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 March 2018.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
("MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 laws
of Hong Kong) for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme is
a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, each
of the employer and employee are required to make
contributions of 5% of the employees’ relevant income to
the scheme, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. Contributions made to the scheme are
vested immediately.

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Group in the
PRC and Singapore participate in the retirement schemes
operated by the local authorities. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of salaries to
these schemes to pay the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group in respect to these schemes is the required
contributions under the schemes.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group's total
contributions to the retirement schemes charged in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss amounted to
approximately HK$297,000 (2017: HK$1,083,000).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the aggregate
sales attributable to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 89% (2017: 74%) of the
Group's total sales and the sales attributable to the
Group's largest customer accounted for approximately
53% (2017: 46%) of the Group's total sales. During the
year ended 31 March 2018, the aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 90% (2017: 84%) of the
Group’s total purchases and the purchases attributable to
the Group’s largest supplier accounted for approximately
46% (2017:29%) of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates or substantial
shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the share
capital of any of the five largest customers and suppliers
of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Yip Man Yi
Mr. Shiu Chi Tak, Titus

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Man (retired on 8 June 2017)
Mr. Liang Tongwei (retired on 8 June 2017)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence
Mr. Li Kwok Chu
Mr. Lau Shu Yan

Pursuant to Article 116 of the Articles of Association
Mr. Shiu Chi Tak, Titus shall retire from office by
rotation at such forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company and being eligible, to offer himself for
re-election at the annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All of the current executive Directors have entered
into service contracts with the Company and are not
appointed for a specific term, but all are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election provisions in the
Articles of Association.

Each of the current independent non-executive Directors
have entered into a service contract with the Company
with a fixed term of office of 1 year from the date of their
appointment. Such service contracts will be automatically
renewable for successive terms of one year unless
terminated by either party by one month’s written notice
to the other party. They are also subject to rotation and
re-election provisions in the Articles of Association.

None of the Director being proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
has any service contract which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Group are set
out on pages 51 to 53 of this annual report.

CHANGE OF DIRECTORS’' INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules,
upon specific enquiry by the Company and following
confirmations from the Directors, there is no change in
the information of the Directors subsequent to the date
of the Company’s interim report 2017/18.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

In order to attract and retain high quality staff and to
enable smooth operation within the Group, the Group
offers competitive remuneration packages (with reference
to market conditions and individual’'s and the Group’s
performance). The remuneration packages are subject to
review on a regular basis.

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed by
the remuneration committee of the Company,
having regard to the Company’s operating results,
market competitiveness, individual performance and
achievement, and approved by the Board.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, there were no contracts of significance in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.
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INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence, Mr. Li
Kwok Chu and Mr. Lau Shu Yan, and as at the date of
this report considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2018, there are no long and short
positions of the Directors and the chief executives
of the Company in the Shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations that (i) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (i) were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein; or (iii) were required,
pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 March 2018, so far as the Directors are aware,
the following person (other than Directors and chief
executives of the Company) had an interest and/or
a short position in the shares or underlying shares in
respect of equity derivatives of the Company that has
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 336 of the
SFO (including interests and/or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO):

Long and short positions in shares of the
Company

Name of Shareholder

Number of shares

FERRBREEFZRPERIATRE 2 ESE
kER

R—E-NFZA=+—8B REEFHMH FIAL(K
RAEZENERTRABRIN KR ARBBRATETA
Bt SR RE A (0 TR B IR IR 8 75 M B R B SEXVEBH2 823
7 B2 MERRAR AW EE R ARIEE 77 KB 55
BeFATIFE 2 BLMe R R LER (BREREES
KB B BIG XN E B RSB (A 2 s N8
B

REQXFRBZRERER

Approximate
percentage of

shareholding Capacity

B R A 5 e BHERES2E BB

Yeung Wing Yee 846,760,000 24.79 Beneficial owner

EEES 846,760,000 24.79 BEmEE A
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, the B ENFIBEEN R_T—/\E=A=+—8 ' #&EFT

Company has not been notified by any other person
(other than any Directors or chief executives of the
Company) who had an interest or a short position in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant
to Section 336 to the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, the sections “Directors’ and chief executives’
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures” above, at no time during the year
was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, or any of its
fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors or chief executives of the Company or
their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined
in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transaction disclosed in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2018 were constituted connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Saved as disclosed therein, there was no
other transaction which would need to be disclosed as
connected transactions in compliance with the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors consider that the above transaction of the
Group was incurred under normal commercial terms and
in the ordinary and usual course of business, and the
terms are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events occurring after the reporting
date are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management or
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business were entered into or in existence during the year
ended 31 March 2018.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules), is or was interested
in any business apart from the Group’s business, that of
the Company competes or competed or is or was likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s
business at any time during the year ended 31 March
2018 and up to and including the date of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors as
at the date of this report, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the GEM Listing
Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the Company’s Corporate Governance
Practices are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 15 to 37 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR =B

Elite Partners will retire at the forthcoming annual FTEEBRAAREERFAFAE HRE - HHEE
general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, &AL - HEABEIER LEE AN R RILERI Z R #HE
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for R ARATEEREEFAES FFURE -

the re-appointment of Elite Partners as auditor of the

Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting of the Company.

By Order of the Board REEG®

Yip Man Yi HHE

Chairman e

Hong Kong e

1 June 2018 —T-N\FRA—H

BETo¥BERERAD0IEEER  OH
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elite
< partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE MEMBERS OF
UNION ASIA ENTERPRISE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial
statements of Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 194,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2018, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. Because of the
significance of the matters described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our audited report, we
have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in
our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

1)

Misuse of Company funds from disposal
of leasehold property

During the year ended 31 March 2017, Evotech
(Asia) Pte. Limited (“Evotech”), an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company entered into
an agreement with Jurong Town Corporation
("JTC") of the Singapore government, without
the knowledge, consent or approval by the Board
of Directors of the Company, to surrender a
leasehold property to JTC at the consideration of
Singapore dollar (“S$"”) 5,620,000 (equivalent of
approximately HK$32,232,000) excluding goods
and services tax in Singapore (“Transaction”).
To the best knowledge of the Directors, the
net proceeds received from the Transaction
("Proceeds”) were used for (i) settlement of
bank borrowing of Evotech of approximately
S$$1,362,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,700,000); (ii) fund transfer to Kesterion
Investment Limited, a former substantial
shareholder of the Company of approximately
US$570,000 and S$1,600,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$13,399,000); (iii) fund transfers
to Koh Tat Lee, a former director of the Company
and two independent third parties namely Yao Jun
and Yew Eng Piow, of approximately US$500,000
and $$685,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,677,000) ((ii) to (iii) referred to as the “Fund
Transfers”) and the remaining balance of the
Proceeds were used as working capital of the
Group.

In the opinion of the Board of Directors of the
Company, the Proceeds were misused. Under
this circumstance, the directors of the Company
considered that the Company has the right to
recover the Fund Transfer together with the
interest and consequentially, the amounts of
approximately HK$23,758,000 and HK$21,076,000
has been accounted for as other receivables in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2018 and 31 March 2017.
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Due to the irregular nature of the Transaction,
we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence of the Transaction and the usage
of the Proceeds, including but not limited to (i) the
Company’s board resolution of approval for the
Transaction; (ii) the Company’s board resolution
of approval for the usage of the corresponding
Proceeds; and (jii) direct confirmation from each of
the recipient of the Fund Transfers to confirm the
nature of the Fund Transfers and the outstanding
balances of each recipient Fund Transfers as at
31 March 2018. Accordingly, we were unable to
verify the validity, classification and nature of these
balances.

Given the circumstances described above, the scope
of our audit work was limited and there was no
other alternative audit procedures that we could
perform to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to (i) the Transaction
and the usage of corresponding Proceeds were
properly authorised and approved by the Board
of Directors; and (ii) the validity, classification,
nature and recoverability for the balances of other
receivables of approximately HK$23,758,000 due
from the recipient of the Fund Transfers as at 31
March 2018 were free from material misstatement.
Any adjustments that might have been found
necessary will have an effect on the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March
2018, and consequently financial performance and
cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2018 and the related disclosures thereof in
the consolidated financial statements.
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AR

In our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017,
we experienced the same limitation as mentioned
above. Our audit opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2017 was disclaimed accordingly.
These limitations were unresolved this year. As
the auditor’'s report on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2017 formed the basis for the corresponding
figures presented in the current year’s consolidated
financial statements, any adjustments found to be
necessary in respect of the carrying amount of the
other receivables would have a significant effect on
the opening balances on the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2018 and
the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2018.

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group
was unable to locate complete set of books and
records of two of its subsidiaries, i.e. BirRER
BULR)BRETRAT and REMEFE(LE)
BRRAR] (“Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”). In the
opinion of the Board of Directors of the Company,
the controls over the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
were lost. Accordingly, the financial performance
and the assets and liabilities of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries had been de-consolidated from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group
with effective from 31 March 2017 and a loss on
deconsolidation of Deconsolidated Subsidiaries of
approximately HK$6,151,000 was recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March
2017. During the year ended 31 March 2018,
the Group was still unable to locate the complete
to locate complete set of books and records of
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries.

2)
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Given the circumstances described above, the
scope of our audit work was limited and there
was no other alternative audit procedures
that we could perform to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves
to (i) the timing and whether it was appropriate
to deconsolidate the assets and liabilities of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries; (i) the transaction of
the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries during the years
ended 31 March 2017 and 2018 and the balances
of assets and liabilities of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries as at the date of deconsolidation
were properly recorded and free from material
misstatements; and (iii) any contingent liabilities,
commitments, related party transactions and
significant subsequent events relating to the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries and the related
disclosure thereof. Any adjustments that might
have been found necessary will have an effect on
the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2018, and consequently financial
performance and cash flows of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2018 and the related
disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial
statements.

In our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017,
we experienced the same limitation as mentioned
above. Our audit opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2017 was disclaimed accordingly.
These limitations were unresolved this year. As
the auditor’s report on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2017 formed the basis for the corresponding
figures presented in the current year’s consolidated
financial statements, any adjustments found to be
necessary in respect of the carrying amount of the
other receivables would have a significant effect on
the opening balances on the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2018 and
the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2018.
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Material uncertainty in relation to going
concern basis

We draw attention to note 2 in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group which indicates
that the Group incurred a loss for the year of
approximately HK$76,092,000 during the year
ended 31 March 2018. As at the same date, the
Group incurred net current liabilities and net
liabilities of approximately HK$119,652,000 and
approximately HK$410,031,000 respectively. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In forming our opinion, we have considered the
disclosures made in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements which explains that a proposal
for resumption of trading in the Company’s
shares and the restructuring of the Group has
been submitted to The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited to pursue a restructuring of the
Company. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis on
the assumption that the proposed restructuring
of the Group will be successfully completed, and
that, following the restructuring, the Group will
continue to meet in full its financial obligations
as they fall due in the foreseeable future. The
consolidated financial statements do not include
any adjustments that would result from a failure to
complete the restructuring. In view of the extent of
the uncertainty relating to the completion of the
restructuring, we disclaim our opinion in respect
of the material uncertainty relating to the going
concern basis.

3)

RFHECERBNEXRTRE N

HPRE BTNIE ESRBEGEMBMRME2
H@Er ESERBE_Z—N\F=A=+—

BIEFEE A FAEIEL76,092,000% 7T © AR
H BS5EEHEGEBHAEFHERAGEFEIAN
119,652,000/ 7T & 49410,031,000/8 7T © L E1E)
KPGEEATHETEE gl S£EREL
EHRENEAE B REM o

ERERMNELR BHACDZEGEEMFEHREMW
SE2FTEH R EE - R SAERMIRE ERRRN
BEEN BESBEEBEANSTREZXRBBBARIM
ERARUBR BERRNEMR - HFEMBHRERT

BSEQERERH  EPRER ERENEIE
ARk MAEEAK X SEEGES

PHEBETEEANELSRIPNMEEL - HEe
BHRERTBRERTREAMNEHHOEMFE - &
REZREEEAN T EEERE  RAHEEE
BREEENBERTHEEETHRER -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B 2B AR S

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs"”) issued
by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’'s report. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.
However, because of the matters described in the Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were
not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
EER Cilk e

We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code"),
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

and we have fulfilled our other ethical

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Yip Kai Yin with Practising
Certificate number P05131.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong

1 June 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
fre Bm REMEERAK

For the year ended 31 March 2018

B2 —ZE—\F=H=+—HIFFE

Notes 2018 2017
B 5 —E-N\F —E—tF
HK$°000 HK$’ 000
FET FAET
Turnover L 9 122,303 147,643
Revenue W25 9 105,665 84,730
Cost of sales $HE R AR (99,917) (68,617)
Gross profit EF 5,748 16,113
Administrative expenses THHZ (31,072) (40,045)
Other income H A A 10 129 19
Other gains and losses H e 18 11 1,555 80,296
(Loss)/profit from operations &% (E518) % Fl (23,640) 56,383
Finance costs B I N 12 (54,398) (50,580)
(Loss)/profit before tax BREAT (B5]),RBF (78,038) 5,803
Income tax credit/(expense) Frigfife,/ (FAX%) 13 1,946 (3,117)
(Loss)/profit for the year ER(BE) ER 14 (76,092) 2,686
Other comprehensive income BB ZEMEZEEA :
after tax:
Item that may be reclassified to  AJfEE# H A E 182 2 IHH -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on BRENREBEECERZHE
translating
foreign operations 5,049 577
Release upon impairment of s S mEERERRR
available-for-sales financial
assets - (1,446)
Other comprehensive income/ FREME2EWA (BIX) -
(expenses) for the year, IR 1E
net of tax 5,049 (869)
Total comprehensive FREME(BIX),WMARE
(expenses)/income
for the year (71,043) 1,817

The accompanying notes form an

consolidated financial statements.

integral part of these

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2017/18

BEPM M SE Rt AR & M TSR 2 AR AR



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

frAaBmMAMEmRAK
For the year ended 31 March 2018
2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$°000 HK$’ 000
FTET T T
(Loss)/profit for the year ARABEBAEMLER
attributable to: (B8]), &R
Owners of the Company PIN/NEIE RSN (76,092) 2,686
Non-controlling interests FEERR #E o = -
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable AAREEAELER
to owners of the Company (E518) %A (76,092) 2,686
Total comprehensive EiEER2E (X)),
(expenses)/income for the year PNt
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KRABHEE A (71,043) 1,819
Non-controlling interests FEITRR R S - 2)
(71,043) 1,817

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

BED

i

BEPT M RE Rt FhR A M5 3R < R ER Y
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
fraBmMEAMEmRAR
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

Notes HK cents HK cents
B 5 Al Rl

(Loss)/earnings per share SR (BE) &7 18
Basic YN (0.02) 0.09
Diluted e N/A N/A
TE A i A

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BERT P 5T It AR & MRk < A EL 5 o

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
sra MBI SR

At 31 March 2018
R-F—NF=HA=+—H

As at As at
31 March 31 March
Notes 2018 2017

e  R=B-N\F RZT—LF
=R=t+—-8 =A=+—H

HK$'000 HK$’' 000
& T AT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB NE&E 19 22,497 24,234
Investment properties WEYHE 20 22,674 28,406
Goodwill EES 21 10,137 10,137
Total non-current assets FRBEEHARE 55,308 62,777
Current assets REBEE
Inventories N 22 2,674 3,662
Trade and other receivables B 5N EH M EI A 23 40,029 40,088
Financial assets at fair value BBBREATE
through profit or loss HEZEREE 24 21,344 29,239
Bank and cash balances RITRES &% 25 2,856 2,369
Total current assets MEEEHSE 66,903 75,358
TOTAL ASSETS BEEH#E 122,211 138,135
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B REMENTIE 26 72,149 77,157
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R EAIER 27 113,558 13,342
Current tax liabilities BNERFR B & 848 368
Total current liabilities REBAEARE 186,555 90,867
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEFEE (119,652) (15,509)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEATER
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE (64,344) 47,268

BTogprRERAA0SEER [/



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ERE IR R
At 31 March 2018
R-E—)F=HA=+—H

As at As at
31 March 31 March
Notes 2018 2017
B FE RZE—NE RZZE—LF
=ZA=t—-HB =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$" 000
T & T AT
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Bank and other borrowings RIT R E A& 27 = 89,526
Convertible bonds AT R (E 28 293,313 256,774
Promissory notes O 2 29 27,737 24,478
Corporate bonds NAEEFH 30 22,000 20,806
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIEEE 31 2,637 4,461
Total non-current liabilities EnEaEBatE 345,687 396,045
NET LIABILITIES BEFHE (410,031) (348,777)
EQUITY E=
Equity attributable to ZA/NEIE RSN
owners of the Company JE(H
Share capital % A 32 273,216 273,216
Reserves #HE 33 (682,594) (611,551)
(409,378) (338,335)
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR M = (653) (10,442)
Total equity R (410,031) (348,777)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 74 to S4B EF1UEFFE 7 EAMBERRER S —N\F
NA-HHEFSHAENRRENE  UH TIESAERE

Board of Directors on 1 June 2018 and were signed on =2 :

194 were approved and authorised for issue by the

its behalf by:
YIP Man Yi SHIU Chi Tak, Titus
Z=HE BEE
Director Director
s E2

78 Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2017/18



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

,i_| /_\ == \ 7/ /%%-1%
;ZR/ gy | 1; ﬁﬁx@%
For the year ended 31 March 2018

B2 T\ F=H=+—HIEFEF

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KOARBREARL
Foreign Convertible
currency Share bonds  Property Investment Non-
Share Share translation ~ option  equity revaluation revaluation Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium  reseve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reseve  lossess Total interests  equity
TER
M BRE B2 I K& #ER

B R#EE EXRR 0 BR  BRBE  EEER EGEE ZMER 0 HE ER  uEE
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKO00  HKS'00  HKSO0D  HKSO0D  HKSO0D  HKS'000  HKS'00
TR TER  TER  TRT  TEL  TER  TET  TRT  TEL  TEL  TER

At 1 April 2016 RZE-1ERA-H 25298 3,593,043 (3993) 8251 22630 507 1446 (4401594)  (550,740)  (10440)  (567,180)
Total comprehensive income SERAEE - - 577 - - - (M8 41 3263 o 3%
Placing of shares RiHEE 45,53 - - - - - - - 553 - 4553%
Iste of rghts shares EiRRG 038 68363 - - - - - -8 -0
Early redemption of the RERETARES

convertible bonds - - - - (84863) - - (2 (107139) - (107,139
Released upon disposal REER SR - - - - - (507) - 507 - - -
Share option lapsed BRELN - - - B - - - 8251 - - -
Change in equity for the year ERERED 247918 68,363 571 (8251) (84,863 (507) (1,446) (9386) 212,405 Q) 212403
At 31 March 2017 RZF-tF=f=1-B 273216 3,661,406 (3.416) - M43 - - (44109800 (33833) (10442 (348777)
Total comprehensive income 2ENNEE - - 5,049 - - - - (1609 (M0 -
Deregistration of subsiciaries HEMEL AR - - - - - - - - - 9789 9,789
Change in equity for the year Engag - - 5,049 - - - - (609 (103 9789 (61254)
At 31 March 2018 RZE-N\EZfA=1-B 273216 3,661,406 1633 - 141439 - - (4487072 (409,378) (653)  (410,031)

EntcgerraRAFI0eEFR /9



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

==
MERSRER
For the year ended 31 March 2018

B2 _ZE—\F=H=+—HIFFE

2018 2017
—2-N\E§ —tF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
THET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES ~ 2 ¥¥FERLHE
Profit/(loss) before tax BB AR (B18) (78,038) 5,803
Adjustments for: FATIHE EHFAE
Finance costs BB A 54,398 50,580
Interest income FEHA (19) (19)
Depreciation nE 1,710 2,016
Allowance for trade and other receivables B 5 R E U IERE = 6,985
Allowance for obsolete inventory BETEEE 2,190 3,212
Reversal of allowance for trade and B 5 & E AR IE R A
other receivables = (77,520)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BERZEZ
plant and equipment B = 2,816
Loss on deconsolidation BIHRA ANIREE = 6,151
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets at FRBHRATEFEZ
fair value through profit or loss SREEZATE M) /BB (12,502) 3,869
Loss/(gain) on disposal of financial assets at fair HESBBRZRATAEFEZ
value through profit or loss SREEZEBR/ (W) 4,805 (5,916)
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment properties BEME A TEER/ () 8,320 (10,998)
Impairment loss on amount due from associate FEMHE & 1 B SRR E B 1R = 83
Impairment loss on available for sale A ERESE = 5,026
Impairment loss on intangible assets EREEREER = 313
Gain on redemption of convertible bond BRHRES 2 Wam - (13,752)
Deregistration of subsidiaries s LaiEYNSIER ] 9,789 -
Written off of property, plant and equipment W E - WE M RE 1,172 -
Operating loss before working capital changes LEESEHAKLEEE (8,175) (21,351)
Increase in inventories FEEM (1,202) (6,434)
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 K H b e U I8 > 59 1,909
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 REMERIER D (2,908) (37,117)
Cash used in operations RETBHFRARSE (12,226) (62,993)
Net proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEBRERERATENEZS
at fair value through profit or loss MEEZFEHIETE 16,638 62,913
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BERRBERRATEFNEZ
through profit or loss SREE (1,046) (90,105)
Income tax paid BE#mEH (368) (73)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BeTHME/ (R RLFHE
operating activities 2,998 (90,258)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTRER
For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEr—E—\F=A=+—HIFE

Notes 2018 2017
i3 “E-N\F —tF
HK$'000 HKS$' 000
TR THAT

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEBFRALRE
Interest received BUFIE 19 19
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BENE BERR - (7,986)
Acquisition of subsidiaries IR E A = (3.993)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment ~ HEN¥ - BERABHETE - 32,232
Cash outflow from deconsolidation of subsidiaries MBARKLEGEEAEZRER = (886)
Net cash generated from investing activities RETBHMERETH 19 19,386

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REZHAGALRE
Net proceeds from bank loan and other borrowings BITERREMERAEREEE 5,175 41,101
Early redemption of convertible bonds REBEETRRES - (229,320)
Interest paid BRFE (7.831) (5,507)
Placing of shares ROEE - 45,536
Proceeds from issue of rights shares BIHRRG 2GR - 270,745
Repayment of finance lease payables, net ERRENERNTETE - (580)
Repayment of bank loan BRRTER = (46,700)
Finance lease charges paid ERBERERY = (70)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities R&EE (Fi8)/ FEELBE (2,656) 75,205
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERRESENENFE 361 4333
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes NEEREHTE 186 215
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 APRIL REA-BzRERRESEN 2,309 (2,239)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 MARCH R=ZA=+-AzB¢RBLEEN 2,856 2,309

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERASEENIN
Bank and cash balances SORRREHR 25 2,856 2,369
Bank overdrafts BTEX 27 = (60)
2,856 2,309
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

e SRR

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—F— )\ F=H=1—HIFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Limited (“the
Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability. The address of its registered
office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KYI-1104 Cayman Islands. The address
of its principal place of business is Unit A, 29/F.,
CKK Commercial Centre, 289-295 Hennessy Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are
listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM")
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its major subsidiaries are
set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Suspension of trading in shares of the
Company

On 17 March 2017, the Stock Exchange notified
the Company that the GEM Listing Committee,
having considered all the submissions (both written
and oral) made by the Company and the Listing
Department of the Stock Exchange, the GEM Listing
Committee considered that the Company had failed
to maintain sufficient operations or assets under
Rule 17.26 of the GEM Listing Rules to warrant
the continued listing of the Shares. The GEM
Listing Committee therefore decided to uphold the
decision to suspend trading in the Shares under
Rules 9.04 of the GEM Listing Rules and commence
the procedures to cancel the Company’s listing
under Rules 9.14 to 9.16 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Accordingly, trading in the shares of the Company
has been suspended since 20 March 2017 and the
Company was required to submit a resumption
proposal to demonstrate that it has a sufficient level
of operations or assets as required by Rule 17.26
of the GEM Listing Rules at least 10 Business Days
before the expiry of a period of six months from the
date of the decision of the GEM Listing Committee
(i.e. 17 September 2017).

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2017/18
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2018
2 oF N\ F=A=F—HIFE

=

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Suspension of trading in shares of the
Company (continued)

On 15 September 2017, the Company submitted
the resumption proposal to the Stock Exchange
and entered into the restructuring framework
agreement (the “Restructuring Framework
Agreement”) with the investor (the “Investor”) to
set out the terms of the proposed restructuring (the
“Proposed Restructuring”) comprising (i) the capital
reorganisation (the “Capital Reorganisation”); (ii)
the creditors schemes (the “Creditors Schemes”);
(iii) the open offer (the “Open Offer”); and (iv) the
acquisition (the “Acquisition”).

On 30 October 2017, the Company received a letter
from the Stock Exchange in which it stated that
the Stock Exchange agreed to allow the Company
to submit a new listing application relating to the
Resumption Proposal on or before 8 January 2018.

As additional time was required for the finalisation
of the accountants’ report of the target company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Target Group"”) for the track record period and
the due diligence work to be carried out for the
new listing application relating to the Resumption
Proposal, the Company had applied for, and the
Stock Exchange granted on 19 January 2018, an
extension of time to the Company to submit the
new listing application relating to the Resumption
Proposal on or before 29 March 2018.

Subsequently, as additional time is required for the
finalisation of the accountants’ report of the Target
Group for the three financial years ended 31 March
2018, the Company had applied for, and the Stock
Exchange granted on 29 March 2018, a further
extension of time to the Company to submit the
new listing application relating to the Resumption
Proposal on or before 29 June 2018. If the
Company fails to submit a new listing application
by 29 June 2018, or the transactions proposed in
the Resumption Proposal fail to proceed with for
any reasons, the Stock Exchange will proceed with
the cancelation of listing of the shares on the Stock
Exchange.

mEEE (7)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e B SRR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2018
2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

=

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Proposed restructuring of the Group

On 15 September 2017, the Company entered
into the Restructuring Framework Agreement
(as supplemented and amended on 9 November
2017) with the Investor to set out the terms of the
proposed restructuring which involves (i) the Capital
Reorganisation; (ii) the Creditors Schemes; (iii) the
Open Offer; and (iv) the Acquisition.

Pursuant to the Restructuring Framework
Agreement, the Investor shall provide or shall
procure a party to provide the investor loan to the
Company in the amount up to HK$18,000,000
to finance the professional fees and all costs and
expenses of the Company in connection with the
Acquisition. In addition, the Company also agreed
to procure the transaction loan in a sufficient
amount on terms approved by the Investor for the
purpose of financing the professional fees and all
costs and expenses of the Company in connection
with the preparation of the Resumption Proposal
including all the transactions contemplated
thereunder, except for the Acquisition and the work
relating to the financial information of the Target
Group.

Under the Restructuring Framework Agreement,
the Company will make an application to the High
Court of Hong Kong and the Grand Court of the
Cayman Islands seeking sanction to repay the
investor loan and the transaction loan in full out of
the proceeds of the Open Offer.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2017/18

mMAEE ()
rEENERER

RZZBE—+FNATHA  ARARERKREEIVE
AERWE (R T —LF+— ANREETRIER])
ARG AR R - B F N - (BANEAR (i)
BREARHE : ()AFRBRE » RWIEBEEIE -

BIEEAERTG R REEBRARRRE (SR
BRI £ &= 18,000,000 T2 REEE
HoABNARAREEKBEBE EEBRA K1
FRARNERFI S o AN - RAB MR EBRFEZRREER
HEZERERERHZRZE - MEBEA AR AR
EHEREEEZRCEXEERE —UNAEMAY
BIEARBLRETZ YIRS Ik EE K E
BEEEMBERBRZ TIERIN -

ARRBARBEEHERGZRATESF AELFHS
BEXERRELER  SRIENRRABEMERK
REBEEREEEFR LR FGEK



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Proposed restructuring of the Group

(continued)

Details of (i) the Capital Reorganisation; (i) the
Creditors Schemes; (iii) the Open Offer; and (iv) the
Acquisition are set out below:

0}

(i)

Capital Reorganisation

Pursuant to the Restructuring Framework
Agreement, the Company proposes to
implement, subject to the approval by the
shareholders, the Capital Reorganisation
comprising the share premium cancellation,
share consolidation, capital reduction,
unissued share capital cancellation and
authorised share capital increase. Before the
Capital Reorganisation, the authorised share
capital of the Company is HK$2,500,000,000
divided into 31,250,000,000,000 shares of
HK$0.08 each, and the issued share capital of
the Company is HK$273,216,000 divided into
3,415,197,762,000 shares of HK$0.08 each.
Immediately after completion of the Capital
Reorganisation, the authorised share capital
of the Company will be HK$100,000,000
divided into 100,000,000,000 consolidated
shares of HK$4.00 each and the issued
share capital of the Company will be
reduced to HK$$273,216,000 divided into
68,303,955,000 consolidated shares of
HK$4.00 each. The consolidated shares after
Capital Reorganisation will be identical and
rank pari passu in all respects with each other.

Creditors Schemes

As part of the Proposed Restructuring, the
Company proposes to transfer all subsidiaries
of the Company (the “Scheme Companies”)
to the Scheme Administrators or a company
to be incorporated and held and controlled
by the Scheme Administrators, which will
be independent third parties. All the issued
shares of the Scheme Companies will be
transferred to a nominee of the Scheme
Administrators upon the Creditors Schemes
having become effective at the nominal
value for the benefit of the creditors and
any guarantee or indemnity given by the
Company in respect of the obligations or
liabilities of each of the Scheme Companies
shall be released and discharged in full upon
such transfer.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Proposed restructuring of the Group
(continued)

(i)

Creditors Schemes (continued)

Upon the Creditors Schemes becoming
effective, the Scheme Administrators will
take steps to adjudicate the indebtedness of
the Company and to distribute the scheme
assets in settlement of the adjudicated
indebtedness. The Scheme Administrators
will also take appropriate steps to realise and
recover the assets of the Scheme Companies
and ascertain and settle the liabilities of the
Scheme Companies from assets recovered
and proceeds from realization of assets of the
Scheme Companies. To save any extra cost
and resources in pursuing any claims against
the Scheme Companies, all of the rights,
causes of action or claims of the Company
against the Scheme Companies in respect of
transactions or events incurred up to the date
the Creditors Schemes becoming effective
will also be assigned by and transferred and/
or novated (as the case may be) from the
Company to such nominee of the Scheme
Administrators. The Company will receive
payment out of the realisation and/or recovery
of any assets of the Scheme Companies in
settlement of any amounts due and/or claims
against such Scheme Companies. Proceeds
from realisation of assets of the Scheme
Companies after settlement of liabilities of the
Scheme Companies and any surplus assets of
the Scheme Companies will be available to
the creditors under the Creditors Schemes and
excess amount, if any, under the Creditors
Schemes after payment of all costs and
settlement of all liabilities due to the creditors
will be returned to the Company.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Proposed restructuring of the Group
(continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Creditors Schemes (continued)

Upon the Creditors Schemes having become
effective, all the claims and other liabilities of
the Company will be discharged and released
in full, in return, under the Creditors Schemes,
the creditors with the claims admitted under
the Creditors Schemes would be entitled
to receive the consideration (after the costs
in connection with the administration and
implementation of the Creditors Schemes
and subject to any reserve which the Scheme
Administrators may make) proportionally on
a pari passu basis based on their respective
amount of the claims admitted under the
Creditors Schemes.

Open Offer

As part of the Proposed Restructuring, the
Company proposes the Open Offer on the
basis of nineteen (19) offer shares for every
one (1) new share held by the qualifying
shareholders on the open offer record date.
A total of 1,297,775,150 offer shares will be
allotted and issued by the Company to the
qualifying shareholders and/or the underwriter
at the open offer price of HK$0.19 for each
offer share.

Acquisition

Under the Restructuring Framework
Agreement, the Company will acquire
from the Investor the sale share for the
consideration of approximately HK$423.5
million, which will be satisfied by way of issue
and allotment of 2,228,865,908 consideration
shares at the consideration price of HK$0.19
each. The consideration shares represents
approximately 62.0% of the total issued share
capital of the Company upon completion.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Proposed restructuring of the Group
(continued)

(iv) Acquisition (continued)
The Target Group is principally engaged
in provision of interior design services for
commercial and residential properties, as well
as fallacies and show flats for local property
developers in Hong Kong.

As all of the percentage ratios in respect
of the Acquisition under Rule 19.07 of the
GEM Listing Rules exceed 100% and the
issue of the consideration shares will give
rise to change in control of the Company,
the Acquisition constitutes a very substantial
acquisition and a reverse takeover for the
Company under Chapter 19 of the GEM
Listing Rules. In addition, as Mr. Norman
Chan, being one of the ultimate beneficial
owners of the Target Company, will be
proposed to be a Director, the Acquisition
also constitutes a connected transaction for
the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Acquisition
is subject to the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules and approval of the new listing
application of the Company by the GEM
Listing Committee. Such new listing
application is required to comply with all the
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules, in
particular the requirements under Chapters 11
and 12 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Going concern basis

The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$76,092,000
(2017: profit of HK$2,686,000) for the year
ended 31 March 2018 and as at that date, the
Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$119,652,000 (2017: HK$15,509,000) and net
liabilities of approximately HK$410,031,000 (2017:
HK$348,777,000), respectively.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Going concern basis (continued)

The condition above indicates the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Therefore, the Group may be unable to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business. To address the issues
above, the Company had explored and negotiated
with the investor, the creditors and any other
parties concerned for the Proposed Restructuring of
the Group.

As the Company is preparing the resumption
proposal, the successful implementation of which
will effect, including but not limited to, the
Proposed Restructuring comprising (i) the Capital
Reorganisation; (ii) the Creditors Schemes; (iii) the
Open Offer; and (iv) the Acquisition. The directors
of the Company are of the view that the major
procedures of the Proposed Restructuring will
eventually be agreed upon by the Company's
creditors, the investor, the management of the
Target Group, the Company’s shareholders and any
other parties concerned, and will be successfully
implemented. Besides, the directors of the
Company have considered that the Group obtained
additional financing facilities from an independent
third party of approximately HK$35,000,000
subsequent to the financial year end. Accordingly,
the directors of the Company have prepared the
consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to achieve a successful
restructuring as mentioned above, or alternatively
under other available options of restructuring, and
therefore be unable to continue its business as a
going concern, adjustments might have to be made
to the carrying amounts of the Group’s assets to
state them at their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

(@) New and amended Standards and
Interpretations issued that are
applicable to March 2018 year-end

In the current year, the Group has applied for
the first time the following amendments to
HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for an
accounting period that begins on or after 1
January 2017:

Amendment to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative;

Amendment to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised losses;
and

HKFRSs (Amendment) Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs, 2014-2016 Cycle

The amendments to HKAS 7 require an entity
to make disclosures that aim to enable users
of financial statements to evaluate changes
in liabilities arising from financing activities.
Reconciliations of various types of the
Group's financing liabilities are disclosed in
Notes 27, 28, 29, and 30 to the consolidated
financial statements. Other than such
additional disclosures, the application of the
amendments has not had any material effect
on the consolidated financial statements.

The amendments to HKAS 12 clarify when
unrealised losses on a debt instrument
measured at fair value would give rise to a
deductible temporary difference and how to
evaluate whether sufficient future taxable
profits are available to utilise a deductible
temporary difference.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. HAFHITREEITEEMEREEL &)
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(@) New and amended Standards and (@) BAR-E—NF=ZRAFH&ZHITRRKE
Interpretations issued that are AIERIRRREE)
applicable to March 2018 year-end
(continued)

Annual improvements to HKFRSs (2014-2016 EBUBRELEN - T—NEE T —XFR

cycle) include an amendment to HKFRS 12
that clarifies that, when an entity’s interest in
a subsidiary, a joint venture or an associate
(or a portion of its interest in a joint venture
or an associate) is classified (or included in a
disposal group that is classified) as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets held for Sale and Discontinued
operations, it is not required to disclose

Mz FRUERREBY RS ERE125R
BRI  IERTARE  WEBNKIEAR
BELEABENT S (HEREGELE
SkHEE N B0 ) IRIBR B RS E
RISESSRAFIEML EFE R B EER UL E DI
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AZIEEME -

summarised financial information for that
subsidiary, joint venture or associate, as
required by HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests
in Other Entities.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. HHFHiTTREZBITEEMBEHREER (&)
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and amended Standards and b) RZZB-—NF=RFHEEREM(MHETEER
Interpretations issued that are AIBRAN) 2 B AT RAIETERI R R
effective subsequent to March 2018 B
year-end, but may be adopted early

7R 52 B30 4 8 PR T 31 A AAT 2 2B AR 1B 18 AR 5 1 A
W ¥ a] RIIERT BB B RE R

The Group has not applied any of the
following new and revised HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet mandatorily

92

effective:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments' EEUBREENESR SBIA

HKFRS 15 and amendments to Revenue from Contracts with BRUBREENEE REZPAHZBA

HKFRS 15 Customers' REEBF]

HKFRS 16 Leases? BANBREENS 6% HE

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement ERNBREEMNER  URHAERZARRS2
of Share-based Payment BEET DREGE'
Transactions'

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial BRUBREENEAR  HBREUBREENSRR

Amendments to HKFRS 10

Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts'
Sale or Contribution of Assets

MR

BRYBREEANFI0%

BRANERBENHRS
EREGRERTA
REERABE AR

and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its RBEEGHENFLE  ALELERMEEEEL
Associate or Joint Venture? EolEH AN
Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property’ BB SERSEWONRN  ERRENE
EH
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRS AEMBRERANGE] BAMEREREN-E-N

Standards 2014-2016 Cycle*

FETAFRHZ
FREME

HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions B (BRTBHRERE NEXFRERMRE
and Advance Consideration’ ZEY)REBENR
HK(FRIC) Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax B5 (BRI EERE  MER M REEE

Treatments?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after a date to be determined

4 For those amendments that will become

effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and amended Standards and
Interpretations issued that are
effective subsequent to March 2018
year-end, but may be adopted early
(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 has introduced new requirements for
a) classification and measurement of financial
assets, b) impairment of financial assets and ¢)
general hedge accounting.

Specifically, with regards to the classification
and measurement of financial assets HKFRS
9 requires all recognised financial assets
that are within the scope of HKFRS 9 to be
subsequently measured at amortised cost or
fair value. Debt investments that are held
within a business model whose objective is
to collect the contractual cash flows, and
that have contractual cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortised cost at the end of
each of the subsequent accounting periods.
Debt investments that are held within a
business model whose objective is achieved
both by collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets, and that have
contractual terms that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, are generally measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income
(FVTOCI). All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at their fair
value at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. Further, under HKFRS 9, entities
may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an
equity investment (that is neither held for
trading nor being contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies) in
other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit
or loss and the cumulative fair value changes
will not be reclassified to profit or loss upon
derecognition of the investment.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and amended Standards and
Interpretations issued that are
effective subsequent to March 2018
year-end, but may be adopted early
(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
With regards to the measurement of
financial liabilities designated as at fair value
through profit or loss, HKFRS 9 requires
that the amount of change in the fair value
of a financial liability that is attributable to
changes in the credit risk of that liability is
presented in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of such changes in
other comprehensive income would create
or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss. Changes in fair value attributable
to a financial liability’s credit risk are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the
change in the fair value of the financial
liability designated as fair value through profit
or loss is presented in profit or loss.

With regards to impairment of financial
assets, HKFRS 9 has adopted an expected
credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred
credit loss model required under HKAS 39.
In general, the expected credit loss model
requires an entity to assess the change in
credit risk of a financial asset since initial
recognition at each reporting date and to
recognise the expected credit loss depending
on the degree of the change in credit risk.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. HAFHITREEITEEMEREEL &)
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and amended Standards and
Interpretations issued that are

(b) REZB-NF=-ZAFHERER (TR
RIERA) 2 B R R RSB RT E AR 22

effective subsequent to March 2018 BE)
year-end, but may be adopted early
(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
With regards to the general hedge accounting
requirements, HKFRS 9 retains the three
types of hedge accounting mechanisms

ERMBREENESREMTA(E)

P REPEEREM S - BAMBREER
FORRE B ATRBEE B G ERIFE395E A A
R =ZREE et - RIBE B BRE LR

R NAHHEHERIZNBIESIA
FAREE  LHEREENTAEHPTAERNT
AR NGRS ERAIFSRIA R ME
R RREY o SN - AR EE R » A

currently available in HKAS 39. Under HKFRS
9, greater flexibility has been introduced
to the types of transactions eligible for
hedge accounting, specifically broadening

the types of instruments that qualify for [ 4B RAR ] IR BB o ¥ p AN B /a1 T8
hedging instruments and the types of risk RS - WEI NI INE 8 EEIREE
components of non-financial items that are FEHIARE ©

eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the

effectiveness test has been overhauled and

replaced with the principle of an ‘economic

relationship’. Retrospective assessment of

hedge effectiveness is also no longer required.

Enhanced disclosure requirements about an

entity’s risk management activities have also

been introduced.

HKFRS 9 contains specific transitional ERENBHREENFRBEEBHQEMEE
provisions for (a) classification and PERFE ODEREERE Rk HHhes

BRI 2 FRBIRIRY - HIER2HA BN W

impairment of financial assets; and (c) hedge HAERZFE5R o

measurement of financial assets; (b)

accounting, please refer to HKFRS 9 for
details.

ETCEZRARALDT 201718 F F iR
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEr—FE—\F=ZA=+—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. BRAFITERKBITEEBHMBHREELN &)
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and amended Standards and b) RZZE-—NF=BFHEEREM(METRER
Interpretations issued that are AIERMN) 2 C B FT RIEFTERIRR
effective subsequent to March 2018 BE)
year-end, but may be adopted early
(continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with BB REERFEISHEREFEL S WA
Customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive BV REERNFIHEYE—MEE2E
model for entities to use in accounting NEEEREBREEF PRI 2 W AR
for revenue arising from contracts with BB IR ELERE 155N EMRE - BEIRIR
customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the W2 WantERIES| - BIEE BT ERE185%
current revenue recognition guidance Wz - BAGFERIENRELS L RBER
including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 o

Construction Contracts and the related
Interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an BRUREERE 1S ZOREAEBIE
entity should recognise revenue to depict Rt R P A Do RS M
the transfer of promised goods or services SREAR &Bﬂ%uxﬁﬁfﬁiﬁﬁkx}@&:fﬁ%iﬁﬁ
to customers in an amount that reflects the BREESZRE - BME - BEMBRELER
consideration to which the entity expects to F155 5| AR M= Zﬁfl*%ﬂr’z

be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Specifically, HKFRS 15 introduces a
5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a HE - BRIEER 2 &1
customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations W2 BB BHNEE
in the contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price HR3 BERHER

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to L BRGEEIERERNET
the performance obligations in the
contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) HES - RERBBITBRARMERE (Sistit) #R
the entity satisfies a performance e
obligation
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2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. HAFHITREEITEEMEREEL &)

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and amended Standards and
Interpretations issued that are
effective subsequent to March 2018
year-end, but may be adopted early
(continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue
when a performance obligation is satisfied,
i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

Far more prescriptive guidance has been
added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures
are required by HKFRS 15.

HKFRS 15 contains a number of transitional
provisions as well as practical expedients to
help preparers so through the transition.
Please refer to HKFRS 15 for details.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 will supersede the current lease
guidance including HKAS 17 Leases and
the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

(b) REZB-NF=-ZAFHERER (TR

RIERA) 2 B R R RSB RT E AR 22
B

BB BREEREISHEREEFEAZRA
(%)

RIBEBPBREEFE155 - BENTKE
MEERER WS BN EROETRE
Em Rz AN EEETEFRK

o A

BB BHMEERE1SRE T RIE R 2 BRIE
JTEMAE RIS © beoh - BEMBRE
RERIESSRBRE AR WE -

BEEMEHRELNFE 155 EBEZHEEIEGRN
AREBRARERR - BDRREERRE
Hl - FI5H2HEEMBMELRFI5H -

BB BHMEERF165EE

BRI HREERF165RERE - HIREA
HERMRES  BRABGENF17RHEE
NIARE R -

ETCEZRARALDT 201718 F F iR



98

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e B SRR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018
2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and amended Standards and
Interpretations issued that are
effective subsequent to March 2018
year-end, but may be adopted early
(continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Specifically, the right-of-use asset is initially
measured at cost and subsequently measured
at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any re-measurement of
the lease liability. The lease liability is initially
measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at that date.
Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted
for interest and lease payments. Furthermore,
the classification of cash flows will also
be affected as operating lease payments
under HKAS 17 are presented as operating
cash flows; whereas, under the HKFRS 16
model, the lease payments will be split into
a principal and an interest portion which will
be presented as financing and operating cash
flows respectively.

With regards to lessor accounting, HKFRS
16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease
either as an operating lease or a finance lease.
Furthermore, HKFRS 16 requires extensive
disclosures in the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. HAFHITREEITEEMEREEL &)

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and amended Standards and
Interpretations issued that are
effective subsequent to March 2018
year-end, but may be adopted early
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification
and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions

The amendments clarify the following:

o In estimating the fair value of a
cash-settled share-based payment, the
accounting for the effects of vesting and
non-vesting conditions should follow
the same approach as for equity-settled
share-based payments.

o Where tax law or regulation requires an
entity to withhold a specified number
of equity instruments equal to the
monetary value of the employee’s tax
obligation to meet the employee’s tax
liability which is then remitted to the tax
authority, i.e. the share-based payment
arrangement has a ‘net settlement
feature’, such an arrangement should
be classified as equitysettled in its
entirety, provided that the share-based
payment would have been classified as
equity-settled had it not included the
net settlement feature.

REIB-NF=ZAFHERERETER
RIERA) 2 B R R RSB RT E AR 22
B

BB BIEERF2H 25T F LR G BE
B#ZNAXE 20 BER A E

AFER AT

o AMEHNBSEEURGARRTRT
DA YERBEERND BERY
32 BB RIS BRI
SRR — 5% -

o MWBZAIERHAETERABRITEERNE
ENMBETEREECREHRERET
B UBETERERBEML HRBER
TRIEHE - ARG BERZ MR L
BARDFREERE]  ZLHEEBE
DRGSR - WMEL IR AFEE
BEEE RIUEROD RER 2RSS
BRI EER -
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2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and amended Standards and
Interpretations issued that are
effective subsequent to March 2018
year-end, but may be adopted early
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification
and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions (continued)

o A modification of a share-based
payment that changes the transaction
from cash-settled to equity-settled
should be accounted for as follows: the
original liability is derecognised. The
equity-settled share-based payment is
recognised at the modification date
fair value of the equity instrument
granted to the extent that services have
been rendered up to the modification
date. Any difference between the
carrying amount of the liability at the
modification date and the amount
recognised in equity should be
recognised in profit or loss immediately.

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts

Amendments to HKFRS 4 are not applicable to
the Group as the Company or its subsidiaries
are not engaged in insurance business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. HMAFHITREEITEEMEREEL &)

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and amended Standards and
Interpretations issued that are
effective subsequent to March 2018
year-end, but may be adopted early
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 deal with situations where there is a
sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture.
Specifically, the amendments state that gains
or losses resulting from the loss of control of
a subsidiary that does not contain a business
in a transaction with an associate or a joint
venture that is accounted for using the equity
method, are recognised in the parent's profit
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in that associate or joint
venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting
from the re-measurement of investments
retained in any former subsidiary (that has
become an associate or a joint venture that
is accounted for using the equity method)
to fair value are recognised in the former
parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investors’ interests in the new
associate or joint venture.

b) REZB-NF=ZAFERER(ETRER

RIERA) 2 B IR 5] RSB RT AR 22
B

BB BREEREI10RREBEERFE28
BT FAREEREBENARE LT R
BEEEHIA

BBEIS RS R 108 R B LR 28
W AREREENEBEAARA Y
CEIMHREEHELIEZER - BN
T RESETR  AERKREATSA R
2 ERATIIR) 22 5 K = HHEA T
(WS ER) 2 T2 B - R
BARERRER - TEAIIBREERNZ
BSATINA LR HERAR - A 2
FEAHEAT (ERABERARALDE
UAMERSEFIBE) FTREB 2 A EHHBFEA
2B RS ARRAR R LI
B E RN L AT SR DL S
R
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2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and amended Standards and
Interpretations issued that are
effective subsequent to March 2018
year-end, but may be adopted early
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of
Investment Property

The amendments clarify that an entity should
transfer a property to, or from, investment
property when, and only when, there is a
change in use. The amendments state that
a change in use occurs when the property
meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of
investment property and there is evidence
of the change in use. The amendments
emphasize that a change in management’s
intentions for the use of a property, in
isolation, does not provide evidence of a
change in use. Further, the amendments
clarify that the list of circumstances set out
in paragraph 57 of IAS 40/HKAS 40 are
examples only.

The amendments require an entity to apply
the amendments to changes in use that
occur on or after the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which the entity
first applies the amendments (i.e. the date
of initial application). At the date of initial
application, an entity should reassess the
classification of property held at that date
and, if applicable, reclassify property to reflect
the conditions that exist at that date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and amended Standards and
Interpretations issued that are
effective subsequent to March 2018
year-end, but may be adopted early
(continued)

HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 22 Foreign
Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration

This Interpretation addresses how to
determine the date of the transaction for the
purpose of determining the exchange rate to
be used on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income (or part of it) on
the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the
payment or receipt of advance consideration
in a foreign currency. The Interpretation
concludes that the date of the transaction
for the abovementioned purpose is the
date on which an entity initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the payment or receipt of
advance consideration.

HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 23 Uncertainty
over Income Tax Treatments

This Interpretation clarifies how to apply the
recognition and measurement requirements
in HKAS 12 when there is uncertainty over
income tax treatments.

3. BRAFFIREBTEEMBHREER @)

(b)

R-ZB-N\F=ZAFEREM (ETRERE
RIERA) 2 B R R RSB RT E AR 22
B

BB (BRI B R EREESE) 2 BEF2255)
BXERENAE

ZeBEAMAEER S BH - UEEELL
EREBE MR INERBREEZ IR
BEERFERAER  NTRIABBEE
FISCSMA (SE AR — 300 ) A 2 FE R » 3%
BEzEwmE RLAENmMEZRZAH
RERVTSHEARB SN HKEIRERESL
ZHEKEEIFERABER -

58 (BRABHERBEAR) REEIRAT
BB 2 TR EE
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

=

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention,
unless mentioned otherwise in the accounting
policies below (e.g. investment properties, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss that are
measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEr—E—\F=A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. IFEEHEE (&)
(continued)
(a) Consolidation (@) #&E

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries made up to 31 March.
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity
when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to
direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers
its potential voting rights as well as potential
voting rights held by other parties. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder
has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are de-consolidated from the date the
control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary
that results in a loss of control represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of
any investment retained in that subsidiary and
(i) the Company’s share of the net assets of
that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
and any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

RAMBHRREEARALEMBATEE=
A=t—RIz#B®RE - MBRARRELE
BUERAIEGIRZER EAREARSEF
B2HEBRMBZAZER  AAERNEBE

HERZRHIPEZZORE - AIAKEZG
ZER - EARBEZRERNSAEERRA

RENEETHEREY (ABREXEERLDRE
B ARBEXEZER

o

REHEIE SR - REEEZFEHLBEREER
E‘ﬂﬁ{ﬁj\i%ﬂ'ﬁZ/gz‘E? - /\K?TE/\JQJ

BERRENTEBERZE ARt RZBERR
1 o
B B8 R FR I R R §KEIZEL%?/£

B WHZESER I BREIHRA AR -

HE B A B MG RR R SR HIE 2 28 T5HE()
HERERHEERRNZME R FRE 2 EA
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(a) Consolidation (continued)

Intragroup transactions, balances
and unrealised profits are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity
in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or
indirectly, to the Company. Non- controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity
within equity. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as an allocation of profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between
the non-controlling shareholders and owners
of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling shareholders even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FESHBE (&)

(continued)

(b) EBEHIREE

(b) Business combinations and goodwiill

The acquisition method is used to account for
the acquisition of a subsidiary in a business
combination. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at
the acquisition-date fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued, liabilities
incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition- related costs are recognised as
expenses in the periods in which the costs
are incurred and the services are received.
Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any
excess of the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the sum of the consideration transferred
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase which is attributed
to the Group.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary
are initially measured either at fair value
or at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value
of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and
liabilities at the acquisition date. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(b) Business combinations and goodwiill

(0

(continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured
at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination
is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs") or groups of CGUs that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the Group
at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes. Goodwill
impairment reviews are undertaken annually,
or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment.
The carrying value of the CGUs containing
the goodwill is compared to its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial
statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is
the Company’s presentation currency.
The functional currency of the Company
is United States dollars (“USD"). The
directors consider that choosing HK$ as
the presentation currency best suits the
needs of the shareholders and investors,
who are mostly located in Hong Kong.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

Transactions and balances in each
entity’s financial statements
Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency
on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
in foreign currencies are translated at
the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured
at fair values in foreign currencies are
translated using the exchange rates
at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-
monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-
monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

4. FESTFEER#E)

(0 @&

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e B SRR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEESHEBE (&)

(continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (continued) (o IEBmEE)
(iii) Translation on consolidation (i) ZEREBRE
The results and financial position of all NEBFRBEREZNEEEBMERRAK
the Group entities that have a functional NAlZ 2 E% - AIHEERIBIRR
currency different from the Company’s BT AR RE BEA QR 225G -

presentation currency are translated into
the Company’s presentation currency as

110

follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each - BUBHRAREINCEERBEN
statement of financial position RIBZE AR SR B B2 W fE 2
presented are translated at the HBE
closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

-  Income and expenses are - HARARFAZEREEERRE

translated at average exchange
rates for the period (unless this
average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates
on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange
differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEr—E—\F=A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TFESEE (&)
(continued)
(c) Foreign currency translation (continued) (o EBmEE)
(iii) Translation on consolidation (i) ZAEREBBRE(E)

(continued)
On consolidation, exchange differences REEEHRER  AREERBEEEE Y
fEREZEBRNERIREFERER

ZEBoy » A E AL 2 U AFE R RSN

arising from the translation of the
monetary items that form part of the

net investment in foreign entities and of WEHFEHRST - EHEEINERK -
borrowings are recognised in the other ZEERHEZENGEEEREN S EAT
comprehensive income and accumulated EREH—HD -

in the foreign currency translation

reserve. When a foreign operation is

sold, such exchange differences are

reclassified to consolidated profit or loss

as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments W BINERBEA ZHERA T ERE

arising on the acquisition of a foreign WRIEZBINERBZEERARE Wi
entity are treated as assets and liabilities I ERRE o
of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.
(d) Property, plant and equipment d "% -BERRE
Leasehold building is stated in the HEEFRESEFERAIREGRERZRAFE

consolidated statement of financial position
at its revalued amount, being the fair
value at the date of revaluation, less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
Any accumulated depreciation at the date
of revaluation is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset and the net
amount is restated to the revalued amount
of the asset. Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity such that the carrying
amounts do not differ materially from those
that would be determined using fair values
at the end of each reporting period. All other
property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

A ER REHTE RERRRERR)
REFA PR R IR - REM B HZER
REtTEeHEEZRMAEYH - MFEE
JIREEZEME - ELKHEEHMET  UE
REETEENERE WRRA R HEMREE
ZERMEBRK - FIEEMYE - BFE L&A
BRABERRAITERERRABERE
(B) iR A MR ERF IR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e B SRR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEr—FE—\F=ZA=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEESHEBE (&)

(continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (d) "% -BERREE)
(continued)
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s BT HTE B A 2 BB G A e m AR
carrying amount or recognised as a separate SEREEASEAEHEAKRRZIBERT - HE&K
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable AAEFABEREEIERRBEIEE (?ﬁ
that future economic benefits associated with BRER) - FIBEEMEERREREAREE
the item will flow to the Group and the cost A EAEE R R TR o

of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in
profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Any revaluation increase arising on the FMELABEHEEEEFMEEA cEHEEHR
revaluation of such leasehold building is HE2mBARRT A ESHERHBR -
recognised in other comprehensive income EBRERBIZEELATNBR T R 2 EMRER
and accumulated in property revaluation Hh - ERERT - EMEERAR SR ZE
reserve, except to the extent that it reverses EREAELZ - EHEREEEFMELEY
a revaluation decrease for the same asset REERDEBRZIEEER LA BEYE
previously recognised in profit or loss, in BhFEEHE(E)  AIRBERPHER -

which case the increase is credited to profit or
loss to the extent of the decrease previously
expensed. A decrease in the carrying amount
arising on the revaluation of such leasehold
building is recognised in profit or loss to the
extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held
in the property revaluation reserve relating to
a previous revaluation of that asset.

Depreciation of revalued leasehold KEHIHEEBFIMENBERRER - &
building is recognised in profit or loss. On hZHEEFREZR D ENMER - AR
the subsequent sale or retirement of a EﬁfuﬁﬁW%TZﬁﬁﬁEﬁEﬁ?gﬁTy@}ﬁéﬁ
revalued leasehold building, the attributable RETEsE -

revaluation surplus remaining in the property
revaluation reserve is transferred directly to
accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEr—E—\F=A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FESHBE (&)

(continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (d) "% -BERREE)
(continued)
Depreciation of other property, plant and HAWZ - B REREBAESER R AMIEE
equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to A EMERFISREE L E - PMEEAIE
write off their cost or revalued amount less RAEHHEINE - TE2FENT :

their residual values over the estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold building Over the lease term HERF TR A
Leasehold improvement  Over the lease term HEMEERE GizE
Furniture and fixtures 25% - 50% HKARKE 25%%50%
Office equipment 25% — 50% EYINGS 25%%250%
Motor vehicles 12.5% — 30% qE 12.5%%30%
Machinery 12.5% — 30% e 12.5%%E30%
Vessel 3.3% i AR 3.3%
The residual values, useful lives and FItr(EE - AIERAFHMTEFEN S REH
depreciation method are reviewed and REITRF AR (WEA) -

adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE  BENMKREZBERHESMENE
and equipment is the difference between the FHEHEHEERTDECMAZEE  UYHER
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of HER -

the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e B SRR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018

=

—NF=ZHA=1—HIFFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e)

)

Investment properties

Investment properties are buildings held
to earn rentals. An investment property is
measured initially at its cost including all direct
costs attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment
property is stated at its fair value based
on valuation by an external independent
valuer. Gains or losses arising from changes
in fair value of the investment property are
recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment
property is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
property, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

The Group as lessee

(i) Operating leases
Leases that do not substantially transfer
to the Group all the risks and rewards
of ownership of assets are accounted
for as operating leases. Lease payments
(net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018
2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(f) Leases (continued)

(ii) Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer
to the Group all the risks and
rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as finance leases. At the
commencement of the lease term, a
finance lease is capitalised at the lower
of the fair value of the leased asset
and the present value of the minimum
lease payments, each determined at the
inception of the lease.

The corresponding liability to the lessor
is included in the statement of financial
position as finance lease payable. Lease
payments are apportioned between
the finance charge and the reduction
of the outstanding liability. The finance
charge is allocated to each period
during the lease term so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability.

Assets under finance leases are
depreciated the same as owned assets
over the shorter of the lease term and
their estimated useful lives.

4. FESTFEER#E)

() HE#E)

(i)

MEEE
BELREERAR A AR NE®R
BREEASEZEE AREEE - &
EHEEREREZEEEEZ A TFER
REREFRRE (MEARHEFRBE
BE) ZBEEANK-

HHEA 2 HEEHRMBHOR RS HIE
ENMERE - HEFBERLIDES
BMEEMMBRAMNER - BEERR
EHEHANE  WEREKEREFDH
—EEBZERF =X -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e B SRR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEr—FE—\F=ZA=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the weighted average basis. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position when the Group becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when
the contractual rights to receive cash flows
from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of
or the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all

ownership of the assets;

the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets but has not retained control on the
assets. On derecognition of a financial asset,
the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration
received and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract
The
difference between the carrying amount of

is discharged, cancelled or expires.

the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Recognition and derecognition of

financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and
the net amount reported in the balance
sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis
or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right
must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course
of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or
the counterparty.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis where
the purchase or sale of an financial asset is
under a contract whose terms require delivery
of the financial assets within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are
initially measured at fair value, plus directly
attributable transaction costs except in the
case of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: at fair value through
profit or loss and loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the purpose for
which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of
its financial assets at initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair through

profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are financial assets
classified as held for trading or
designated as at fair value through
profit or loss upon initial recognition.
These financial assets are subsequently
measured at fair value. Gains or losses
arising from changes in fair value of
these financial assets are recognised in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(i) Financial assets (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. These assets
are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method (except for
short-term receivables where interest
is immaterial) minus any reduction for
impairment or uncollectibility. Typically
trade and other receivables, bank and
cash balances are classified in this
category.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are
non-derivative financial assets that are
not classified as loans and receivables,
held-to-maturity investments or financial
assets at fair value through profit
or loss. Available-for-sale financial
assets are subsequently measured
at fair value. Gains or losses arising
from changes in fair value of these
investments are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve,
until the investments are disposed of
or there is objective evidence that the
investments are impaired, at which time
the cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified from equity to
profit or loss. Interest calculated using
the effective interest method and
dividends on available-for-sale equity
investments are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEr—E—\F=A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

()

(k)

)

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from
customers for merchandise sold in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of
trade and other receivables is expected in one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer), they are classified
as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non- current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents represent
cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and subject to
an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
are classified according to the substance of
the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
The accounting policies adopted for specific
financial liabilities and equity instruments are
set out below.
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iR e B SRR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2018
2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

=

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(m) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value, net of transaction costs incurred, and
subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right
to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the reporting period.

(n) Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued on 12 May 2015
Convertible bonds issued on 12 May
2015 which entitle the holder to convert
the bonds into a fixed number of equity
instruments at a fixed conversion price
and entitle the Company, at its options, to
redeem any portion or the entire amount
of the outstanding principal amount of
the convertible bonds at predetermined
redemption price, comprised a liability,
a derivative component and an equity
component.

At the date of issue, the liability component
is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar non-convertible debt.
The equity component is recognised at the
residual amount after deducting the fair value
of the liability component and derivative
component from the fair value of the
convertible bonds as a whole.

In subsequent periods, the liability component
is carried as a liability at amortised cost
using the effective interest method until
extinguished on conversion or redemption.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(o)

(p)

(a)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised
initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable and
is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably.

(i) Sales of goods

Revenues from the sales of metals,
beverages, household products and
nephrite are recognised on the transfer
of significant risks and rewards of
ownership, which generally coincides
with the time when the goods are
delivered and the title has passed to the
customers.

(ii) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective
interest method.

(iii) Securities trading
Securities trading is recognised when
the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the
buyer.

(iv) Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the period of the
lease.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(r) Employee benefits

0}

(i)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave
and long service leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service
leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until
the time of leave.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme and defined contribution
retirement plans are recognized as
an expense when employees have
rendered services entitling them to the
contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised
at the earlier of the dates when the
Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the
Group recognises restructuring costs
and involves the payment of termination
benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(s)

(®

Borrowing costs

All other borrowing costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current
tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
profit recognised in profit or loss because of
items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences
between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

®

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period when
the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and
liabilities reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2=F

~NFZA=F—BILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(®

(u)

Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption
is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business
model of the Group whose business objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale. If the
presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for such
investment properties are measured based on
the expected manner as to how the properties
will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT")

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of
land value, being the proceeds from sales
of properties less deductible expenditures
including land costs, borrowing costs,
business taxes and all property development
expenditures. LAT is recognised as an income
tax expense. LAT paid is a deductible expense
for PRC enterprise income tax purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e B SRR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEr—FE—\F=ZA=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(v)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have indefinite useful
life or that are not yet available for use
are reviewed for impairment annually and
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

The carrying amounts of other non-financial
assets are reviewed at each reporting date
for indications of impairment and where an
asset is impaired, it is written down as an
expense through the consolidated statement
of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable
amount unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease. The recoverable amount is
determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets. If this is the
case, recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher
of value in use and the fair value less costs
of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the
estimated future cash flows of the asset/cash-
generating unit. Present values are computed
using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the
time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset/cash-generating unit whose
impairment is being measured.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(v)

(w)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(continued)

Impairment losses for cash-generating units
are allocated first against the goodwill of
the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit.
Subsequent increases in the recoverable
amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent
that they reverse the impairment unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group assesses whether its financial assets
(other than those at fair value through
profit or loss) are impaired, based on
objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial
recognition, the estimated future cash flows
of the financial assets have been affected.

For available-for-sale equity instruments, a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the investment below its cost is
considered also to be objective evidence of
impairment.

In addition, for trade receivables that are
assessed not to be impaired individually,
the Group assesses them collectively for
impairment, based on the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the delayed payments in the portfolio,
observable changes in economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables, etc.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(w) Impairment of financial assets

(continued)

Only for trade receivables, the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited
against the allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss.

For all other financial assets, the carrying
amount is directly reduced by the impairment
loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised
cost, if the amount of the impairment
loss decreases in a subsequent period and
the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed (either directly or
by adjusting the allowance account for trade
receivables) through profit or loss. However,
the reversal must not result in a carrying
amount that exceeds what the amortised cost
of the financial asset would have been had
the impairment not been recognised at the
date the impairment is reversed.

In respect of available-for-sale equity
securities, an increase in fair value subsequent
to an impairment loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
revaluation reserve; impairment losses are not
reversed through profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(x)

(y)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the
Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide
additional information about the Group’s
position at the end of the reporting period
are adjusting events and are reflected in
the financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated

financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(z) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is
related to the Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that
person’s family is related to the Group if
that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over
the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(i) is a member of the key
management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the
Company.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any
of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company
are members of the same group
(which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEr—E—\F=A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(z) Related parties (continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any

of the following conditions applies:

(continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is
an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.
If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

().

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the
entity).

The entity, or any member of
a group of which it is a part,
provides key management
personnel services to the reporting
entity or to the parent of the
reporting entity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies,
the directors have made the following judgements
that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements (apart from those involving estimations,
which are dealt with below).

(a) Going concern basis
The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis,
the validity of which depends upon the
successful conclusion of the Group’s Proposed
Restructuring as explained in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(b) Deferred tax for investment properties
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors have
reviewed the Group’s investment property
portfolio and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties are not held under a
business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over
time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in determining the Group's deferred tax for
investment properties, the directors have
adopted the presumption that investment
properties measured using the fair value
model are recovered through sale.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are discussed below.

(@) Property, plant and equipment and

depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful
lives, residual values and related depreciation
charges for the Group’s property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives
and residual values of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions.
The Group will revise the depreciation charge
where useful lives and residual values are
different to those previously estimated, or
it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned.

A 2 M B ) = EAh 5t (2)

A THABER 2 EEZRR

TRt R E AR BREARKAN EZBRR R AT
PPRENEMEIZRT  ZFTERILEMBE
ZRFEEEEDAH N —MRERNEERAER
EEEHERFHENERER -

(@) "M% BERRBURFE

AEEBTTEERYE  BERREZHEA
ERFY  RnBEMABTERS - 21AM
AHRIERUEE R 2% - BERERELZ
BRI AFRLRSREEBELREDL -
B A AE RS EE R AR TR
AERERERTTERS - SRR ZRITE
FRF 2l IR RS B 7 F L B SR

ETCEZRARALDT 201718 F F iR

133



134

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e B SRR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2018
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(b)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment

The Group assesses annually whether
property, plant and equipment has suffered
any impairment or have any indication
of impairment in accordance with the
accounting policy. Assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amounts of assets or
cash- generating units have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates,
such as discount rates, future profitability
and growth rates. Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired
requires an estimation of the value in
use of the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash- generating unit and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value.

Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent
professional valuer to assess the fair value of
the investment properties. In determining the
fair value, the valuer has utilised a method
of valuation which involves certain estimates.
The directors have exercised their judgement
and are satisfied that the method of valuation
and inputs used are reflective of the current
market conditions.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(e)

U]

Allowance for trade and other receivables
The Group makes allowance for trade and
other receivables based on assessments
of the recoverability of the trade and
other receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each debtor. Impairments arise
where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of bad and
doubtful debt, in particular of a loss event,
requires the use of judgements and estimates.
Where the actual result is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact
the carrying value of the trade and other
receivables and allowance for trade and other
receivables in the year in which such estimate
has been changed.

Allowance for obsolete inventories
Allowance for obsolete inventories is made
based on the aging and estimated net
realisable value of inventories. The assessment
of the allowance amount involves judgement
and estimates. Where the actual outcome in
future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying
value of inventories and allowance charge/
write-back in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk,
liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operated in Hong Kong and
PRC. Most of its business transactions, assets
and liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the Group entities
except for certain receivables denominated
in foreign currencies that exposed the
Group to foreign currency risk. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group
monitors its foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

At 31 March 2018, the impact of a
hypothetical 10 per cent weakening of Hong
Kong dollar against the Renminbi (“RMB")
with all other variables held constant, on
the Group’s total equity is decrease of
HK$2,064,000, arising mainly as a result
of the foreign exchange loss on variables
denominated in RMB. Since Hong Kong
dollars is pegged to United States dollar,
the management considers that there is no
significant exposure expected on United
States dollars transactions and balances.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

(b) Credit risk

(0

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable
to its trade and other receivables. The
directors closely monitor the credit quality
of the customers and counterparties on a
regular basis by taking into account their
financial position, credit history and other
factors. Allowance shall be provided if there is
indication that the outstanding amount is no
longer recoverable.

The Group has certain concentration risk on
trade receivables. Details of the concentration
risk associated with the revenue from
major customers is set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The credit risk on bank and cash balances is
limited because the counterparties are banks
with sound credit-ratings.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

6.

MEEREE @)

(b)

(9]

ERER

AEBEZEERBRIZREEE S REMBER
HIA - EEERTNEREPERXSHEF 2
EEZ - S REFZMHINN - EREEME
R o WA IR B AR KRE IR BEHK
Bl - RIZAGHER M -

AEEREZRERBRE T EHREMR o H2K
BEBEFPZEXBEAWLETREFHBTEN
iR A M ISR RES ©

RITLASEBRZEERAREAR  REERS
BFYREBRIFERFTRZRIT -

REE SRR

AREZBERAERERBRIRERZRBE
THF - WMERAEEEST TR RHEEA
ENEEHERRZABESTL
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iR e B SRR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEr—FE—\F=ZA=+—HIFE

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.

(continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (continued)

MBEREE @)

(9 RBESEMEE)

The maturity analysis, based on the AEEZRABRRASREE D 2SR AETIH
undiscounted cash flows, of the Group's ST
financial liabilities is as follows:
Less than Between 1 Between 2
1 year and 2 years and 8 years
TR—%F —EWMF —ENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THET
At 31 March 2018 R-ZBE-NE=ZA=1+—H
Trade and other payables BN EMENIE 72,149 - -
Bank and other borrowings ~ $R{TREME R 113,558 = =
Convertible bonds ARRES - - 22,000
Corporate bonds NREH - - 293,313
Promissory notes AEEER - - 27,737
185,707 - 343,050
Less than Between 1 Between 2
1 year and 2 years and 8 years
TR—F —EMF ZENF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET FAET
At 31 March 2017 RZE—tF=A=+—H
Trade and other payables BN EMERNIE 77,157 - -
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 13,342 588 88,938
Convertible bonds Ak E - - 421,200
Corporate bonds NEEH - - 30,000
Promissory notes AREE - - 31,490
90,499 588 571,628

At 31 March 2018, the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$119,652,000

(2017: HK$15,509,000),

and net liabilities

of approximately HK$410,031,000 (2017:
HK$348,777,000). The directors have taken
steps to improve the Group’s liquidity position
and mitigate its liquidity risk as disclosed
in note 2 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

(d)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s bank deposits and bank loans
and overdrafts bear interests at variable
rates varied with the then prevailing market
condition and therefore are subject to
interest-rate risk.

At 31 March 2018, if interest rates at that
date had been 100 basis points lower/
higher with all other variables held constant,
consolidated loss after tax for the year would
have been approximately HK$123,000 (2017:
HK$146,000) higher/lower, arising as a result
of the net increase/decrease in the net effect
of interest income arising from bank deposits
and interest expense from bank loans and
overdrafts.

The Group currently has not used any interest
rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest
rate but may enter into interest rate hedging
instruments in the future to hedge any
significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise.

6.

MEEREE @)

(d) R=E&

REEZ SRTERMRTERNBEIRAE
MRATRZFEFNEETE - B EAEN XA

% -

RZZE—N\F=ZA=+—8 WAMET
B/ EF100EES: - MAABHMESHIFT
B RZFARTREEBBLEM SR L
123,000/ 7L (ZZ —+4 : 146,000 7T) * T3
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2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. H¥EKREE %)

(continued)
(e) Categories of financial instruments (e) =RMT AR
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHETT
Financial assets: SREE:
Financial assets at fair value FRBEREANTEAEZ
through profit or loss ERMEE
— held for trading —BEEE 21,344 29,239
Loans and receivables (including EXRERE (BERS
cash and cash equivalents) LIRS EEY) 42,885 42,457
64,229 71,696
Financial liabilities: cREE:
Financial liabilities at amortised costs REERATEZSREE 528,757 482,083
(f) Fair values f 2FE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial REEHBERARARMR  AEEEMEE K
assets and financial liabilities as reflected TRABECREEHES 2 AFEES -

in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their respective fair
values.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

=

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The following disclosures of fair
value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that
categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the
Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted
prices included within level
1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the
date of the event or change in circumstances that
caused the transfer.

ATEIE
NHERTS2EERTERNET Z2BEFRXSF
HEBEMBEMABRABEMINZER - UATA
FEFERBEEMMAZAFERFIZBUAER
FEZGEETEAERZBARED B=EFR

F—RBABE AEBEANFERHESZ
HEREESXRENEEMS

ZRE (RERE) -

F_RBABE: EHEREIHEZIEEXREAN
BR2B AL MIEE—

RFrEYEZRE -

BRI AR BEXABZITABEEGHA

g -

AEEZBRBERBESHXBERNEHANENR
BREM=EARNBAREHER -
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iR e B SRR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018
2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7.

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value

NEEFTEE)

() AVFEHERHE:

hierarchy:
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2018 Total
—E-N\F
il -8 F-R F=R at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
TET TET THET TET
Recurring fair value BEEMHAFENE:
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value FBBREATE
through profit or loss listed HEEREE
securities in Hong Kong BELMES 21,344 - - 21,344
Investment properties in AR 2R EWE
the PRC - - 22,674 22,674
Total recurring fair value @~ EEMAFEHELE
measurements 21,344 - 22,674 44,018
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2017 Total
—T+tF
pzgit] F—R EM B=& st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET TET FHET
Recurring fair value EEMATENE:
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value FRETEATE
through profit or loss listed HEZemERE
securities in Hong Kong BB LEHES 29,239 - - 29,239
Investment properties in Rz REME
the PRC - - 28,406 28,406
Total recurring fair value =~ EBEMATPEIBHEE
measurements 29,239 - 28,406 57,645
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e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018
2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7. RAF{EE#E)

(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at (b) ERNE=RRAFEFEZEEYK:
fair value based on level 3:

Investment
Description properties
R REWMHE
HK$°000
THET
At 1 April 2017 RZZE—tFWMA—A 28,406
Fair value losses NFEEE (8,320)
Exchange difference recognised in other ~ REMEE W AR ZIEN =5
comprehensive income 2,588
At 31 March 2018 RZE-NF=A=+—H 22,674
(c) Disclosure of valuation process (00 BWEAEEFREAZEERFURAFE
used by the Group and valuation SFEMRAZEEREZRBAZSR
techniques and inputs used in fair
value measurements:
The management of the Company is ARNAEEEBAERYEREETMSEZE
responsible for the fair value measurement ERBEZATEFE (BIEE=RATE
of assets and liabilities required for financial 2) BEENTELMAGERFREBEER

reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value TR o
measurements. Review of valuation process
and results are held at least twice a year.

Level 3 fair value measurements FEZRAFEE
Fair value Fair value
2018 2017
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs ~ Range AVE DT
R fhERE TUBEGLBAER €E “B-\f ZE-t%
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn AL
Investment properties in PRC  Market comparable approach  Price per square meter ~ RMB16,940 22,674 28,406
RPEZRENE L PR FYHAER (2017: RMB23,537)
ARS16,9407T
(CZB—tF: AR¥23537T)
During the two years, there were no changes REMENRN - FTAMGE T ENENE o

in the valuation technique used.
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BEr—FE—\F=ZA=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has six reportable segment, in its
continuing operations during the year.

Beverages — Trading of bottled mineral water and
tea products

Metals — Trading of stainless steel and scrap metals
including aluminum, copper

Household products — Trading of daily essentials
including baby products and skincare products

Nephrite — Trading of nephrite

Charter — Rental income on rent of vessel

Securities — Investment and trading of listed
securities

Segment profits or losses represents profit or
loss from the respective reportable segments less
direct operating costs attributable to the respective
reportable but does not include taxation and
finance costs.

Segment assets exclude investment properties and
unallocated corporate assets.

Segment liabilities exclude current tax liabilities,
deferred tax liabilities, bank and other borrowings,
promissory notes, convertible bonds, corporate
bonds and unallocated corporate liabilities.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2017/18

7 EER
FR - AEEAAE PR EEEDH -

K - EEREBRK RS

cEB-EETHHMLESE (8% )

XAEMm - EEARAn(BRERERRESE

an)

X -HEHNE

HE - HEMME KA

EH-REREE LMES

2 EbE N REB R R AR A B R #8828 N REE

ARRE R R D BRE (R c EEREERA - BT
PIA M B E AN ©

DEHEETBRREMERARDBEAREE

DEHBETEESHHERRS - Lkﬁﬁﬁﬁ iR
TREMER ALERE - TBRRES  QARES
NADEARIAE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEr—E—\F=A=+—HIFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. oHWER M
Information about reportable segment profit or loss, AR O Fa Mk EE  EERABEBHECER !

assets and liabilities:

Household
Metals Beverages  products  Nephrite  Charter  Securities Total
| #8  ZRBER I HE 2% st
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
TERL TEL TETL TET TETL TET TAL

Year ended 31 March 2018 HEZE-)\EF

ZR=t-BLEE

Revenue from external customers — RESMIE P 2 40,791 51 56,502 6,641 1,680 - 105,665
Segment profitf(loss) HEEH/ (BB 1,157 (2,525) 206 (1,235) 610 7,690 5,903
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH 1 709 - - 1,000 - 1,10
Allowance for obsolete inventories {8577 & /& - 2,190 - - - - 2,190

As at 31 March 2018 R=B-NFZB=1-H
Segment assets NHEE 14,59 9,364 1,975 7,439 18,753 21,344 13411
Segment liabilites PHERE 4331 57,998 94 3,816 108 - 66307

Household

Metals ~ Beverages  products  Nephrite Charter  Securities Total
£ g8 RAER e HE #5 a3t

HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAn  TAn TAn  TEn  TEx  TER  TER

Year ended 31 March 2017 HEZ-ZE-+&

ZAZT-BLEE

Revenue from external customers KBS IR P 7 i 26,140 1911 39,907 15,761 1,011 - 84,730
Segment profit AR 1,671 363 327 287 1,175 1476 5,299
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 330 1,01 - - 251 - 1,652
Allowance for doubtful debts FERE - - - 6,985 - - 6,985
Allowance for obsolete inventories  iBE 7 S & & - - - 3212 - - 3212
Additions to segment RENBENDEE

non-current assets 8 7913 - - 15,046 - 23,037
As at 31 March 2017 R=B-tF=A=t-H
Segment assets PYEE 13,555 18,540 3,095 4,661 14,795 29,239 83,885
Segment liabilities AHaE 10,865 62,082 - 30 108 - 73,085
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iR e B SRR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018

=

8.

EE - N\F=A=F—AUFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8.

Reconciliations of reportable segment profit

or loss, assets and liabilities:

DEHER (B

TR HENREE - BEREB2HER

2018 2017
—E-N\E —ZT—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Profit or loss BERHER
Reportable segment profit before taxation A BRI B0 2 B A A A 5,903 5,299
Other income E g A 129 19
Other (losses)/gains Hit (B518),Mezs (3,952) 88,446
Finance costs BT RA (54,398) (50,580)
Administrative expenses THRAX (25,720) (37,381)
Consolidated (loss)/profit before taxation RABRBA (BEB),/EF (78,038) 5,803
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AR EEE 73,471 83,885
Investment properties RENE 22,674 28,406
Unallocated corporate assets APBARIEE 26,066 25,844
Consolidated total assets HEBEMEE 122,211 138,135
Liabilities =R
Reportable segment liabilities AEBYEEE 66,307 73,085
Current tax liabilities FVEIRIIE B & 848 368
Deferred tax liabilities ELRBEARG 2,637 4,461
Bank and other borrowings RITREAMBR 113,558 102,868
Promissory notes EHER 27,737 24,478
Convertible bonds AikES 293,313 256,774
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOERAIBE 27,842 24,878
Consolidated total liabilities ReaERRE 532,242 486,912
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e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. ZoHERE
Geographical information: HEEHR :
The Group’s revenue from external customers by REEREEMEE S RBINER P 2 Wes 3%
location of operations and information about its BEMETMEIDIERBEEER (TRERERRZ
non- current assets (excluding interests in associates AR ESMEE) ZFFIBIT ¢

and available-for-sale financial assets) by location of
assets are detailed below:

Revenue Non-current assets
e 2 FRBEE
2018 2017 2018 2017

=E-N\F T tF ZB-\F —FtF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHR  THT  FmRE TR

Hong Kong BB 82,894 61,196 22,482 23,851
PRC except Hong Kong R (FBEBKRIN 3,389 21,539 32,826 35,942
Singapore AN - 105 - 1,513
Others H At 19,382 1,890 - 1,471
Consolidated total iR A st 105,665 84,730 55,308 62,777
Revenue from major customers: REFEEZEF UG :
The following is an analysis of revenue from BAREEAREIERB0%EEIZ BE 2 W DT
customers contributing over 10% of total revenue FONNE

of the Group:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TBTT
Household products: FAEM
Customer A BEA 56,502 38,654
Metals: 28
Customer B =FB 12,449 -
Revenue derived from Customer B did not KEEFBr W EAERHRE T —+F =4
contribute over 10% of revenue of the Group =+—HIEFEEZWETEB10% ©

during the year ended 31 March 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e B SRR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEr—E—\F=ZA=+—HIFE

9. TURNOVER AND REVENUE

The Group's turnover and revenue for the year are

as follows:

9. EXFRWm
AEBFRZ EEBERKEDT

2018 2017

—E2-N\F —T—tF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Sales of beverages 56 gk 51 2,434

Sales of metals HETB 40,791 26,140

Charter income from vessel o RS AR U A 1,680 1,011

Sales of household products HEXAEM 56,502 39,907

Sales of nephrite HEE T 6,641 15,238

Revenue Wz 105,665 84,730

Proceeds from sale of listed securities HE FHESERIE 16,638 62,913

Turnover EER 122,303 147,643
10. OTHER INCOME 10. Hfiug A

2018 2017

—E-N\F —tF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Bank interest income IRITH BUA 19 19

Sundry income Hab g A 110 -

129 19
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e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018
2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

11. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

11. HtlhaRZ R EE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THET
Gain on redemption of convertible BEEARRESFEE NS
bonds liabilities - 13,752
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets BRBREANTEFEZEREE
at fair value through profit or loss NEEKRZ(B1B) 12,502 (3.869)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of financial assets HEFBEZEATEFEZER
at fair value through profit or loss Bz (BE) /W (4,805) 5,916
Loss on deconsolidated subsidiaries BIERAE AR ZMB AR 2 BB = (6,151)
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment properties % & ¥ % 7 N FE (B18R),/ s (8,320) 10,998
Interest income arising from litigation FAAEEE 2 FEWA 2,682 -
Reversal of allowance for trade Bl E 2 R EMEUGRIERE
and other receivables - 77,520
Loss on disposal on property, HEWME  BERZHEEE
plant and equipment - (2,816)
Allowance for trade and other receivables REEBE - (6,985)
Allowance for obsolete inventories BEFERE (2,190) (3,212)
Impairment of available for sale AEHESREERE
financial assets — (5,026)
Impairment loss on intangible assets BREEREERE = (313)
Others Hith 1,686 482
1,555 80,296

B
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iR e B SRR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018
2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

12. FINANCE COSTS 12. BB ALA
2018 2017
—B-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T T
Finance lease charges MEMREMK = 70
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts RITERREZFIE 31 1,224
Interest on other borrowings &R B 5,578 4,283
Interest on convertible bonds AR EHFE 44,338 41,702
Interest on corporate bonds RNEMEHFE 1,193 1,012
Interest on promissory note e E=8iE-T | PN 3,258 2,289
54,398 50,580
13. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) 13. FiSBiESR (BX)
Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss as ERERERZAEHEIINT
following:
2018 2017
—B-N\E —FtF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiET
Current tax — Overseas BT IE — G 5
Provision for the year F R (134) (368)
Deferred tax BT IE 2,080 (2,749)
1,946 (3,117)
Entities incorporated in other countries are subject REMBEIRAMK T 2B RIBZEBKEME

to income tax rates of 16.5% to 30% (2017:
16.5% to 30%) prevailing in the countries in which

such entities operate, based on existing legislation,

interpretation and practices in respect thereof.
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e B ISR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEr—E—\F=A=+—HIFE

13. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) 13. Fi8%iig% (B%) (&)

(continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax credit/ TERIES, (X)) BBRTEHRAT (BE), J5H Ik
(expense) and (loss)/profit before income tax LX£?Q’&T?JD$E$¢’J?R 7 IREZHER - RnEF
multiplied by the weighted average tax rate of the AMEBERBE 2 M2 HROT

consolidated companies and a reconciliation of the
weighted average rate to the effective tax rate, are

as follows:
2018 2017
—2-N\% il S
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
TET FET
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETEH AT (E1E),/
patl (78,038) 5,803

Tax at the weighted average BINEF R X

tax rate HEZFIE (10,469) (13) 1,114 19
Tax effect of income that is BARHUWAZ

not taxable BT (2,240) (3) (13,359) (230)
Tax effect of expenses that TERERS Z

are not deductible BssE 4,160 5 2,239 39
Tax effect of temporary AEREGHEEY

differences not recognised BMsEE (3,851) (5) 7,949 137
Tax effect of utilisation of t B LRI ARBRTIE

ax losses not previously BRI EBEE

recognised - - 1,052 18
Tax effect of tax losses not RERBEREE

recognised TG E 10,454 (13) 4,122 71
Income tax (credit)/expense at % §W$R+u+§2

effective tax rate Frisfise, /(M%) (1,946) (3) 3,117 54
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iR e B SRR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

14. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 14. FR(FR), EF
The Group's (loss)/profit for the year is stated after REBFR (BB, T FEnk /Gt A) To&E
charging/(crediting) the following: BIIER
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Depreciation e 1,710 2,016
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment WEWMEZ ANFE
properties &8 () 8,320 (10,998)
Operating lease charges in AT REFZ
respect of land and buildings AR 867 2,354
Auditor’s remuneration ZE R B 450 450
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERA 99,917 68,617
15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 15. EEEAIMEX
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FETT
Employee benefits expense EERMAX
(Excluding directors’ emoluments): (TRREEENS) :
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e AR 4,281 5,622
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREAET 2 172 1,045
4,453 6,667
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e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (continued) 15. EEEFIBE X (&)

The five highest paid individuals in the Group FAREERUERFATEERE (ZE—tF
during the year included 2 (2017: one) directors —R)EZ - HMERMEMT16FT5 .2 5HTA © 87
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis T=%(ZF—+F &) AL ZEEEHNT :

presented in note 16. The emoluments of the
remaining 3 individuals (2017: four) are set out

below:
2018 2017
—E-N\F S
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T
Salaries, bonus and allowances e TEALROERRM 1,524 2,060
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R iE FIET 2| 30 50 63
1,574 2,123
The emoluments fell within the following bands: NFTINHEEA S
2018 2017
—E-N\F§ —E—tF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE A
Nil - HK$ 1,000,000 T Z1,000,0003 7T 3 4
HK$1,000,001 - HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7t £1,500,0007% 7T - -
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £2,000,00078 7T = -
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017% 7L 22,500,000/ 7T = -
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the FA - AEEBERTNESIESEHA TN
Group to any of the directors or the highest paid SIEAEIMASE INARNEBR 2 S2E) kBB E
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining ZE—EFE) o

the Group or as compensation for loss of office
(2017: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e B SRR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 16. EEEARFIZH

DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ emoluments () E=E=f&
The emoluments of each director for the year BEEREZE_T—\F=-A=+—HLFE
ended 31 March 2018 were as follows: ZBEmT
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
HEAEE (FRAAARIENELR)
ESRBCHIELCME
Salaries, Share based Retirement
bonusand Accommodation  payments for benefits scheme
Directors' fee allowances benefit employees  contributions Total
mE&fkH
A NRHARR BIAEA
gzHe ¥4 EREA PAES it AR it
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$'000
TET TET TER TET TER TER
Executive Directors ez
M. Yip Man Yi L e - 576 - - 18 594
r. Shiu Chi Tak, Titus ey i - 360 - - 18 mn
Non-executive directors FnES
M. Leng Tongwe e ) AR (i) 3 - - - - B
M. Wong Chiian (ot ) £k () U : i i ; 3

Independent Non-executive Directors BYFH78%

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence BEREL 180 - - - - 180
I, Li Kwok Chu FEEEE 120 - - - - 120
M. Lau Shu Yan HiAzk 120 - - - = 120
Total for 2018 ZE-\E8 an 936 - - 3 1,449
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e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018
2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

16. BENEFITS AND
DIRECTORS (continued)

INTERESTS OF

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

The emoluments of each director for the year
ended 31 March 2017 were as follows:

16.

ESEARAE @)

(@) E=ME®)

BEENHE_T—+F=A=1+—RHILFE
ZMEmT

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsiciary undertaking
REARE(FRRALTASANELR)

ESHBEAIRN HE
Salaries, Share based ~ Retirement
bonus and  Accommodation  payments for  benefits scheme
Directors' fee ~ allowances benefit ~ employees  contributions Total
mESfEL
Fo 70 WRiTRER  REEN
g50e R2k GEEN PACE S i @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TET TER TAT TEx TER TAx
Executive Directors Hi7Es
Ms. Yip Man Yi Efent - 502 - - 18 610
Wr Shiu Chi Tak, Titus Pkt - 365 - - 17 38
r. Cheung Hung Man (Note (i) RIS (P G) - 52 - - 3 55
Non-executive directors F4rEE
M Liang Tongwei Note () 2RREE ) 120 - - - - 120
r. Wong Chi Man (Note () EENAE () 180 - - - - 180
Independent Non-executive Directors BiFH{TEE
Mr. Chu Hung Lin, Victor (Note (il) %75 564 (3Hiii) 38 - - - _ 38
M. Tong Wan Sze (Note (i) FESE (H3E0) 39 - - . . 39
Mr. Fung Kok Leung (Note (1) BEIR %4 (5t 3 - - - - 39
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence BERBL 180 - - - - 180
Wr. Li Kok Chu FEf R 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Lau Shu Yan ARk 120 - - - - 120
Total for 2017 ZE-LEAR 836 1,009 - - B 1883

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid
to or for the executive directors are generally
emoluments paid or receivable in respect of
those persons’ other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

SN TFRAEE He  RRENBE AR
A+ BBERANT REKBATEE 2 E0RE
Bl B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e B SRR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018

=

16. BENEFITS AND

—NF=ZHA=1—HIFFE

INTERESTS OF

DIRECTORS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

i) Retired on 8 June 2017
i)  Removed on 23 May 2016
i) Retired on 26 July 2016
iv) Resigned on 27 July 2016

Notes:

There was no arrangement under which a
director of the Company waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the year (2017:
Nil).

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, no
significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group's business
to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company and the
director’'s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

17. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of
any dividend (2017: Nil).
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16. EERANENE &)

(a)

(b)

17. BRE
EETEARNEARE (ZT—tF: &

E=ME ()
M et

) RZZE—tFRNANBRME

) RZE—AR"FREA-T=-B2E
i) RZE—X"FELtA-+HEME
v) RZE—R"F+LA-++tHEIT

FAMBEARREZTHRLAABTRETMAHS
ZRF(ZFE—LF  8|) -

EERRS  ZEREHN2ERER

BRINERE MR A EM A D AREESN - A
RAEEREEZHETRENFRIFAML
AE EDAFBAR R BERRI K77 B EAS
BEBERIEARS RERENTHER
EARE B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B BRI M AL

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEr—E—\F=A=+—HIFE

18. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 18. B (F#8) BA

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/ MREAR RS (B18) BFIRATARAE
earnings per share is based on the following:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—LF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET &
(Loss)/profit (&18),H=A
(Loss)/profit for the purpose of REsTEERELRK
calculating basic and diluted e (58 Bz
(loss)/earnings per share (B8], = (76,092) 2,686
2018 2017
—E-N\F —TtF
‘000 ‘000
Number of shares B4 E T B + i%
Weighted average number of RETEFRERK
ordinary shares for the purpose of s (58 Bz
calculating basic and diluted T BRI T
(loss)/earnings per share 3,415,198 2,892,062
The computation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share SiE (BR) BNz BIARERRBAAR
does not assume the conversion of the Company’s REZABEAREES - RERBRSITEAAE
outstanding convertible bonds since their assumed HHHBER (BR),BNAM D), B0

exercise would result in an (a decrease)/increase in
in (loss)/earnings per share.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PN

SRl e

For the year ended 31 March 2018
F-N\F=HA=1—HIFEF

2=

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

19. W% BMERRE

Leasehold Furniture Office Motor  Leasehold
building Vessel ~ Machinery ~ and fixtures  equipment vehicles ~ improvement Total
BERT i BE GAREE BOERE AE EENERS a3t
HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TiET AT TET TAT TET AT TET ThT
Cost or valuation BAGHRE
At 1 April 2016 RZF-7ERA-A 35,048 - 37 1,849 2,501 319 3576 46,406
Additions hE - - - 205 1,630 2,99 3157 7,986
Surrender of leasehold A ERE)
property (note 36(1)) (35,048) - - - - - - (35,048)
Acquisition of  subsidiary YE-AHERA - - - - 5 - - 5
Acquistion of vesse W - 15,046 - - - - - 15,046
Wrtten-off of property, plantand ~~ H#9E - BERFE
equipment - - - (39 (441) (399) - (879)
Deconsolidation of subsiciares MEATLLGE R - - - (22 (156) - (584) 962)
Bichange differences EREE - - 3 7 0 (168) (179) (341)
At 31 March 2017 RZE-+FZf=1-f - 15,046 U0 1,804 3535 5622 5970 32217
At 1 April 2017 RZE-+EmA-A - 15,046 P 1,804 3535 5,622 5970 1
Wiitten-off of property, plantand ~~ ##11% - BERAE
equipment - - (240) (1,153) (1383) (346) (970) (4.092)
Bxchange differences ERZE - - - 7 189 504 546 1,266
At 31 March 2018 R-F-/\E=A=1-H - 15,046 - 678 L34 5780 5546 29391
Accumulated Depreciation ZHHFE
At 1 April 2016 RZF-EEA-R - - 178 1,756 1,99 1,674 2,398 8,000
Charge forthe year ERER - 51 14 o5 91 30 825 2016
Witten-off of property, plantand ~~ H#NE - BERGE
equipment - - - (35 (441) (399) - (875)
Deconsolidation of subsidaries HEARA AR - - - (216) (149) - (584) (949)
Bichange differences ERZE - - 2 5 4 ] (141) (209)
At 31 March 2017 R-E-t¥=f=1-8 B 251 194 1,785 1,691 1,564 2498 7983
At 1 April 2017 RZE-+EEA-A - 251 194 1,785 1,691 1,564 2,498 7,983
Charge for the year ERER - 1,000 - 10 2% 430 2d 1710
Written-off of property, plantand  #ENF - BERRE
equipment - - (194) (1.107) (1,051) (147) (421) (2.920)
Exchange differences ERZE - - - 47) 15 59 % 121
At 31 March 2018 RZE-)\E=f=1-8 - 1,251 - 641 681 1,906 2415 6,894
Carrying amount BEE
At 31 March 2018 RZE-NEZR=1-H - 13,795 - 37 1,660 3874 313 2497
At 31 March 2017 RZE-t¥=f=1-8 - 14,795 46 19 1,844 4,058 3412 24,234
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 20. BEYEHE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T TABIT
At 1 April AU A—H 28,406 18,836
Fair value (loss)/gain NEE(EE), WS (8,320) 10,997
Exchange differences SNFE Z %R 2,588 (1,427)
At 31 March m=A=+—H 22,674 28,406

The Group’s investment properties are situated
in the PRC and are held under long term leases.
The investment properties were revalued on 31
March 2017 and 2018 by EFIREFE EF G+ i
EHEFEBMRAR], an independent professional
qualified valuer, on direct comparison of price of
properties with similar size, character and location
(level 3 measurement). The key input used is the
price per square meter. The investment properties
were pledged as security for the Group’s bank loans
amounted to approximately HK$12,218,000 (2017:
HK$11,101,000)

The Group's investment properties are held for
rental purpose.

REBZIEYHEMNPRWIZRPELOFTE - %
BMER T —tFRZTE-\F=ZA=+—HH
BUEHEEERGEMEMBREEETGHLTHE
MEMHERAFTBAEELIBRAGEURE &
BRMEL 2 MEBR (FE=METE) M FIAER - 7
RZEEHABBRETIRERL REWESET
I (EAARNEEL12,218,00088 0 (T —+F
11,101,000/ 7T) HRITEF 2 i o

AEBZREMETIHBERNITA -

ETCEZRARALDT 201718 F F iR

159



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e B SRR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

21. GOODWILL 21. &
Trading of
Steel Wires
BEEMAR
HK$'000
T
Cost: AN :
At 31 March 2017, and RZE—+F=A=+—HRK
31 March 2018 —ZE-N\F=ZA=+—H 10,137
Accumulated impairment: 2:RE
At 31 March 2017, and RZE—+tF=A=+—H0K
31 March 2018 —E-NF=ZR=+—H -
Net carrying value: R FE
At 31 March 2018 and R-ZE-NF=A=+—-HK
31 March 2017 —E—tH=A=1+—H 10,137
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is EBAMEREERRERSEZERETEN
allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating ZEBEHZBEeEABN((ReELSM]) - B
units (“CGUs") that are expected to benefit from BEEEIRNAT
that business combination. The carrying amount of
goodwill had been allocated as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK’000 HK’000
FE T T
Trading of steel wires: BEEMZ
- FuHang =] 10,137 10,137
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

21. GOODWILL (continued) 21. BE %)

Notes: 3T -

(@  The goodwill which related to the trading of steel () HEBMSEAL BN _Z—NFRENBELQF
wires resulted from acquisition of subsidiaries in EE - FERKFE34EE ((HRREEEEM]) -
2016, details are disclosed in note 34 (“Steel wires
cGu”).

The recoverable amounts of the steel wires CGUs
are determined on the basis of their value in use
calculations. The recoverable amount of the Steel
wires CGU of goodwill is determined taking into
account the valuation performed by independent
professional external valuers not connected to the
Group, based on the cash flow forecast derived from
the most recent financial budgets approved by the
management covering a 5-year period in accordance
with the expected cash inflows generating period,
and at a discount rate of 16.0% (2017: 16.7%)

MR eEEBM 2 TRESERELEHBEE
HEREE - GRS ELEM 2RISR
R BN SR (B A R 2 B S B MR A (B A 1T
ZfHME - RMRE R ERIFERR S RAE SR
HAERENFHRZOIRMBHRESEZEER
SR LABF16.0% (ZZ—+F : 16.7%) Z /b
RRETF - EREEAEZHEMIERRAETK
B REEEMNE  BREBERRE BTEEHTS
BRLATSBE 2 EHMEE - BEERR - M
WeREMKBE T ERRZEMAIBAEEEHHTE
EYEEERBEA @RS -

per annum. Other key assumptions for the value
in use calculations are the budgeted revenue and
budgeted gross margin, which are determined based
on past performance, management’s expectations
for the market development and market trend. The
management believes that any reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the
carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

22. INVENTORIES 22. 78
2018 2017
—E—)N\F T+
HK$'000 HK$000
FE T FAETT
Finished goods  Th 4,864 18,332
Allowance for obsolete inventories BT ERE (2,190) (14,670)
2,674 3,662
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e B SRR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2018
2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

=

23.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23. EZRHEHMEWFE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FETT

Trade receivables B 5 WFIE 13,945 17,332
Rental and other deposits HekEtze 1,797 993
Prepayments and other receivables A R IR B E At R U R IR 24,287 21,763
40,029 40,088

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T FE T

Trade receivables g 5 rW B 13,945 124,494
Allowance for trade receivables B 5 MW GRIR B - (107,162)
13,945 17,332

The Group maintains a defined credit policy for its
trade customers and the credit terms given vary
according to the business activities. The financial
strength of and the length of business relationship
with the customers, on an individual basis, are
considered in arriving at the respective credit terms.
The credit terms generally range from 1 to 180 days
(2017: 1 to 180 days). The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARa SRR MI

For the year ended 31 March 2018
2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23.

(continued)

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based

BEZREMEWREE)

TN BmREE AR RER  BHREEEZ

on the invoice date, and net of allowance, is as BRER DA -
follows:

2018 2017
—E—N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FBT
0 to 90 days 0£90K 7,694 8,916
91 to 180 days 91K E180K 2,420 7,152
Over 180 days HE180K 3,831 1,264
13,945 17,332

During the year, impairment allowance of

trade receivables has provide by the Company

with amount of approximately HK$Nil (2017:

HK$37,657,000).

As at 31 March 2018, an aggregate allowance was

made for estimated irrecoverable trade receivables
of approximately HK$Nil (2017: HK$107,162,000).

FER - ARRETHRE ZSERTBREREABENT
BT (ZZT—+4 : 37,657,000 7C) °

RZB—-N\EFE=A=+—08 CathstrakEe
SEWZIBRBEBERENESET(ZE—+F
107,162,000/ 7T) °

Reconciliation of allowance for doubtful debts: RIEEHE 2 HR

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

At 1 April R A—H 107,162 100,185

Allowance for the year FREE - 6,985
Written off 1 84 (107,162) -
Exchange differences MEH Z R = (8)

At 31 March mN=A=+—H - 107,162
ETEERERADT201718F F i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e B SRR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2018
2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

=

23.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. B5 R HMEWIE &)
(continued)
As at 31 March 2018, trade receivables RZE-—NF=ZA=1+—H - EH5EUFEY
of approximately HK$3,831,000 (2017: 3,831,000/ 7T (ZZ —+t 4 : 1,264,000/ 7 ) @1 HA1R
HK$1,264,000) were past due but not impaired. TELHRERE R \F=ZA=+—HZ2&%
The balance as at 31 March 2018 relates to a MRV EENCR I BYIRFER %58
number of independent customers for whom there SEWGRIB 2 R AT T
is no recent history of default. The aging analysis of
these trade receivables is as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET AT
Up to 3 months 3 A LA = 3,831 1,264
3,831 1,264

Included in other receivables, there were in
total approximately HK$23,758,000 (2017:
HK$21,076,000) related to (i) funds transfer to
Kesterion Investment Limited, a former substantial
shareholder of the Company; and (i) paid to Koh
Tat Lee, a former director of the Company and
two independent third parties namely Yao Jun and
Yew Eng Piow. In the opinion of the directors, the
other receivables were misused of Company funds
from disposal of leasehold property during the year
ended 31 March 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2018
2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

=

24,

25.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

24,

ERESRBEAVEIEZEHEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FAT
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, MREE T ZERE S
at fair value LA TEEE 21,344 29,239
The equity investments listed on the Stock Exchange REERFT EH 2 R RERFEEE - BRKRENR

are held-for-trading that offer the Group the
opportunity for return through dividend income
and fair value gains. They have no fixed maturity
or coupon rate. The fair value of listed equity
investments are based on current bid prices.

During the year, the Group disposed of its equity
investments amounted to HK$21,376,000 (2017:
HK$95,372,000) and a loss of HK$4,805,000
(2017: a gain of HK$5,916,000) was recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

RESTRICTED BANK BALANCE AND
BANK AND CASH BALANCES

Bank and cash balances are denominated in the
following currencies:

25.

ARRFHERSRARERRLHRES - o E
B EBETHHEXEEEER - LHREEREZA
FERERARZESE -

RAFE  AEBHEHERIEE B221,376,00078
JT (T ZF—+4F : 95,372,000/ 7T) * B E5184,805,000
BIL(ZE— % U755,916,0008 70) RERE BT 75

ZREBITERURBRITRASEER

RITRIRBHERATHIEMEGHE -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

HK$ AT 2,658 1,691
RMB (note) AR () 77 191
usD$ e - 380
SGD$ ¥rong o 121 105
Others Hih - 2
2,856 2,369

Note: Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject
to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

MisE : BARBLBRBINEREF(hEARLME SN

BEE B IR R ) R KASEE - BIE RN EEIRRE) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e B SRR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018
2o FE - N\F=A=F—HIFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. EZRHEMENTIE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T T T
Trade payables S ENFRIA 37,805 37,200
Accruals and other payables JE &3R8 I H Ath FE S 5B 34,344 39,957
72,149 77,157

The aging analysis of the trade payables, based on
the invoice date, is as follows:

BHRNFIRRERZAYHAE ZREDNAT -

2018 2017

—E—)N\F —E—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

T8 T T

0 to 90 days 0Z90X 1,338 -
91 to 180 days 91E180k 1,621 -
Over 180 days @180k 34,846 37,200
37,805 37,200

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2017/18



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018
2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

27. RITREAMBER

2018 2017
—E-N\f§ Tt
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FET
Bank loans RITER 12,306 11,689
Bank overdrafts RITEX - 60
Loan from independent third parties KEBAE=HZER 101,252 91,119
113,558 102,868
The borrowings are repayable as follows: EREZEBRAT :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within one year R—FR 113,558 13,342
More than one year, —F L BT BIEmRF
but not exceeding two years - 588
More than two years MF LA - 88,938
113,558 102,868
Less: Amount due for settlement B RNR2BEARNETEEZ
within 12 months (shown FIE G BREEE)
under current liabilities) (113,558) (13,342)
Amount due for settlement RIREARETEE 2 FIAE
after 12 months - 89,526

ETCEZRARALDT 201718 F F iR



168

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e B SRR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018

EE - N\F=A=F—AUFE

27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 27. fRfTREMEK &)

(continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings

are denominated in the following currencies:

REBRERZEEEATIEEE -

Hong Kong Singapore
dollars dollars  Renminbi Total
BT ¥ 03 T AR® st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAIT FAIT T T T
2018 —E-N\5F

Bank overdrafts RITBEX = - - _
Bank loans RITER 88 - 12,218 12,306

Loan from independent KEBIE=ZF
third parties ZE®R 101,252 - - 101,252
101,340 - 12,218 113,558

2017 —E—+F

Bank overdrafts RITHEXZ - 60 - 60
Bank loans RITER 588 - 11,101 11,689

Loan from independent REBILE=T
third parties ZEX 91,119 - - 91,119
91,707 60 11,101 102,868

The average interest rate at 31 March were as R=ZAR=1+—B2ZFHRELT :
follows:

2018 2017
—E—)N\F —E—+F
Bank loans IRITER 6.6% 6.6%
Bank overdrafts RITEX Prime rate Prime rate
BEERZE HEBRNE
+0.5% +0.5%
Loan from independent third parties KEBILE=ZHAZ2ER 1.5%-5% 1.5%-5%
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=

27.

28.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)

Bank loans and bank overdrafts are arranged at
floating rates and expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. Other borrowings are arranged at
fixed interest rates, thus exposing the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk.

At 31 March 2018, bank loans of HK$12,218,000
(2017: HK$11,101,000) are secured by a charge
over the Group’s investment properties (note
21) amounted to approximately HK$22,674,000
(2017: HK$28,406,000) as at year end date and
guaranteed by the director of the Company and an
individual company.

The loans from independent third parties of
approximately HK$101,252,000 as at 31 March
2018 were unsecured and repayable on demand.

As at 31 March 2018, including in the loan from
independent third parties, there was approximately
HK$93,045,000 which related to the claim under
the Writs regarding to the assignment between
Kesterion Investments Limited (”Kesterion”) and
CAAL Capital Company Limited (“CAAL"). For
details, please refer to the “Litigation” section
under “Management Discussion and Analysis”.

At 31 March 2018, the Group had available
undrawn borrowing facilities of HK$Nil (2017:
HK$1,000,000).

27.

MITREMER &)

RITERRBITEIRF BN RETRY - LER
SEEBRREREN RE R o E M HEFRIEE E R X
EITZEE A AREmEBRRESRENRER -

RZZE—NF=ZA=+—8 " A%12,218,000% T
—ZT—+ 411,101,000 7T) ZRITEZTHIA
N EE B F 45 B #922,674,0008 7T (Z T —+ £ -
28,406,000/ 70 ) 2 & & W (FIzE21) fEHR IR R AR
NEIEFHE—BEAARTIREER -

R-E-N\F=ZA=+—H KEBIFE=HZE
HARERAI01,252,000/8 70 SEER MR EREE -

RZZE—\FZA=1+—H BYE=HFERBIEY
93,045,000/ 7T 22 A EiKesterion Investments Limited
([ Kesterion ]) BACAAL Capital Company Limited
([CAALD 2 HIEZEMZESMK THRRER - BH
15 B2 EREENm AT R EFFAl—& -

RZZE—N\F=A=1+—H KNEFLETFHHH
RIERUERRLE (ZZ—+ 4% : 1,000,000/ 7T) °

CONVERTIBLE BONDS 28. IRREF
Note 2018 2017
M5 —E-NF —E—+F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
F&T FAET
(Restarted)
(&E75))
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Liability component of AMkES 2 BESD
Convertible bonds issued on RZE—RF

12 May 2015 AA+ BT (a) 293,313 256,774
293,313 256,774
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28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(a) Convertible bonds issued on 12 May

2015

On 22 September 2014, the Company and
Kesterion entered into a bond restructuring
agreement, which was amended by a
supplementary agreement on 1 November
2014 (collectively referred to as the “Bond
Restructuring Agreements”). Pursuant to
the Bond Restructuring Agreements, the
Company and Kesterion conditionally agreed

that:

(i)  the terms of convertible bonds issued
on 18 December 2008 (the “Old
CB"”) would be amended to grant the
Company a right to redeem all the
outstanding Old CB at a redemption
price of USD140,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,092,000,000);

(i) the Company would exercise such

redemption right; and

(i) in satisfaction and cancellation of
the redemption amount payable
under the amended Old CB following
such redemption, the Company will
issue the new bonds (the “New
CB"”) to Kesterion. The New CB is a
five-year 2.0% convertible bonds in
principal amount of USD140,000,000.
The coupon is payable in arrear
semi-annually from the issue date.

The holder of the New CB has the right to
convert the New CB into the ordinary shares
of the Company at a fixed conversion price
of HK$0.5 per share, subject to any anti-
dilution adjustments, at any time before the
maturity date. During the year ended 31
March 2017, the conversion price of the New
CB was adjusted to HK$1.73 per share upon
the completion of the share consolidation and

rights issue.
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28. MEARES &)

(a)

R-ZB-AEFHEAT+T-HERTZUTRRE
%
R-ZTE—MWFAA-_+-H ARQRAHE
Kesterionz| (ZEH EM ez (KT —UF+—
R—Bz®xmHRER]) (BEAIESFEAD
#]) o IRIBESEMEWZE - A2 7 KKesterion
ERMRE

() {EFTRZZEENF+A+N\BETZH
BIRES (B RRES]) 2 GERAR
F R B3R HE [ {8140,000,0003 7T (18
Z1A#71,092,000,00058 7T) & B 1A A 5,
BREBS R

(i) ARBBITEABELRE: &

(i) BEAEREBERLCE 2 EEHEN KT
SHFERHIERI £ 581% - KA Bl [AKesterion
BirER (FEER)) - #EFAEEAS
#4140,000,000% 7T 2 1 £F Bi2.0% AT 2%
E5 EBARTEHHRETELEFHRRY
e

HMESFTE ABRUER0.58 T 2 Bl L RE
REIE B AT ERRRELRFES AR R RIEE
I HERDETEMREEAR - BE T+
FZA=ZT—HIFE - REXBRMDE G Rt
ik - EHFZ A BRERBRERITIET -
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28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)
(@) Convertible bonds issued on 12 May

2015 (continued)

The Company shall have the right, at its
options, to redeem any portion of or the
entire outstanding principal amount of all of
the New CB at 110% of the principal amount
at any time before the maturity date.

On maturity date, the New Bonds will be
redeemed at par, using a fixed exchange rate
of USD1: HK$7.8.

On 12 May 2015, all the condition precedents
to the Bond Restructuring Agreement had
been fulfilled. Accordingly the Company has
fully redeemed the Old CB and issued the
New CB in accordance with the terms of the
Bond Restructuring Agreement.

The fair value of the New Bonds at the issue
date has been split between the liability
component, the derivative component and
the equity component as follows:

28. MEARES &)
() R=ZE—HFHEA+TZHRTZIERKRE

2 (#)

RABEREERE BB A ERREIA110%
ZAZRBEEMABHES 2 EMEOREEZ
REEATH -

REIBAE - HEHFEABEERIETHTSE
TUIRMEE T AREE -

RZT—RAFRAAT=H  BHFEABEZM
BIRRGIHEEK - Bl NRRIEREES
ERBEZ ERBRBREESLHTHES

RETR  FEFZAFEI RS TIIEERS
D OTET A D RSB -

HK$'000

T

Liability component at issue date RETAZABBHD 557,330
Derivative component PTETAESS -
Equity component at issue date RETAZERT D 396,028
Fair value of the New CB at issue date Az Es R E 953,358
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28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(a) Convertible bonds issued on 12 May
2015 (continued)

The movements of liability component and
principal amount of the New CB for the

28. AEARES (&)

(@ R=Z2-HFHA+T-HBITZTRRE

2 (#)

BHE T \EER-_Z—+F=A=+—H
IEFE  FEHFZ8ERS RASE 2 EE)I

year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 are as T~
follows:
Liability Principal
component amount
EERS rEH
HK$'000 HK$'000
T THETT
At 1 April 2016 R-ZE—AR"FWMA—H 361,145 624,000
Early redemption R (135,933) (234,000)
Coupon payment XNER (10,140) -
Imputed interest charged FRMR 2 HEEN S
for the year 41,702 -
At 31 March 2017 RZE—+F=A=+—H 256,774 390,000
Coupon payment TRNER (7,800) -
Imputed interest charged FRMR 2 HEENE
for the year 44,339 -
At 31 March 2018 RZE—-—N\F=A=+—H 293,313 390,000

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2017/18



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018
2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(a) Convertible bonds issued on 12 May

2015 (continued)

On 18 May 2016, the Company early
redeemed a portion of the New CB with
principal amount of USD30,000,000
(equivalent to HK$234,000,000) at a cash

consideration of HK$229,320,000.

At the date of redemption, the aggregate
carrying amount of the New CB with
principal amount of USD30,000,000 is
HK$220,796,000 of which approximately
HK$135,933,000 and HK$84,863,000
represented the carrying amounts of
liability component and equity component
respectively. The fair value of the liability
component of the New CB was approximately
HK$122,181,000. Accordingly, a gain on early
redemption of convertible bonds liabilities
of HK$13,752,000 was recognised in profit
or loss and as amount of approximately
HK$22,276,000 was recognised directly
in accumulated loss in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity.

The interest charged for the year is calculated
by applying an effective interest rate of
17.60% (2017: 17.60%) per annum to the

liability component.

The fair value of derivative component of the
New CB was insignificant at issue date, at 31

March 2017 and 31 March 2018.

28. AARES (#)

(a)

R-B-AFHEA+T-HABITZTRRE
% (#)

RZE-—RNFRATNR XRRRFEE
[ 56 5 2 & %8 £30,000,000% 7T (FHE R
234,000,000 7T) 2 #EH - BREREBAR
229,320,000 7T °

R EE [ B H - A4 %8 430,000,000 7T 2 7
& % BR T 42 {8 4220,796,000/8 7T * E 4
135,933,000/ 7T %2.84,863,000/8 T 2 Bl & f&
o kiERPBo ZREE - EFBESSZ
NFEX)A122,181,000/8 7T Bt - FeRFERE
AT AR E 5 B E 2 W 13,752,000 7T B 7 8
IRERR 0 M 4922,276,0008 L2 &5 AICD H
RN A E=EBRC BETERE -

FRWELZ T B EBE A ELH FREFE17.60
BzEBRHE(ZE—LF : 1760E):1E -

RZE—+F=A=+—BEk=_ZT—\F=H
=+—HB ¥FEFTAETERD 2 AFERLE
TEITEK -
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29. PROMISSORY NOTES 29. AHNEE

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—LF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
At 1 April KU A—H 24,478 -
Promissory notes issued BBITEARER = 22,189
Imputed interest expenses BB 3,259 2,289
27,737 24,478

Less: Amount due within one year B R —E AR E 2 FIE
shown under current liabilities (B BRIERBEE) = -
Non-current liabilities EmBEE 27,737 24,478

On 10 June 2016, the Company issued an
unsecured promissory note with principal value of
HK$8,500,000 for the acquisition of subsidiaries.
The promissory note carries 10% interest per
annum and fall due on 10 June 2019. The fair value
of the promissory note at the date of acquisition of
subsidiaries was approximately HK$7,144,000.

On 25 August 2016, the Company issued an
unsecured promissory note with principal value of
HK$19,000,000 for the acquisition of intangible
assets through acquisition of subsidiaries. The
promissory note carries 3% interest per annum
and fall due on 25 August 2018. The fair value of
the promissory note at the date of acquisition of
subsidiaries was approximately HK$15,046,000.
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RZE-—RFRATRH ARABTALER
8,500,00078 7T < A A X RIBAME B A7) -
AREBRZEFI0EFE  R_T-NFRATH
B AR RERRENBAR BRI ATFENR
7,144,000/ 7T, ©

RZE—R"FNAZ+ER KARETASES
19,000,000/ 7T 2 #8 $5 # 7k 5, ZE 48 DA S35 308 WAL A /BB
NRINBEREE - AARBREFIEHE - N
- N\EFENAZ+RHAIH - AL EERBEENSB
~alBHZ A F{EX 715,046,000 7T °
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30. CORPORATE BONDS 30. AHEIES
HK$'000
T
At 1 April 2016 RZZE—R"EMNA—A
Issue of bonds BIIES 19,794
Imputed interests expenses EE B RX 1,012
At 31 March 2017 RZZE—tF=HA=+—H 20,806
Imputed interests expenses HEEMNERX 1,194
At 31 March 2018 WZ_ZE-—N\EFE=A=+—H 22,000
The Company issued an unsecured corporate bonds AARERZZE—RAFE{TALE 530,000,000/ 7T
with principal value of HK$30,000,000 in 2015. The ZHEEMATES c ARESFIEEELIS%TE R
corporate bonds carry 4.5% interest per annum and TEC=FHE o BEMEA574% (ZE—+F -
fall due in 2023. The effective interest rate is 5.74% 5.74%) °

(2017: 5.74%).
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31.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 31. EEHREAR
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities INTARNERBR, X ZELEHEEE -
recognised by the Group.
Revaluation
of investment
properties
BEfRREYE
HK$'000
T
At 1 April 2016 RZE—X"FMA—A 2,253
Charge to profit or loss for the year (note 13) REANB=NGR (FFEE13) 2,749
Exchange differences ME W = (541)
At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 RZEBE—+t&=ZA=+—HRK
—E—tFMA—H 4,461
Charge to profit or loss for the year (note 13) RERNBZNER (BHFE13) (2,080)
Exchange differences MEH ZEHE 256
At 31 March 2018 RZE-NF=A=+—H 2,637

At the end of the reporting period the Group
has unused tax losses of HK$256,935,000 (2017:
HK$179,991,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax assets has been
recognised in respect of these tax losses due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
Included in the unrecognised tax losses are losses of
approximately HK$136,000 (2017: HK$1,134,000)
that will expire in three to five years from the year
such losses were incurred. Other tax losses can be
carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, there is no
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries (2017: Nil).
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RBERR AEESNABRZHEEBEAR
256,935,000 7T (ZZ —+4F : 179,991,000/ L) 7]
RARESEARIEF] o ARARREFMRTATER - 80
EHZEVEBBRREERIEEE - SRELE
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32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. R
Authorised Issued and fully paid
EE BRARAR
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
g ] 8 RH#E 8
HK$' 000 HK$'000
TETL AT
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each RZZ-"FNA-A
at 1 April 2016 SRAE0IE Tz ERR 250,000,000,000 2,500,000 2,529,776,120 25,298
Consolidation of shares (note (a)) B a6 (P zEa) (218,750,000,000) - (2,213,554,105) -
Issue of rights shares (note (b)) BITRRRD (F b)) - - 2,529,776,120 202,382
Placing of shares (note (¢) RARE (W) - - 569,199,627 45,536
Ordinary share of HK$0.08 each R-E—+tF=A=+-8H:
at 31 March 2017, 1 April 2017 ZE—+E@A-BR
and 31 March 2018 Z2-\fZR=1-H
BREE8ET BAR 31,250,000,000 2,500,000 3,415,197,762 273216

Notes:

(@  Consolidation of every eight shares issued and
unissued into one consolidated share on 11 April
2016 pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed in
the extraordinary general meeting held on 8 April
2016.

(b)  Allotment and issue of new shares on 18 May
2016 by way of rights issue on the basis of eight
rights shares for every one consolidated share at
subscription price of HK$0.112 per share pursuant
to the ordinary resolution passed in the extraordinary
general meeting held on 8 April 2016.

(¢ On 12 August 2016, the Company issued
569,199,627 new ordinary shares under general
mandate pursuant to placing agreement dated
28 July 2016 at subscription price of HK$0.08 per
share for a total cash consideration of approximately
HK$45,536,000.

GEE

(@) WER-Z—RNFOANBRITZERERAEH
BRZERARE R_E—R"FOA+—A -
NEBETRARETRNEH R —BAHBD -

(b) RER-Z—RNFOANBRTZERERAEH
BRZEBAZR R-ZE—R"EFRATNE KA
HRE R B 6 N\ R AR % — A 6
EERHRNRBITHRD - RBE/ER0.112ET -

(0 R-ZE—XRNENA+-H ARQRABREAGHA-FT
—A~NFEtAZTNBZEER®H s —REELRRE
B 5 %0.0878 JT B 17569,199,6270% ¥ L@ A% « 42
18 & B4 545,536,000 It °

ETecxgmraRAT0sEEw |/
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32. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern and to maximise the return to the
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion
to risk. The Group manages the capital structure
and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes
in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the payment of dividends, issue new shares,
buy-back shares, raise new debts, redeem existing
debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group had a capital deficiency at
HK$410,031,000 as at 31 March 2018 (2017:
HK$348,777,000). The directors have considered
the solvency of the Group and taken steps to
improve the Group’s capital base and liquidity and
disclosed in note 2.

The externally imposed capital requirements for
the Group are: (i) in order to maintain its listing on
the Stock Exchange it has to have a public float
of at least 25% of the shares; and (ii) to meet
financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing
borrowings.

The Group demonstrates continuing compliance of
the public float with the 25% limit throughout the
year.

Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would
permit the bank to immediately call borrowings.
There have been no breaches in the financial
covenants of any interest-bearing borrowing for the
years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.
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7 EmERELESERAFEEARERMERKA
B3R °

AEBZRBRILOIREEANESE - AKEE I§§$
g WRBKERR BB RAEEEZER
EEHELRE -  RERAREELNERE Z!»‘;’%I
KRB IS - BT - BRI - B0
MER BEREEFIHEEENRERAE-

RZZE-NF=ZR=+—H  KEEZEFLTRER
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WM 2P EE - EREERASEEBR N - A
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33. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

The Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and
the movements therein are presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity
on pages 74 and 79 of the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium
Under the Companies Law of the
Cayman lIslands, the funds in the share
premium account of the Company are
distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.
(ii) Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation
comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign
subsidiaries into the presentation
currency. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies
in note 4(d) to the consolidated financial
statements.

33. f#fE
(a)

(b)

rEE

ARBRESBRABE D FI2IINGE T
WERFIAARF AR FABAE A M EEY
ARRIRERHEBE o

REZHERAR

(i) RERE
RERERERRDA - RABRMDIRE
FRZESAHYIRTARRBER @ ATz
REEZZDKREBHE  ARFHF
ENEMERESRGBRTRHZE
I8 o

(i) EEE
FE 34k 13 2 R IR SO W B 2 VB 798
R BRI EBAEL Y EELES -
KBRS SRR AR
BRI -
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33. RESERVES (continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options
granted to the employees and
consultants of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for share-based payments.

Convertible bonds equity reserve
The value of unexercised equity
component of convertible bonds
issued by the Company is recognised
in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for convertible bonds in
note 4(n) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Property revaluation reserve

The property revaluation reserve
has been set up and is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting
policies adopted for the property, plant
and equipment in note 4(d) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve
comprises the cumulative net change
in the fair value of available-for-sale
financial assets held at the end of the
reporting period and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy
in note 4(i) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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(b) REIMERARE)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

BRERE

BRAEFBEER TREAARD SER
ZI AT 2 & 5T BORFTHERR 2 &R
EEE MR BRR At RITERK
BEEAFE-

ARRES 2 R

RRRETZ A MR EFRITEERED
7 BIERES A M SRR FEANH
FhATR AR (B 25 P ER A 2 & 5T IBOR T AT

27
o

MRE LS
ARBERUYEEGHHBLILBES
BTSRRI EADFAEY X - BE K&
TR Rt BRETTRIE -

REEMREE
REEGHRBERBENSRERRMFA
HEESRMEEAFERFED I
RIBAR A B MR M A0 PT B & 7T R
BRiE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR M T
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2o FE -\ F=A=F—HIFE

34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 34. WiE—REIMIEB A A

On 10 June 2016, the Company and its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Zhanhui Limited, entered into
an agreement with an independent third party for
the acquisition of the entire issued share capital
of FuHang at the consideration of HK$12,500,000
("FuHang Acquisition”). FuHang is a company
incorporated in Hong Kong, and principally
engaged in trading of stainless steel wires in
Hong Kong and the PRC. The consideration was
satisfied by HK$4,000,000 in cash and issued
of a promissory note with principal amount of
HK$8,500,000. The FuHang Acquisition was
completed on 10 June 2016.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the FuHang as at the date of acquisition
were as follows:

R-ZT—RNERNA+TH RRARRE2EHBEAR
Zhanhui Limited 88 — 2B £ =51 — O thak - A
WEEE 2252 #TRA - K E /512,500,000 T
(EEkEEE]) - SEAREEEMK Iz R
FEREBRTERETIFHRES - RECEB
= 1+137€4,000,0007%8 7T} 37778 & %8 48,500,000/
TZERABEREN BEKBEEERZE—ARF
NATHEZRER -

2EABNEERABENKBEAR 2 AFHEDT

HK$'000

T

Property, plant and equipment W - BE R 5
Cash and bank balances e MRITHE R 7
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits HEMEWsIE  BERIERES 1,480
Trade receivables B 5 W RIE 2,628
Inventories FE 431
Trade payables 2 5 IR (799)
Accruals and other payables FEET FRIA K H M JE - /I8 (1,312)
Bank loan IRITER (1,433)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BAVEFE 2 HRIEEFEESR 1,007
Goodwill Bma 10,137
11,144
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34.

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

At the date of acquisition in 2017, goodwill of
HK$10,137,000 has been determined based on the
acquirees’ provisional fair value of the business of
trading steel wires acquired. Goodwill arose on the
acquisition of a subsidiary because the acquisitions
included the benefit of future profitability as at the
date of acquisition.

Goodwill of HK$10,137,000 in relation to the
acquisition of the subsidiary under trading of steel

wires have been recognised by the Group.

Consideration was satisfied by the fair value of:

34.

W is — M B 2 R ()

R-Z—tFZWEEH - BE10,137,0008 TER
FEWERKE S 2 EEHGREE 2 EERTFEM
BT - R RBEERNEE RS2 REKBAEEDF
o WEEREBARELRE -

AEBEHREHEEMGRBE TRENBAR ZHE
£210,137,00058 7T °

REUTIZEZAFERN:

Cash He 4,000
Promissory note EQES 7,144
11,144
An analysis of the cash flows in respect WEHRREREZIMAT
of the acquisition is as follows:
Cash consideration paid BERBEERE 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BREREKAEEED (7)
Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents BeRkReEBYWZFRERH 3,993
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35. ACQUISITION OF VESSEL THROUGH 35. FEiBUEE — BB D T WS MR

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 25 August 2016, the wholly-owned subsidiary,
Diamond Year Limited (“Diamond Year”), entered
into an agreement with an independent third party
(the “Vendor”) for the acquisition of the entire
issued share capital of Ultra Treasure Limited (“Ultra
Treasure”) at consideration satisfied by the issuance
of a promissory note with principal amount of
HK$19,000,000. Ultra Treasure is a limited liability
company incorporated in Hong Kong. Ultra Treasure
is principally engaged in investment holding in
Hong Kong and did not carry out any significant
business transactions on acquisition date. In the
opinion of the directors, the acquisition did not
constitute an acquisition of business in substance.
The acquisition of the vessel were then considered
as acquisition of assets through acquisition of
subsidiaries.

Therefore, the acquisition was not accounted for as
a business combination in accordance with HKFRS
3 — Business Combination. The acquisition of Ultra
Treasure was completed on 25 August 2016.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
arising as at the respective date of acquisition are as

RZZE—A"FNAZ+HH ' 2E&KIEB XA FIDiamond
Year Limited ([ Diamond Year|) BB —Z &7 5 =7
(BAF DI —0iHE  LKBEEERAR ([
&) 2EDBITRA - FREITAE /19,000,000
B ZALEBRENRE - BERRBBFEMAKL
ZERAT - BEFEREERBRELRER -
BRREBITEETEANERERRS - EFR
B RERBEYE EW B —TEERUE o UE
MMEEERAERRBHNBEARIKBEE -

F Lt - ZIARE EIRE M S ERIE35% -
BaFARIERBEH - WBHREER-F—7
FNANAZTRBARK

>H¢

>l

REBWERS EWEZARIEERTDAER
IEEUNNE

follows:

HK$'000

FET

Property, plant and equipment ERN 15,046
Consideration was satisfied by the fair value: REUTHEB 2D FEEM:

Promissory notes A EE 15,046

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of BEEBRREREZANOT
the acquisition is as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents in a subsidiary BEWE-—HHBARZRE R

acquired RaEED -
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36. LITIGATION

(M

On 4 September 2016, the Company
announced, amongst other things, that
(i) Evotech had entered into a Surrender
Agreement with JTC on 6 April 2016 pursuant
to which Evotech agreed to surrender its
leasehold interest in the real property located
at 42 Gul Circle, Singapore 629577 to JTC at
the consideration of $$5,620,000 and such
transaction was completed on 27 June 2016
without the approval and authorization of the
Board (“the Unauthorized Transaction”), and
(i) the Company was investigating into the
circumstances leading to the entering into the
Unauthorized Transaction and the payments
made by Evotech from the proceeds of the
Unauthorized Transaction.

Upon completion of the said investigation
and with the benefit of legal advice, Evotech
has on 23 November 2016 commenced legal
proceedings at the High Court of The Republic
of Singapore against Mr. Koh for breaches of
his duties as director and employee of Evotech
and against Lily Bey, another ex-director of
Evotech, for breaches of her duties as director
of Evotech and, for recovery of damages in
the sums of $$2,285,000 and US$1,070,000
(the “Singapore Legal Action”).

In the Singapore Legal Action, Mr. Koh and
Lily Bey filed their Defence and Counterclaim
to contest Singapore Legal Action and also
commenced Third Party Proceedings (“Third
Party Proceedings”) against the Company
and Ms. Yip Man Yi, the Chairman of the
Company (the “Singapore Third Parties”).

In the Third Party Proceedings, Mr. Koh
and Lily Bey sought indemnities and/or
contributions against the Singapore Third
Parties for authorizing and approving all the
monetary transactions claimed by Evotech in
the Singapore Legal Action to set off of sums
as may be applicable between all parties in
the legal action, if any.

On 17 January 2017, the High Court of
The Republic of Singapore granted leave
for service of the Singapore Third Party
Proceedings on the Singapore Third Parties
out of the jurisdiction of the Republic of
Singapore and the Singapore Third Parties
have duly instructed their attornies in the
Republic of Singapore to enter appearance
and contest the proceedings.
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36.

RZZE—RENANE KRGS H(EhE
1) (W ZZE—NFEWA7NH  Evotech£2)TC

sTSER R - B I - EvotechA B ANTCE X
E (7542 Gul Circle, Singapore 6295772 E it
EZAE - RE/55,620,00057 103 7T » i
PRGN AKEETSHERBREZBERATE
R-E—RNENAZTEEER ((REER
1) RVARBIERAEEHELABERS
A K EvotechB) AR EIER 5 FTS B N F08
ZIER e

R FAETHR REZKERE R % © Evotech
BER-ZZE—ARF+—A-Z+=AmFEEER
HEiEABEvotechEEREEZHENTE S — %
EvotechA & SLily BeyiZ R H{EREvotechE £ 2
BERFINE AN s E LR RAERFL
LA 38 792,285,000%7 i # 7T 51,070,000 7T 2
B ([FINFEEITE]) -

REINBOERITE R - 754 Ky BeyE%’?%ﬁ
MPCERITEEL IR - TMEARRRAR
ITREESRLE ((HNEE=7 ) RAF= 77’
FRRF (F=EEERFD -

WL =TREEFF - 7§84 Rlily BeysiiXi#
&ﬁt}&EvotechﬁA%ﬁﬂﬂﬁ)ﬁfiﬁ@)EP%*@E’]Fﬁﬁ
SEXHMEFINRE=FSKBER XD
BIIE - DR TRERITBR T EER
IR (A) °

RZZE—+tF—A+LH FIEENReE
SEBT LA S A TEFT IR AR e AR AN 2 F7
IEE=FREFMBEE=FEZEEFZX
> TN 58 = 7 B IE SR IR E T I
iﬁﬁZ&%ﬁE%ﬂ%&%ﬁ%%&&%%
gk
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36. LITIGATION (continued)

The hearing commenced on 28 February
2018. At the commencement of the hearing,
Mr. Koh and Lily Bey, through their attorney,
withdrew the Third Party Proceedings against
the Singapore Third Parties. However, Mr. Koh
and Lily Bey did not agree to the amount
of legal costs payable to the Company and
other for the withdrawal of the Third Party
Proceedings. In this regard, the legal costs
to be paid by Mr. Koh and Lily Bey to the
Singapore Third Parties shall be determined by
the High Court of The Republic of Singapore
at a taxation hearing.

The Board has obtained legal opinion
that both Evotech and the Company have
meritorious claim and defence in the
Singapore Legal Action and the Third Party
Proceedings and such proceedings shall have
no adverse impact upon the financial position
of the Group. Therefore, no provision in
respect of the Singapore Legal Action and
the Third Party Proceedings was made in the
consolidated financial statements.

On 2 November 2017, the Company received
a demand letter from Kesterion. On 17
November 2017, the Company received a
Writ of Summons issued by Kesterion in
the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region under Action Number
2631 of 2017 against CAAL as the 1st
Defendant and the Company as the 2nd
Defendant. On 20 November 2017 and
21 November 2017, the Company and
its authorised representatives respectively
received another Writ of Summons issued by
Kesterion in the High Court of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region under Action
Number 2662 of 2017 against the Company
(collectively “the Writs").

The Writs are in relation to the repayment
of a loan originally advanced by Kesterion
to the Company. On 4 November 2016, the
Company was notified by CAAL that CAAL
and Kesterion had entered into a deed of
assignment on 31 October 2016 pursuant to
which Kesterion has assigned all its rights,
title and interest in all the debts and liabilities
owed by the Company to Kesterion to CAAL.

The Company filed its defence for both
actions on 25 January 2018. Kesterion filed its
reply for both actions on 22 February 2018.

36.

A AN e
SiNE P

RAERZZ-N\F-_A=-+N\BREM - £k
FAFIIART - FF 5T 4 KeLily Beyif i /2 R # [0l ¥4
MEE=TT R ZE =T EREF - A~ 7F
524 Rlily Bey NR B LD 5 =75 A B2 A
BN FARRA REMTORE DT - BLULM
5 ®FSR A Klily Bey& [T AN 56 =77 XS &Y
AABARF I ANMBE ST ERERER TR
AREE -

EECHSHERE R AEvotech R KR RIRFT
AR TSRE = AREFT 2 RERR
BEEES  MZERDEAREBTER L
E|AFE - B - BERFTINEERITEH R
B AEREFR G AT HmERT RS -

RZE—+F+—AF=-H A2aKE
KesterionZ 2Kk e R —ZF—+F+— A
++H - AN T EKesterionE & i 4 Bl T T IR
B S EEGAFARE - — 5263151
CAAL(ERE—WEAN) RARTR (1EAE I
EN)BEHMENSHK - RZFE—+F+—A
—FTERZFE—tF+—A=Z+—H K27
B E R ERE D B EKesteriontE BB RITT
&S EER TR —F — 526625
;;S(’A)ET%E% NE—HEASHK(FERAIZES
]9 -

2 E SRR EE FKesterionR SR AR A
RBHZEF - R _ZT—XRF+—AMNHE » AR
A JECAALR 4 » 15 2BCAALEEKesterionE 7 —
T—RNE+HA=1+—Hi T EREZE - Bt

KesterionE #§ 2N X B 4% K Kesterion 2 FT A (&18
MEBREER 2 TEER - FrafE RER
R TCAAL °

ARARERZTE—N\F—A-THBHMZMEA
ERITEMR R © KesterionE R ZF— \F
A+ BEREMIBARITRRLE R
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36. LITIGATION (continued) 36. ®FEA(#)
On 5 March 2018, by consent, the RZZE—N\F=ZARH  KRAER ERES
Court ordered that these two actions be ZMIBSFAE O - MEOFFFAF - Kesterion
consolidated, and that under the consolidated BIREAMCAALE AR A DBIAE —FHE A
action, Kesterion is the Plaintiff while CAAL FEZWEAN-
and the Company are the 1st Defendant and
the 2nd Defendant, respectively.
As the claim under the Writs is related to the ARZESIR T 2 B KesterionE2CAAL
assignment between Kesterion and CAAL RARQT 2 ENEZE  MARBSESS M5
and the Company has already recorded WRPESHAEER  EEER A BEZE
the corresponding loan in the consolidated SRR AR TS EAREE BN E
financial statements, the Board considered RN E - EHBEERERIEERBRENR
that the claim under the Writs shall have no MIERBIERBEBRERSEERSEE -
adverse impact upon the financial position
of the Group except that the corresponding
loan has been reclassified from non-current
liabilities to current liabilities based on the
original terms of the loan facility.
37. LEASE COMMITMENTS 37. HEERIE
At 31 March 2018, the total future minimum lease N-TE—NE=ZA=+—F oS LAyE
payments under non-cancellable operating leases Ty ARG ERENZBEETS AT
are payable as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—LF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T T
Within one year —FR 432 398
In the second to fifth years inclusive SE_-_FZEFRF(BIEEERSE) 377 200
809 598

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable
by the Group for certain of its offices and living
quarters for employees. Leases are negotiated for
terms ranging from one to two years (2017: one to
two years).
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38. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 38. BBEARZ
In addition to those related party transactions MRS mREME DI E 2RSS TS5 R
and balances disclosed elsewhere in the financial BN BEZE—+FER-E-/\F=A=1+—H
statements, the Group had the following IHFE AEESEEER A EETIRS AR
transactions with its related parties during the years Tt ERFE-N\FoA=T—HEBHSES
ended 31 March 2017 and 2018 and balances with T3 &gk o

related parties as at 31 March 2017 and 2018.

(a) Key management personnel (@) FEEBABZEHM
remuneration
Remuneration paid/payable to key Bt/ BN FAEEEZEEBEAEZEHM (B
management personnel of the Group, PR A ERERM F15 R I6FT IR ANFE
including the emoluments of the Company’s ER&EEFEAZHES) AT

directors and the highest paid individuals
as disclosed in notes 15 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements, is as

follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Salaries, bonus and allowances e fEAL N ERR 2,937 3,904

Retirement benefits scheme RREFET B R
contributions 86 101
3,023 4,005

ETecxgmraRAT0sEEw |87
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

39. ARQFHMBMRAR

2018 2017
—E-N\F T+
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET AT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries LERKB R R 1 10
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments and other receivables i‘ﬁﬁmlﬁ)&ﬁﬁﬁfgﬂ&m 1,373 159
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG B e 22,489 22,489
Bank and cash balances RITRIR 4 ﬁé% 15 19
Total current assets BEBDEE 23,877 22,667
TOTAL ASSETS EEH#E 23,878 22,677
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERREE
Share capital % A% 273,216 273,216
Reserves & (722,529) (652,653)
Total equity EREE (449,313) (379,437)
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Convertible bonds R E S 293,313 256,774
Corporate bonds NREFH 22,000 20,806
Promissory notes A E 27,737 24,478
Other borrowings HipEx 97,252 88,938
Total non-current liabilities HWERBER 440,302 390,996
Current liabilities REAE
Accruals and other payables FEET ZTE N E b FE A~ 5008 18,523 10,510
Interest-bearing loans HEER = -
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERH B AR RIE 14,366 608
Total current liabilities BRBEE 32,889 11,118
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES BEZREE 23,878 22,677
Approved by the Board of Directors on 1 June 2018 BEEGR_Z—\FRA—BZE THTIESE
and are signed on its behalf by: REEZE

YIP Man Yi
=

Director

EF

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2017/18
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

39. ARQFMBRRAR @)

Reserves e
Convertible
Share  Share option bonds equity ~ Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
BhE TRREZ2
BAEE e BiERE ZiER @i
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FET FET FAT FAET FHL
At 1 April 2016 R-E—"EMA—H 3,593,043 8,251 226,302 (4,443,967 (616,371)
Total comprehensive income FREZERAEE
for the year - - - 2,494 2,494
Share option lapsed BRERY - (8,251) - 8,251 -
Issue of rights shares BATRR R 68,363 - - - 68,363
Early redemption of REBEERES
Convertible bonds - - (84,863) (22,276) (107,139)
Changes in equity for the year ~ FREREE 68,363 (8,251) (84,863) (11,531) (36,282)
At 31 March 2017 R_E—+&=A=1-H 3,661,406 - 141,439 (4,455,498) (652,653)
Total comprehensive expenses N2 EFH L EE
for the year - - - (69,876) (69,876)
Changes in equity for the year ~ EREZRE - - - (69,876) (69,876)
At 31 March 2018 R-E-NEZA=1-H 3,661,406 - 141,439 (4,525,374) (722,529)
ETEERERADT201718F F i
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40. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2017/18

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the major subsidiaries as at 31 March

4. TEMBARFHE

RIE-N\F=ZA=+—B2Z2TEMBRAFEN

2018 are as follows: T
Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ Issued and  ownership interest/
registration paid up capital/ voting power/ Principal
Name and operation registered capital profit sharing activities
Lt £ 594
SR/ BRTRES -3
28 BRREEHE B&/ERER PERNEDH TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# BEES
Black Sand Enterprises Hong Kong HK$300,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited BE 300,0007% 7T REERR
EVERERBRLA
Bright Wise Enterprise Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Trading of household
Limited BE 18T products
EEZXRER
Brighton Asia Pacific Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Investment Holdings &% 187 REER
Limited
B EAERAER A
Diamond Year Limited British Virgin Islands/ 1 ordinary share 100% - Investment holding
Hong Kong of USD1 each REER
RERAEE/ R (e
3l
Evotech (Asia) Pte Ltd Singapore 500,000 ordinary - 100%  Dormant
o shares of SGD1 each Tmay
500,000/% &
1R T2
HRK
Fu Hang Metal (Asia) Limited Hong Kong 1,000,000 ordinary - 100%  Trading of metals
EEeB(ER)AERRAR FA shares of HK$1 each BEEcE
1,000,000 &
BT EBR
Gilmer Investments Limited  British Virgin Islands/ 10 ordinary shares - 100%  Investment holding

Hong Kong
RRRENES/BE

of USD1 each
108 & i
1ETL 2 LB

BEER
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40. PARTICULARS OF MAIJOR
SUBSIDIARIES(continued)

40. TEMBRAFE @)

Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ Issued and  ownership interest/
registration paid up capital/ voting power/ Principal
Name and operation registered capital profit sharing activities
=L 13-4
e ERITRES g/
28 BREREEBE B&/ERER PERNEDL TEEH
Direct Indirect
& [BEES
Team Kingdom Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Provision of
£ AT management
services
RELEERE
Team Profit Corporation Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Trading of nephrite
Limited & BT BEYE
Topone Global Investments  British Virgin Islands/ 1 ordinary share 100% - Securities trading
Limited Hong Kong of USD1 each HEBB
EBRARE/BE 1RIETZ
LRk
Trade World Holdings British Virgin Islands/ 1 ordinary share 100% - Investment holding
Limited Hong Kong of USD1 each REER
RBRARE/EFE 1R1ETZ
ERR
Ultra Treasure Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Rent of vessel
REBRRA G BT 78 e
Xiamen Yaozhong PRC Registered capital - 100%  Trading of beverages
Asia-Pacific Trading F of HK$50,000,000 BEHH
Co., Limited HEAR
EFBTEAES 50,000,000/ 7T
AR AT
Zhanhui Limited British Virgin Islands/ 1 ordinary share 100% - Investment holding
Hong Kong of USD1 each REER
RERAER/EE RIETZ
The above list contains the particulars of major TEEHINFEXERAEEXE EERAGZ
subsidiaries which principally affected the results, FEM B R AR -

assets or liabilities of the Group.

ETCEZRARALDT 201718 F F iR

191



192

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e B SRR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2018
2 oFE N\ F=A=F—HIFE

=

41.

42,

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

There are no significant events after the reporting
period.

DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

Due to the circumstances that the Group was
unable to locate complete set of books and records
of the two subsidiaries, namely Biz ZZHEJILR)
BREEZAT (Pan Asia Mining (Beijing) Company
Limited) and REMEEE (L8) GRAA
(Aquaterra China Trading (Shanghai) Co. Limited)
("Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”), in the opinion of
the Directors, the controls over the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries were lost. Accordingly, the financial
results, assets and liabilities of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries have been de-consolidated from the
consolidated financial statements with effective
from 31 March 2017 (“Date of Deconsolidation”)
and recorded a loss on deconsolidation of
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries of approximately
HK$6,151,000.

For the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2017, the
Group had consolidated the financial results, assets
and liabilities of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
up to the Date of Deconsolidation based on an
unaudited management information received.

In the opinion of the Directors, the carrying values
of the amounts due from the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries were not recoverable and, accordingly,
an impairment loss of approximately HK$83,000
had been recognised in the profit or loss.

The following is the financial information, before
intra-group balances and transactions elimination,
of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries.
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42,

BEHERSEH

BERRBBEENEM -

MEARA LGS AR

ENAEEEZINESRENB AR SR RERE (I
R)EREFARRAEMNERE (LE) BRAR
(TR E ARMB AR 2 TBRM Rk - &
ERR AREXEHRIES AERMRBAR 2%
HiltE o L - RIS A ARMB AR 2 5 EE -
BENBBEEE_Z—tF-A=+—H(RLE
SARBH]) BRGEEMBRERPEILES AR
W R IE AR IEER A A BRI B A B4R & ABRERISE
#E#96,151,0007 7T °

RAREBE_T—+F-A=T-RHLFEZHE
MBHRE - NEECRBABSAEEZEREEM
EaHER G ARAHRIEGEEARNBAR
ZHBRE BERAE-

BEERR BUEK LGS ARMBRRREZRR
EARE - it 2518 55 2 R (B &5 18 4983,000
BT e

AT e L A SRR B 2 Wk R BRI i R 52
BT 2 B ER: -
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42. DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES 42. MBARKRIEGZEANRER®)

(continued)
(a) Loss on deconsolidation of (a) RIEBARIEGZAEARMBATGEARZ
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries &8
Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries
HrIERE
A BRH B A H]
HK$' 000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEREE 14
Trade receivables Z 5 W FIE 14,051
Prepayment, deposit and other receivables &I ZRIA -« 124 K H 4th e U k08 4,681
Inventory 7E 4,299
Cash and bank balances Bae NIRRT 886
Trade payables B 5 RIE (450)
Amount due to group companies FER &R E A RIFIA (83)
Accruals and other payables FE R FRIE R H A JE AT 5108 (14,765)
Amount due to a former director JERT— BRI EERIA (1,798)
Net liabilities of the Deconsolidated WRIEGRAE ANRRB AR BEFHE
Subsidiaries 6,835
Impairment losses on the amount due JEW AR ISR & A BRFT B A RIFRIA 2
from the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries VEREY R ! 83
Translation reserve [ 5 (767)
Loss on deconsolidation RILERE AREE 6,151
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42. DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

(b) Transactions of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries included in the
consolidated statement of profit or
loss of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2017

42,

MEARR LGS ABR#E)

(b) FABE-Z—tF=ZA=Z+—HLFE
FEEGEERRZA LRSS ARKEL
AXS

Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries

BRILGRE
ARKTB AT
HK$'000
T T
Revenue Wz 205
Cost of sales 55 AR 7R (115)
Administrative expenses THHAX (2,196)
Finance costs B 7% A AN (122)
Loss for the year FREE (2,228)
43. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 43. MAEFREMBEHRK

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 1 June 2018.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
UE R

For the year ended 31 March 2018
HE—F— )\ F=H=1—HIFFE

RESULTS ¥E

nE

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-HLFE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—B-N\f —T+F T F ZF-0F ZT-@OF
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET TAET TAET

Continuing operations BEREEY
Revenue =3 103,665 84,730 14,195 10,661 17,598
(Loss)/profit from operations R (BR),H5H (23,640) 56,383 (256,620) (46,597) (30,713)
Finance costs BITERA (54,398) (50,580) (74,670)  (129,982)  (110,479)
(Loss)/profit before tax BREiAT (E18), 85 (78,038) 5803  (331,290)  (176,579)  (141,192)
Income tax credit/(expense) RS/ (FAX) 1,946 (3,117) 1,963 (367) -
(Loss)/profit for the year FN(EE)/5F (76,092) 2,686 (329,327)  (176,946)  (141,192)
Loss for the year from FABRILEEER 2 FE

discontinued operations - - (159,903) - -
Other comprehensive income/(loss) £ A E b 2 E A,/

for the year, net of tax (B#8) - M= 5,049 (869) (6,501) (4,741) 1,101

Total comprehensive (expense)  EX2E (F%),/

income for the year ONCE- (71,043) 1,817 (495,731)  (181,687)  (140,091)
Profit/loss for the year UTEAEEER
attributable to: WA A
Owner of the Company N/NGIEZEDN (71,043) 1,819 (437,2000  (181,687)  (140,091)
Non-controlling interests JEIERR RS = ) (58,531) _ _
(71,043) 1,817 (495,731)  (181,687)  (140,091)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

R E

For the year ended 31 March 2018
2o FE - N\F=A=F—HIFE

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

BEE RERFERESR

At 31 March

R=A=+—-H
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—B-0\F —T-t%F -T-XF ZT-0F —F-QIF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FET FET FET
Total assets BEARE 122,211 138,135 80,866 451,311 1,529,670
Total liabilities BEAHE (532,242)  (486,912)  (642,046) (1,076,334) (1,125,108)
Non -controlling interests FERER 653 10,442 10,440 (48,091)  (387,965)
(409,378)  (338,335)  (550,740)  (673,114) 16,597
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